
Cabinet

Date Wednesday 7 February 2018
Time 10.00 am
Venue Main Hall, The Glebe Centre, Murton, Seaham

Co Durham, SR7 9BX

Business

Part A

Items during which the press and public are welcome to attend - 
members of the public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement.

1. Public Questions  
2. Minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2018  (Pages 3 - 4)
3. Declarations of interest  
Key Decisions:

4. Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 and Revenue and 
Capital Budget 2018/19 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of 
Resources and Director of Transformation and Partnerships            
[Key Decision: CORP/R/17/02]  (Pages 5 - 164)

5. 1.  School Admission Arrangements for Academic Year 2019/2020  2.  
Proposed changes to the oversubscription criteria for admission to 
Community and Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and Nursery 
Units from 1 September 2018 - Report of Corporate Director of 
Children and Young People's Services [Key Decision: CYPS/02/17]  
(Pages 165 - 218)

6. Proposal to Change the Age Range of Bowburn Junior School from 7-
11 to 3-11 From 1 September 2019 in an Enlarged New Build to Create 
a Primary School and to close Bowburn Infant and Nursery School as a 
registered school on 31 August 2019 - Report of Corporate Director of 
Children and Young People's Services [Key Decision: CYPS/03/17]  
(Pages 219 - 266)

Ordinary Decisions:

7. Regulation 7 Direction - Proposals to restrict Letting Boards in areas of 
high number student properties - Report of Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services  (Pages 267 - 280)

8. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  



9. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

10. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
30 January 2018

To: The Members of the Cabinet

Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader of the 
Council) together with Councillors J Allen, J Brown, O Gunn, 
L Hovvels, O Johnson, C Marshall, K Shaw and B Stephens

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham on 
Wednesday 17 January 2018 at 10.00 am

Present:

Councillor S Henig (Leader of the Council) in the Chair 

Cabinet Members:
Councillors J Allen, J Brown, O Gunn, L Hovvels, O Johnson, C Marshall, K Shaw and 
B Stephens 

Also Present:
Councillors J Clare, K Corrigan, R Crute, S Dunn, D Freeman, P Howell, L Maddison,      
J Shuttleworth and A Surtees 

1 Public Questions 

There were no public questions.

2 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 2017 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 

3 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
.

4 Aykley Heads Strategic Employment Site, DCC Headquarters Full Business 
Case and Future options for the County Archive [Key Decision: ReaL/02/17] 

The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services, and 
Corporate Director of Resources on the future of Aykley Heads as a strategic 
employment site.  The report proposed a masterplan to attract over 6,000 jobs and 
set out the implications of doing so for the site currently occupied by County Hall 
(for copy see file of minutes).

A short video presentation followed which featured high profile regional business 
people, and those from the North East LEP/ North East Chamber and Durham 
University who offered their support to the redevelopment of the Aykley Heads site. 
The Leader advised that those featured had not been able to attend in person 
however had asked that their support be conveyed at the meeting. Jonathan Walker 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



from the North East Chamber of Commerce had been in attendance to relay his 
support for the decision.

In response to a question from Cllr Shuttleworth about the breakdown of costs 
associated with each option, including the refurbishment of county hall, Councillor 
Napier advised that the value for money assessment of each option was presented 
in the report, however due to commercial sensitivity and risk to the completion of 
the procurement process cost information was provided in the private report to be 
considered.

Cabinet members spoke in detail about the proposals in the report and their 
reasons for support to each of the three parts. The comments included that the 
redevelopment of the site and creation of a unique business park was an 
opportunity that could not be missed. It would provide an economic boost, attract 
new businesses to Durham, and good quality jobs in the private sector which would 
provide future generations with employment opportunities.

Resolved:

That the recommendations in the report be approved. 

5 Exclusion of the public 

Resolved: 

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

6 Aykley Heads Strategic Employment Site DCC Headquarters Full Business 
Case Future options for the County Archive [Key Decision: ReaL/02/17]

The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and 
Corporate Director of Resources which set out the full business case for the 
proposed new headquarters (for copy see file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

Page 4



 

 

Cabinet 
 

7 February 2018 
 

Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 
2021/22 and Revenue and Capital 
Budget 2018/19  
 
Key Decision: CORP/R/17/02 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 
Joint Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources and 
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council 

 

  

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To provide comprehensive financial information to enable Cabinet to agree 

the 2018/19 balanced revenue budget, an outline Medium Term Financial 
Plan MTFP(8) 2018/19 to 2021/22 and a fully funded capital programme. The 
report also includes a review of the Council’s Discretionary Rates Relief and 
Business Rates Hardship Relief Policy and sets out details of the mainstream 
primary and secondary funding formula for schools in 2018/19. 
 

Executive Summary 
 
2 The financial outlook for the council and the whole of local government 

remains extremely challenging.  The council has faced government funding 
reductions since 2010/11 and they will continue until 2019/20.  There is a risk 
that funding reductions continue beyond this point which would place further 
pressure upon the MTFP.   

3 By 31 March 2018, the council will have delivered savings of £209 million 
since 2011.  Based upon the provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement, it is forecast that the savings required for the MTFP(8) period 
2018/19 to 2021/22 will be £43.7 million resulting in total savings over the 
2011/12 to 2021/22 period of £252.7 million. 

4 The Chancellor of the Exchequer’s first Autumn Budget was published on     
22 November 2017.  He announced that government borrowing over the 
period 2017/18 to 2021/22 would be higher than was forecast at the March 
2017 Budget.  The major factor in this further deterioration in the national 
finances was due to lower growth forecasts for the economy. Previously the 
national economy was forecast to grow by an average of 2% over the next 
five years. This has now been reduced to a forecast 1.5% average increase 
over the next five years.   

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

 

5 Rather than creating a national budget surplus in 2019/20 as forecast 
previously the national finances will still be have a deficit of over £20 billion in 
2021/22.  This raises the possibility that austerity for public services could 
continue beyond 2021/22 leading to an uncertain financial position for local 
government. 

 

6 The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement confirmed a          
£14.1 million reduction in Revenue Support Grant (RSG) in 2018/19.  This 
reduction is in line with the four year settlement the council secured by 
submitting an Efficiency Plan to government.  Additional RSG reductions have 
been confirmed for 2019/20 of £14.2 million.  

7 Specific grants will also be reduced over the MTFP(8) period by £5.4 million in 
relation to New Homes Bonus (NHB), Public Health, Education Services and 
Benefit Administration. The implementation date for any change to the 
Business Rate Retention process is forecast to be 2020/21 in line with the 
implementation of the Fair Funding review. Business Rate Retention is 
expected to move from 50% to 75% retention rather than the 100% previously 
forecast. There was no announcement in relation to funding levels for local 
government beyond 2019/20. 

8 There was no announcement of additional funding for Adult or Children’s 
Social Care or funding for the local government pay award which, if accepted, 
is likely to result in a 2.5% increase in the council pay bill for 2018/19 and 
2019/20. These issues place extreme pressure upon local authority budgets 
at a time when significant reductions in core funding are continuing. 

9 The provisional settlement confirmed that the council tax referendum limit will 
be increased from 2% to 3% in 2018/19 and 2019/20 to recognise the cost 
pressures being faced by local authorities.  

10 Updated forecasts of demographic pressures in adults and children’s social 
care along with inflationary pressures including those arising from the forecast 
national pay award, together with the impact of further above inflation 
increases in the National Living Wage, need to be accommodated within the 
MTFP(8) forecast. 

11 The delivery of additional savings of £43.7 million across the next four years 
will be extremely challenging as the council strives to protect front line 
services wherever possible.  

12 The forecast savings for 2018/19 total £15.3 million.  Savings plans included 
in this report amount to £18.6 million of which £14.8 million are forecast to be 
realised in 2018/19. This will leave a £0.5 million shortfall in 2018/19 which 
will be met from a further utilisation of the Budget Support Reserve (BSR). In 
2017/18, £12.6 million was drawn from the BSR to balance the budget. The 
utilisation of the BSR will enable the council to smooth reductions in 
expenditure and to help to reduce the impact of significant government 
funding cuts on key services. 

 

Page 6



 

 

13 The council has consulted with the public and stakeholders as part of the 
MTFP(8) development.  The budget consultation ran from 18 October to          
1 December 2017 and sought views on the 2018/19 approach and the 
individual savings proposals.  In total, the council engaged over 3,300 people 
and received 1,175 responses. Overall, 78.1% of respondents stated the 
approach to making future savings is a reasonable way to go forward in 
2018/19. 

14 The council has managed the impact of austerity through effective MTFP 
planning and by delivering savings with a focus on protecting front line 
services. The level of savings that need to be identified in future years 
together with the significant uncertainty over government funding beyond 
2019/20 means that there is a growing risk of the council being unable to 
continue to provide front line services to the levels that have been so far 
maintained. This report summarises how the main proposals are in line with 
the council’s overall strategy and have been shaped by residents’ and 
stakeholders’ views with a high level analysis of the equalities impact. 

15 Detailed savings proposals are included in the report for 2018/19 as shown at 
Appendix 3.   

16 In setting council tax levels for 2018/19, consideration has been given to the 
significant financial pressures facing the council and how best to meet these 
pressures.  For the two years 2018/19 and 2019/20, the government has 
confirmed that the maximum the council can increase council tax by is 3% 
without a public referendum.  The government previously confirmed the option 
to increase council tax by an additional 6% for an Adult Social Care precept 
over the three years 2017/18 – 2019/20. MTFP(8) applies this flexibility evenly 
at 2% in each year.  

17 After considering the impact upon the council’s budget and upon council tax 
payers, this report recommends a 2.99% increase in the council’s Band D 
council tax in 2018/19 which is below the 3% referendum limit. The report also 
recommends a 2% increase to the Adult Social Care precept.  The total 
increase will generate additional council tax income in 2018/19 of                      
£9.9 million.  This results in a Band D increase of £1.38 a week and an 
increase of 92 pence a week for the majority of council tax payers in County 
Durham, who live in the lowest value properties (Band A).   

18 Despite this very challenging financial period this report includes some very 
positive outcomes for the people of County Durham including: 

(a) continued support to protect working age households in receipt of low 
incomes through the continuation of the existing Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme where they will continue to be entitled to up to 100% relief 
against their council tax payments; 

(b) ongoing work with health partners to ensure health and social care 
funds are maximised for the benefit of vulnerable people;  

Page 7



 

 

(c) continue to work with community groups to explore opportunities for the 
transfer of Council assets so that they can be sustainable into the 
future through the ‘Durham Ask’ initiative; 

(d) significant investment in capital expenditure in line with the council’s 
highest priority of regeneration in order to protect existing jobs and 
create as many new jobs as possible including investing in our town 
centres, maintenance of our highways and pavements and investment 
in our school buildings.  In total, additional capital investment of       
£117 million is recommended in this report. 

(e) significant further investment in Children’s and Adults Social Care 
Services to meet demand pressures  

19 As outlined in previous MTFP reports, equality impact assessments are also 
summarised to inform the consultation and subsequent decision making.  
Workforce implications arising from proposals for 2018/19 savings have been 
analysed and the projections for the number of posts that will have been 
removed as a consequence of austerity up to the end of 2018/19 have been 
increased to an estimated 2,921 posts. 

20 The council’s Discretionary Rates Relief Policy has been updated to reflect 
announcements made in the Autumn Budget and for a review of the Local 
Discretionary Relief scheme aimed at ensuring the full amount of funding / 
support available is fully allocated to local businesses. 

21 The updated Policy also removes references to the New Build Empty Property 
Relief and Transitional Relief (2015) schemes as these have now ceased 
following the revaluation in April 2017 and the expiry of the six month window 
for backdated claims under these schemes. Both these schemes operated 
during the two year extension to the revaluation that was initially due in April 
2015. 

Background  

22 The council’s MTFP(8) is aligned to the council plan, which sets out the 
council’s strategic service priorities.  The MTFP provides a resources to allow 
the council to deliver its priorities. 

23 Looking back to MTFP(1), the following drivers for the council’s financial 
strategy were agreed by Cabinet on 28 June 2010, which still underpin the 
strategy in MTFP(8): 

(a) to set a balanced budget over the life of the MTFP whilst maintaining 
modest and sustainable increases in council tax; 

(b) to fund agreed priorities, ensuring that service and financial planning is 
fully aligned with the council plan; 

(c) to deliver a programme of planned service reviews designed to keep 
reductions to front line service to a minimum; 

Page 8



 

 

(d) to strengthen the council’s financial position so that it has sufficient 
reserves and balances to address any future risks and unforeseen 
events without jeopardising key services and delivery outcomes; 

(e) to ensure the council can continue to demonstrate value for money in 
the delivery of its priorities. 

Local Government Finance Settlement 
 
24 The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement was published on               

19 December 2017, the latest ever date for publication. The provisional 
settlement includes RSG and forecast Top Up grant allocations for the period 
2018/19 to 2019/20.  The final Local Government Finance Settlement is 
forecast to be published in early February 2018. 

25 The council tax referendum limit for 2018/19 and 2019/20 has been increased 
from 2% to 3% to take account current high levels of inflation and the social 
care pressures being faced by local government.  The government also 
previously confirmed the option to increase council tax by an additional 6% for 
an Adult Social Care precept over the period 2017/18 to 2019/20, subject to a 
cap of no more than 3% to be applied in any one year. The council agreed on 
22 February 2017 to plan on the basis of utilising this flexibility at 2% per 
annum across each of the three years, whereas many other councils chose to 
apply this as 3% increases in 2017/18 and in 2018/19.  

26 The provisional settlement includes details of core grants including RSG and 
Business Rates ‘Top Up’ Grant.  The table below highlights the 2018/19 
reduction in the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA).  It is important to note 
that the Business Rates figure below is a ‘notional’ figure published by the 
government.  

Table 1 – 2018/19 Settlement Funding Assessment 
 

Funding Stream 2017/18 2018/19 Variance 

  £m £m £m % 

Revenue Support Grant 56.000 41.860 (14.140) (25.2%) 

Business Rates 51.256 52.479 1.223 2.4% 

Top Up Grant 67.626 70.009 2.383 3.5% 

SFA 174.882 164.348 (10.534) (6.0%) 

 
27 The table above highlights that the SFA has reduced by 6% in 2018/19 

although of more significance is the reduction in RSG where there has been a 
further reduction of £14.14 million (25.2%) for next year.     

28 The actual Top Up grant figure for 2018/19 will be £70.350 million rather than 
the £70.009 million detailed in the table above. The council will receive an 
additional one off payment of £0.341 million which relates to an adjustment 
linked to the 2017/18 business rate revaluation process. 

Page 9



 

 

29 In addition to the above ‘core’ grants, the council continues to face reductions 
in specific grants.  The government previously advised that the Education 
Services grant would be reduced in 2017/18 and 2018/19, mainly as a result 
of the removal of statutory responsibilities for Education from local authorities.  
Although the government has subsequently confirmed that there will be no 
reduction in statutory responsibilities, the reduction in the Education Services 
grant will still go ahead.  In 2018/19 the grant will reduce to zero from the 
current level of £1.5 million.  This £1.5 million reduction will be offset by 
additional income of £0.3 million in the School Improvement grant. Overall 
however, this is still a net £1.2 million reduction in funding with no reduction in 
responsibilities. 

30 The council still awaits confirmation of the 2018/19 allocations for a number of 
specific grants.  The table below provides details of the more significant 
allocations confirmed to date whilst Appendix 2 provides a comprehensive list 
of all specific grants the council expects to receive for 2018/19.  

Table 2 – Reduction in 2018/19 Specific Grants 
 

Specific Grant 2017/18 2018/19 Variance 

 £m £m £m % 
Education Services Grant 1.500 0 (1.500) (100) 
Public Health Grant 49.983 48.698 (1.285) (3) 
Housing Benefit / LCTR Admin  3.231 2.938 (0.293) (12) 

 
31 The following information was also included alongside the Local Government 

Finance Settlement: 

(a) there will be a business rate baseline reset in 2020/21 and, from 
2020/21 business rate retention will be at 75%.  It is expected at this 
time that RSG and Public Health grant will be incorporated into 
Business Rate Retention (BRR); 

(b) the government published a consultation paper ‘Fair Funding review: a 
review of relative needs and resources’, a technical consultation on 
relative need. The result of this review will be introduced in 2020/21 
alongside the move to 75% BRR; 

(c) in response to pressures within social care budgets in particular, there 
will be an increase in the council tax referendum limit from 2% to 3% for 
2018/19 and 2019/20; 

(d) an additional 10 authorities were approved as 100% business rate 
pilots. In the main these were county councils; 

(e) the Rural Services Delivery grant was increased from £50 million to     
£65 million; 

(f) there will be a consultation in spring 2018 regarding negative RSG. 

Page 10



 

 

32 The Fair Funding review and movement to 75% BRR could have a significant 
impact upon the sustainability and future prospects for many local authorities. 
There is a risk of a major shift of funding between local authorities. There is 
also a risk that government prioritises rurality issues, high cost factors and 
incentivisation as opposed to issues such as deprivation and ability to pay for 
services.  The council will need to ensure that it contributes to the Fair 
Funding review as effectively as possible to highlight the issues that drive 
demand for services in areas where funding has been reduced significantly 
during austerity. 
 

33 In terms of the Rural Services Delivery grant the payments made are in 
addition to the additional RSG payable to these authorities due to the 
‘sparsity’ factors built into the Relative Needs Formulae.  Authorities benefit if 
they are in the super sparsity upper quartile.  The council does not qualify for 
any funding on this basis. 
 

Analysis of Provisional Settlement  
 
34 The 2018/19 Local Government Finance Settlement is the third year of a four 

year settlement.  The 2018/19 reduction of £14.1 million in RSG is in line with 
the forecast and the impact of the 2017 business rate revaluation upon the 
council has been described earlier. 
 

35 In line with previous years, the government has published Core Spending 
Power (CSP) data.  The key features of the CSP calculation are as follows: 

(a) The calculation of core spending power assumes that authorities will 
take the full advantage of the increase in the referendum limit to 3% for 
the next two years – government has built this assumption into the 
published CSP figures for all local authorities; 

(b) In addition every upper tier authority is expected to take advantage of 
the ability to levy an additional 2% Adult Social Care precept up to 
2019/20. In calculating CSP for the council the government has 
however assumed the council utilised the Adult Social Care flexibility 
such that a 3% increase is applied in 2018/19 and then only 1% in 
2019/20. The council is planning on the basis of an increase by 2% in 
each year; 

(c) An assumption is built in that each council tax base will continue to 
increase every year in line with past experience.  For the council, an 
average increase in council tax base of 1.5% is assumed. The council’s 
forecast is for a 0.7% annual increase;  

(d) Forecasts for reductions in NHB for 2019/20.  The forecast reduction 
for 2019/20 is £0.1 million whereas the council’s own prudent forecast 
is £0.45 million; 

(e) The CSP calculation does not include any reduction in Public Health 
grant, Education Services grant, Housing Benefit / Local Council Tax 
Reduction Administration grant or any other specific grant.  

Page 11



 

 

36 The CSP figures published by government appear to be very optimistic, 
especially with reductions in specific grant being excluded.  The table below 
details the published position for the council in terms of CSP. 

 

 Table 3 – Core Spending Power Analysis  
 

 2017/18  2018/19 2019/20 

 £m £m £m 

Settlement Funding 
 
Section 31 Grant 
 

174.9 
 

1.5 

164.3 
 

2.6 

152.8 
 

3.8 

Council Tax Requirement 188.3 196.6 205.4 

Social Care Precept  7.5 13.7 16.5 

Improved BCF 15.5 21.5 27.1 

New Homes Bonus 
 
Adult Social Care Grant 

9.2 
 

2.8 

6.5 
 

0 

6.4 
 

0 

TOTAL 399.6 405.2 412.1 

 
37 The forecast increase in CSP over the next two years is £12.5 million or 3.1%.  

This position is deemed to be optimistic but also excludes the following: 
 
(a) A forecast reduction in specific grants excluded from CSP of              

£4.4 million over the next two years; 

(b) Forecast base budget pressures over the next two years of £35 million, 
especially those resulting from Social Care demographic pressures in 
Adult’s and Children’s Services and from the impact of the increases in 
the National Living Wage. 

 
38 The government has also published details of spending power ‘per dwelling’ 

for all local authorities.  Areas of deprivation naturally require and have always 
received relatively higher funding levels than more affluent areas.  This higher 
level of funding in deprived areas is required for a range of reasons including: 
 
(a) in affluent areas, significant numbers of service users, especially in 

adult social care, can afford to contribute to the cost of their service 
provision.  This is especially the case for residential care and home 
care services for the elderly.  In these circumstances, the budget 
required to provide services in deprived areas is much higher than in 
affluent areas; 

Page 12



 

 

(b) similarly, demand for services such as Children’s Social Care, in 
deprived areas is significantly higher than more affluent areas resulting 
in deprived areas requiring higher budgets. 

39 Regardless of this, the spending power per dwelling data highlights how 
significantly the funding of an area such as Durham has declined over recent 
years.  The table below highlights the 2018/19 spending power per dwelling 
for a range of local authorities.  The England average excludes district 
councils.  

Table 4 – 2018/19 Core Spending Power per Dwelling 

Area Core Spending Power Per Dwelling 
 £ 

England 1,839 
Durham 1,666 

Wokingham 1,766 
Reading 1,820 

Nottingham City 1,864 
Surrey (including Districts) 1,964 

 
40 Considering the levels of deprivation in County Durham, it is concerning that 

the government’s spending power per dwelling calculation for Durham is now 
significantly less than the England average.    By way of a practical example: 
a relatively deprived area like Durham now has a lower spending power per 
dwelling than a more affluent area such as the county of Surrey - which will 
have a 20% higher spending power per dwelling than Durham in 2018/19. 
Representations continue to be made to government in relation to this 
unfairness and will continue to be made during the Fair Funding review 
process. 

 
41 If Durham’s CSP was brought up to the England authority average of £1,839 

per dwelling the council would receive additional government grant of         
£42 million.  

 
Consultation 
 
42 The council’s 2018/19 budget consultation ran from 18 October to                    

1 December 2017 and sought to raise awareness and gather comments from 
a wide range of stakeholders on: 
  
(a) whether our 2018/19 savings proposals are a reasonable approach; 

  
(b) their views on 17 individual savings proposals; 

 
(c) what they think should change about our services; 

 
(d) what would improve the quality of life in their communities.  
 

Page 13



 

 

43 The main survey method was a questionnaire, supported by information about 
the proposals and how to participate.  This was made widely available through 
the council web pages, social media and online and in libraries and customer 
access points.  It was also promoted by a range of e-newsletters such as 
Durham Voice and Business networks as well as being available at a range of 
meetings, events and drop in sessions.   
 

44 Consultation was carried out through existing networks, forums and 
partnerships.  In total, staff attended 85 community meetings, events and 
drop-in sessions across the county targeting community events and groups, 
users of libraries and leisure centres and local business networking events. 
Information about the consultation and how to have your say, was promoted 
through the council’s website, press releases, Durham County News and 
social media. 

 

45 Discussions were held with partner organisations and networks including 
County Durham Partnership, the Local Councils Working Group and the 
Voluntary and Community Sector Working Group.  Feedback from the 
discussions is captured in this report and participants were encouraged to 
complete the questionnaire.  Those networks which did not meet during the 
consultation period were notified and encouraged to participate by providing 
them with information and the link to the website.  These included: the Armed 
Forces Forum, the County Durham Faiths Network, the Disability Partnership, 
the Rainbow Alliance, the Durham Diverse Women Network and the Better 
Together Forum.  
 

46 Key partners were invited to submit comments on the council’s budget 
approach and proposals, in particular they were asked to identify if any of the 
proposals would have an impact on their organisation’s priorities, workload or 
any priority groups they work with. 
 

47 To capture the views of people unlikely to be reached by the questionnaire 
such as people with a range of disabilities, group discussions were facilitated 
and recorded and are reported separately.   
 

48 This approach enabled us to engage with over 3,300 people, of which over 
1,175 gave their views.  The tables below detail engagement and participation 
figures. 

 

Table 5 – Analysis of Consultation Participation 
 

Meetings and Events 
No of People 
Participated 

No of 
Completed 

Forms 

Questionnaire 

14 AAP Board meetings 565 169 

27 meetings with communities and partners 441 209 

Page 14



 

 

Meetings and Events 
No of People 
Participated 

No of 
Completed 

Forms 

20 drop in sessions in key places across 
the county 

560 305 

18 Public events including Christmas 
Fayres 

1,620 243 

7 Learning disability groups (inc 4 facilitated 
group discussions) 

114 43 

Posted/misc. - 55 

Libraries 13 13 

TOTAL - 1,037 

Online responses - 138 

OVERALL TOTAL 3,313 1,175 

 
Consultation Engagement and Participation via Social Media 
 
49 Social media was used to increase awareness and encourage people to take 

part.  The monthly ‘For the Record’ video log (vlog) with Councillor Simon 
Henig focused on the budget with infographics to make key messages clear.  
This formed the basis of the post promoting the consultation on the corporate 
Facebook account, this was then shared by the local AAPs highlighting 
consultation sessions in their area.  This post was seen by 26,838 people.  
9,964 people watched the video (with another 131 views on YouTube) and 94 
people then clicked through to the consultation pages on the website. 
 

50 On Twitter, multiple messages were sent out weekly for the duration of the 
consultation.  Initially these featured the vlog before switching over to go 
through a handful of different messages along with relevant infographics, all 
linking to the website content and encouraging people to take part.  These 
tweets were seen a total of 62,030 times with 207 people clicking through to 
the website content.  

 
Detailed Consultation Outcomes 
 
51 The outcomes from across the consultation survey have been recorded and 

analysed and key messages are identified below.  Feedback from other 
methods of consultation including group discussions and partner responses 
are detailed after this section. 

 
Key Findings 
 
52 Over 1,000 residents engaged from all parts of County Durham about our    

budget proposals for 2018/19, with a broad demographic coverage of the 
adult population: 
 

Page 15



 

 

(a) A significant majority of respondents (78.1%) indicated that they think 
our proposals are a reasonable approach; 

 
(b) A wide range of comments and views have been collected and are 

communicated here, but it should be noted that many of these 
comments were made by relatively small numbers of respondents; 

 
(c) Broadly, the themes that attracted the most comments include: 
 

(i) continue to find new ways of working and generating income 
including more effective commissioning of services, investing in 
changes that will reduce our future expenditure and focusing on 
priority service users; 

 
(ii) continue to reduce management and back office posts,     

accommodation costs, supplies and services and review our 
working arrangements to achieve efficiencies.  

 
(d) Some common themes re-occurred throughout the comments received 

in all parts of this consultation: 
 

(i) The need to protect services for the most vulnerable such as older   
people and adults with a disability, particularly in relation to 
proposals affecting adult social care, but also including vulnerable 
children; 

 
(ii) The need to ensure that when increasing charges people are not 

priced out of much needed services; 
 

(iii) Continue and increase the amount of savings brought about 
through efficiency improvements and back office savings; 

 
(iv) Some respondents also recognised we need to respond to 

welfare reform and child poverty issues as well support the VCS 
and work with partners to respond to shared challenges. 

 
(e) When thinking about quality of life, participants reflected on the need 

for wide range of needs, including: 
 

(i) more community development infrastructure; 
 
(ii) more visible policing; 
 
(iii) clean communities; 
 
(iv) things for young people to do; 
 
(v) good local facilities; 
 
(vi) better public transport links. 

Page 16



 

 

 
(f) Seven partners responded, indicating general support for the proposals 

and an appreciation of the position the council is in. The following areas 
were highlighted: 

 
(i) The importance of continued collaboration to avoid duplication 

  and minimise the impact on frontline services; 
 

(ii) The importance of prevention and early intervention to minimise 
  costs; 

 

(iii) The need to support the council in requesting a fairer   
  settlement.  

 
(g) 84% of the children and young people participating in the survey, felt the 

proposals for savings for 2018/19 represented ‘a reasonable approach’.  
Two clear themes did come through:  

 
(i) The council should protect services for children and young 

 people; 
 

(ii) ‘Things to do for young people in their area’ is something that 
 would most improve their quality of life. 

 
(h) 100% of people with learning and physical disabilities felt that the 

proposals are reasonable. Comments included: 
 

(i) there is a need to protect adult and social care services to allow 
 people to be independent in their homes; 
 
(ii) the changes to the criteria for adult and social care services 
 should leave people with adequate support; 

 

(iii) care should be taken when looking at alternative ways to 
 provide services. 
 

Consultation Results  
 
53 The following results are based on 1,175 valid questionnaires received by the 

consultation closing date.  Respondents lived in various parts of County 
Durham providing their postcode or local AAP to help us identify the 
geographical coverage of the consultation.  However, given the relatively low 
overall numbers, an analysis at a lower (AAP) level has not been carried out. 

 
54 Participants were offered two ways to respond, through a paper-based 

questionnaire distributed either at an AAP meeting or event or other public 
engagement activity, or through an online questionnaire made available 
through the council’s consultation web pages and promoted through social 
media.  Overall, however, a large majority (88.3%) of the responses received 
were paper-based.  

Page 17



 

 

Table 6 – Consultation Response by Mode of Data Collection 
 

Type of 
Questionnaire 

Number of 
Questionnaires 

Percentage of 
Responses 

Paper-based 1,037 88.3% 

Online 138 11.7% 

TOTAL 1,175 100.0% 

 
55 The questionnaire itself comprised largely open-ended questions allowing 

participants to respond in their own words about our budget proposals and 
further challenges we face.  Broadly, these covered four themes: 

 
(a) Whether our 2018/19 savings proposals represent a reasonable 

approach to managing overall budget reductions and whether people 
could identify further savings; 

 
(b) Asking respondents their views about any of the 17 individual savings 

proposals; 
 

(c) Despite these financial challenges we aim to continue to transform and 
improve.  Respondents were invited to tell us about what they think 
should change about our services; 

 

(d) The council recognises the importance of working with communities to 
meet local needs.  Respondents were asked to identify what would 
most improve the quality of life in their local community. 

 
56 Not all respondents took up the opportunity to provide detailed comments but 

those that did provided a wide variety of thoughtful comments and ideas to 
help inform our budgetary planning and decision making.  

 
57 The results of the budget consultation reflect the four themes summarised 

below.  A further detailed breakdown of the results is available in the 
Members’ Resource Centre. 

 
Consideration of 2018/19 Savings as a Reasonable Approach 
 
58 Over 90% of consultation participants completed this question with almost four 

out of five (78.1%) confirming that, overall, after considering our savings 
proposals for 2018/19, they think our approach is reasonable.   

 
Table 7 – Consultation Q1 

 

Q1 Having considered our proposals for savings for 2018/19, do you think this is a 
reasonable approach? 

Yes 78.1% (833 responses) 

No 21.2% (234) 

TOTAL 100% (1,067) 

Did not answer 108 

Page 18



 

 

 
59 Just over a fifth (22.0%) of those that completed question one did not then go 

on to provide any further comments in this consultation.  The views of this this 
subset of respondents in question one did not differ significantly from those 
that continued to provide further responses. 

 
Table 8 – Breakdown of Question 1 responses by further comment 
 

Q1 response 
Completed Q1 

only 
Continued with 

further comment 
Total 

  Number % Number % Number % 

Yes 183 80.5 650 77.4 833 78.0 

No 44 19.5 190 22.6 234 22.0 

TOTAL 227 100 840 100 1,067 100 

 
60 As a follow up to Question one participants were given the opportunity to 

explain why they consider our approach to making these savings to be 
reasonable or not. Just over a fifth of Question one respondents (21.5% 253 
respondents) took this opportunity and offered comment.  

 
61 Among those respondents who provided a comment (and had also previously 

said yes, our approach to savings was reasonable – 201 respondents in total), 
the most commonly given explanations said that there are few alternatives 
and that continued government austerity is the cause of these cuts (70 
respondents).  Many also recognised our approach appeared proportionate 
with a good mix of savings, income generation and use of reserves (66 
respondents).  Though some comments reflected the need to protect services 
for vulnerable people in making these savings (38 comments). 

 
62 Of those respondents that disagreed with our approach (52 respondents) over 

a third (16 comments) said there should be no more cuts to local government 
services with the same number recognising the need to protect services for 
vulnerable people (16 comments) as well as that there are “few alternatives” 
(9 comments).        

 
63 Overall, 31 out of the 253 respondents felt more information about our savings 

proposals would have been helpful. 
 
64 In addition to the opportunity to explain their answer to question one, 

participants were also invited to offer any further savings ideas they may 
have.  The most commonly quoted further saving (by 19 respondents) being 
Lumiere, with respondents questioning whether it is cost effective as it doesn’t 
impact on local communities. Other responses tended to reflect a mix of 
savings ideas including: 

 
(a) income generation but with some including a constraint that people are 

not priced out of a service; 
 

Page 19



 

 

(b) efficiency savings (cost effective and co-ordinated services, reducing 
management and back office, decentralise staff); 

 
(c) reviewing funding for various services and projects (e.g. arts, leisure 

and sports venues, AAPs, Service Direct and the new Durham bus 
station and new HQ plans).  

65 The following table lists all savings ideas provided in response to this 
question.  

 

Table 9 – Savings Ideas 
 

Savings Ideas Comments 

Lumiere doesn’t really impact on people in local 
communities/cost effectiveness? 

19 

Increased charges. (But need to ensure those who need it, get 
the service and they are not priced out) 

14 

Can we afford to continue funding the Gala/Beamish/Durham 
County Cricket Club 

8 

Good to reduce top/middle management/back 
office/accommodation 

8 

Better more cost effective and coordinated services are 
required e.g. road repairs 

7 

Generate income from recycling 6 

Scrap new civic office plans/bus station plans 5 

Demolish and sell empty buildings/save on security costs/sell 
assets 

4 

Review AAPs 4 

Re-assess need for outsourcing 4 

Decentralise staff to reduce costs e.g. travel/use existing 
buildings in communities/community model of service 

delivery 
3 

Close Service Direct and outsource work/they cost more 3 

Reduce contributions to staff pensions 2 

External review DCC staffing performance, pay, management 
roles 

2 

Use more reserves 2 

Sell small parcels of land 1 

Don’t waste money on unnecessary changes e.g. rebranding 
Sure Start/one point, etc. 

1 

 
Views about any individual savings proposals 
 
66 In addition to their thoughts on our approach overall, respondents were also 

asked whether they had any comments on any of the specific savings 
proposals communicated as part of the budget consultation. For clarity of 
presentation in the consultation materials, these proposals were grouped into 
four different themes: 

 

Page 20



 

 

(a) Continue to realise savings already agreed; 
 
(b) Continue to reduce management and back office posts, 

accommodation costs, supplies and services and review our working 
arrangements to achieve efficiencies; 

 

(c) Continue to find new ways of working and generating income including 
more effective commissioning of services, investing in changes that will 
reduce our future expenditure and focusing on priority service users; 

 

(d) Use our reserves to delay making some savings to give us more time to 
work with service users and the community to develop future proposals. 

 
67 Our third theme, to find new ways of working received the most comments 

followed by the second theme, which comprises savings intended to achieve 
efficiencies.  Table 10 below outlines savings and comments by theme.       

 
Table 10 - Savings Themes and Further Comments 

 

Theme 
Savings 

per 
theme 

Proportion 
of overall 

saving 

Number of 
comments 
per theme 

Number of 
savings 

proposals 
included in 
the theme 

Continue to realise savings 
already agreed. 

£2.7m 17.6% 143 3 

Continue to reduce 
management and back 

office posts, accommodation 
costs, supplies and services 

and review our working 
arrangements to achieve 

efficiencies. 

£7.2m 47.1% 197 4 

Continue to find new ways 
of working and generating 

income including more 
effective commissioning of 

services, investing in 
changes that will reduce our 

future expenditure and 
focusing on priority service 

users. 

£4.9m 32.0% 284 9 

Use our reserves to delay 
making some savings to 

give us more time to work 
with service users and the 

community to develop future 
proposals. 

£0.5m 3.3% 28 1 

TOTAL £15.3m 100.0% 652 17 

Page 21



 

 

 
68 In order to better understand the results of this question the savings in each 

theme will be discussed in turn. The first theme, realising savings already 
agreed comprises three proposals listed in in Table 11 below. Together these 
account for £2.7 million of proposed savings, equivalent to 17.6% of the    
£15.3 million required.   

 
Table 11 – Agreed Savings  

 

Continue to realise savings already agreed Comments % 

Consistent use of criteria for adults who need social care 
services. 

24 3.7% 

Finding new ways to deliver the adult care services that 
are presently provided directly by the Council. 

49 7.5% 

Increasing charges for adult care provision to bring the 
Council in line with other Councils. 

70 10.7% 

 
69 While these savings reflect three distinct proposals the comments reflected 

similar patterns.  The most commonly made comment about these savings 
proposals reflected the desire to protect services for vulnerable adults (45 
comments in total) followed by comments reflecting some level of concern 
regarding increased charges (37 comments) and particularly the need to 
ensure that people continue to receive the services they need.  

 
70 Less common but still relevant concerns were raised (10 comments) about the 

knock-on impacts of these proposals on adult care services that are felt to be 
under strain including non-council services such as the NHS.  The proposal to 
find new ways to deliver adult care services generated some additional 
concern about outsourcing adult social care regarding the quality of the 
outsourced service.  

 
71 The second theme reflects new savings that continue with our aim to achieve 

efficiencies that help minimise change in front-line services.  This theme 
comprises four specific proposals outlined below and together these account 
for £7.2 million, almost half (47.1%) of the £15.3 million required. 

 
Table 12 – New Savings 

 

Continue to reduce management and back 
office posts, accommodation costs, supplies 

and services and review our working 
arrangements to achieve efficiencies. 

Comments % 

Service reviews across the whole Council 
including management and back office functions. 

114 17.5% 

Reducing non-staffing budgets including supplies 
and services. 

20 3.1% 

Page 22



 

 

Continue to reduce management and back 
office posts, accommodation costs, supplies 

and services and review our working 
arrangements to achieve efficiencies. 

Comments % 

Reducing the costs of maintaining and running 
Council buildings and vehicles. 

42 6.4% 

Bringing back office functions together into single 
teams to achieve savings. 

21 3.2% 

 
72 The first saving proposal within this theme describing service reviews across 

the council, garnered the most responses to this element of the questionnaire.  
Specifically, these comments reflected the desire to see savings achieved by 
a reduction in top and middle management as part of back office savings 
reducing accommodation needs (34 comments).  A smaller number of 
comments reflected the desire to see reductions in the salaries of senior staff 
(17 comments).  

 
73 However, these comments can be contrasted with other, albeit fewer, 

comments that back office staff are an essential part of the organisation and 
as savings requirements continue year-on-year efficiencies get harder and 
harder to find (20 comments).  This was also supported by the general view 
that staff cuts should be minimised (11 comments).  

 
74 The third theme, outlined below, intends to find new ways of working to 

achieve £4.9 million of savings (32% of total) through nine savings proposals.  
 

Table 13 – New Ways of Working   
 

Continue to find new ways of working and generating 
income including more effective commissioning of 

services, investing in changes that will reduce our future 
expenditure and focusing on priority service users. 

Comments % 

Applying government guidance to assess charging 
contributions for new users of non-residential adult services 

e.g. home and day care. 
52 8.0% 

Accessing new sources of funding to continue provision of 
community based non-residential adult social care. 

16 2.5% 

Redesigning children’s services to focus on early help to 
tackle child poverty. 

33 5.1% 

Redesigning school and education support services to 
ensure highly effective coverage of statutory requirements 
whilst also raising income through provision of services to 

other areas. 

29 4.4% 

Carrying out our annual review of fees and charges across 
all services. 

17 2.6% 

Page 23



 

 

Continue to find new ways of working and generating 
income including more effective commissioning of 

services, investing in changes that will reduce our future 
expenditure and focusing on priority service users. 

Comments % 

Reviewing culture and sport functions to maintain the 
support to our existing, well-used core services and reducing 

investment in developing new initiatives. 
20 3.1% 

Investing in new equipment in leisure facilities to reduce 
ongoing costs. 

12 1.8% 

Reducing management and administration costs and 
increasing income from a range of neighbourhood services 
including burial and crematorium, expansion of commercial 

pest control, opt-in waste services, greater enforcement 
activity and new powers relating to littering and dog fouling 

offences. 

88 13.5% 

Raising income from specialist young peoples’ services. 17 2.6% 

 
75 Though this theme has the largest number of responses it also has the largest 

number of proposals which means for some proposals the number of 
comments was relatively small.  

 
76 The two proposals which attracted the most comments were those to reduce 

management and administration costs and increase income from a range of 
neighbourhood services (88 comments) and a proposal to apply government 
guidance to assess charging contributions for new users of non-residential 
adult services (52 comments). 

 
77 While proposals relating to neighbourhood services generated the most 

comments these tended to spread across a wide number of individual 
services areas that are included within this savings proposal.  The most 
common comments related to supporting more enforcement on undesirable 
behaviour such as fly tipping, littering and dog fouling (21 comments) and 
expressing concern about increased charges (19 comments), the majority of 
which (11 comments) related to a desire to not increase garden waste and 
other waste related charges.  However, a small number of respondents 
expressed a view that increased charging was a good idea (6 comments). 

 
78 Comments relating to the application of government guidance to assess 

charging contributions for new users of non-residential adult services reflected 
the desire to protect vulnerable people (19 comments) and that any increase 
in charging needs to ensure that people still receive the services they need 
(16 comments). 

 
79 The final theme considers the use of reserves to delay some savings.  This 

proposal comprises £0.5 million of the required savings and generated 28 
comments.  These comments largely reflected the desire to use more 
reserves to delay the need make these savings. 

Page 24



 

 

Changing our Services  
 
80 The third question of this consultation gathered participant views about what 

we should do to continue to transform and improve our services, given our 
ongoing financial challenges.  

 
81 This question produced a large number of responses in total (584 comments) 

with the most common reflecting the desire to increase efficiencies through 
new, smarter ways of working (55 comments).  A smaller number of 
respondents wanted to review the number of Councillors and their allowances 
(44 comments).  Though again a similar number of respondents felt that the 
Council was ‘doing okay’ considering the pressures it is under (46 comments). 

 
82 Others reflected on the welfare reform related issues encouraging the council 

to assist the poorest in our communities particularly those affected by the 
rollout of Universal Credit and tackling the impacts of child poverty (34 
comments).  A smaller number of comments encouraged the council to 
continue to support the VCS particularly as their workload increases as a 
result of public sector cuts (20 comments).  This investment theme continues 
with comments reflecting increased partnership working generally (17 
comments), protecting services for children and young people (18 comments) 
as well as investing in public health and leisure (14 comments). 

 
Improving Quality of Life 
 
83 The final part of this public consultation allowed respondents to reflect on 

those issues which would most improve residents’ quality of life.  This section 
generated by far the greatest response (1,056 comments) and these reflect a 
wide variety of topics.  The most common comments include: 

 
(a) more community development workers, activities, infrastructure, groups  

buildings, funding, volunteering (134 comments); 
 

(b) more visible policing/reduced ASB/better CCTV (79); 
 
(c) keep communities clean (73); 

 
(d) things for young people to do in their area (67); 
 
(e) local, safe parks, bike tracks, well maintained football facilities, outdoor 

leisure and sports/libraries (59); 
 

(f) better public transport links to keep communities connected (50); 
 
(g) AAP funding to be maintained for communities (41); 

 
(h) examine the needs of villages and rural areas and protect services 

(39); 
 
(i) improve opportunities to reduce isolation/be active/participate (35); 

Page 25



 

 

(j) more consultation /open communications / social; media /  engagement 
/ knowledge of service needs (35). 

 
Equality Considerations of Questionnaire Responses 
 
84 The questionnaire also included an optional section allowing participants to 

provide some key information to help us gauge the consultation’s 
representativeness.  Responses were broadly reflective of the community 
within County Durham but some groups remain under represented.  

 
85 There were slightly more responses from females (57%) compared to males 

(43%).  Respondents tended to be older with almost two fifths (39%) of 
respondents aged in the 45-64 age group and around a fifth (22%) aged 
under 35. 96% of respondents described their sexual orientation as 
heterosexual with 2% identifying as gay or lesbian and a further 2% identifying 
as bisexual.  

 
86 In terms of religion or belief, 70% of respondents described themselves as 

Christian and 28% reported they have no religion or belief, 2% reported 
another religion or belief. 98% of respondents identified their ethnicity as white 
with 2% identifying as an ethnic minority group. 

 
87 There were few differences in views between groups evident within the 

analysis.  The main difference is illustrated below in Chart 1 where almost a 
quarter of respondents aged 35-64 said our approach was not reasonable 
compared to just one in ten in the 65+ age group.  

 
Chart 1 

   
 

Page 26



 

 

Engagement with Key Partners 
 
88 Key partners including the Office of the Durham Police Crime and Victims’ 

Commissioner, the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, 
Historic England, the Economic Partnership, the Royal Naval Reserves, the 
County Durham Association of Local Councils and Durham Community Action 
provided written responses.  The key points are set out below. 

 
89 Their responses indicated a full appreciation of the position that the council is 

in and support for the approach to the reductions to date.  The responses 
highlighted the importance of continued collaboration, partnership working 
and on-going dialogue in relation budget management in order to avoid 
duplication, minimise impact and maximise value for money.  Their comments 
are listed below and service specific comments have been passed to the 
relevant service area: 

 

(a) It is important to continue with the approach of providing preventative 
and early intervention services as it is more cost effective than the 
costs of addressing issues further down the line; 

 
(b) Carefully consider the potential direct or indirect impacts of proposed 

reductions, especially to those services already reduced. This includes 
increased demand on other services and wider aspects such as 
increased anti-social behaviour.  In particular, local councils have 
expressed concerns about the restructure and delivery of youth 
services; 

 
(c) Support for the council’s ambition to prioritise front line services, and 

that the appreciation that the continued reduction to back office staff is 
not sustainable as it may begin to effect front line services; 

 
(d) Support for the county council and other north east councils in 

requesting a fairer deal on local government funding from the 
government through the Fair Funding review. 

 
90 The most extensive response was received by Durham Community Action on 

behalf of the VCS.  The response highlighted that the VCS is experiencing 
changes in the way it works, to meet the challenges of finding new 
opportunities in the face of continuing austerity. 
   

91 Whilst resilient, there are signs of vulnerability amongst community support 
providers.  Therefore the council and other public sector partners are asked  
to address these vulnerabilities through proofing investment policies and 
reinforcing a consistent strategy across the County Durham Partnership. In 
particular: 

(a) the VCS are vulnerable to closure at a time of increasing  demand;  

(b) a trend for short term (one year or less) contracts and commissioning 
making it impossible for groups to plan ahead or mitigate risks.  

Page 27



 

 

(c) Specific comments by Durham Community Action in relation to the 
budget proposals include: 

(i) support for the proposal to continue to realise savings already 
agreed; 

(ii) support for the proposal to continue to reduce management and 
back office posts stressing the importance retaining sufficient 
capacity to continue partnership support which is vital for County 
Durham; 

(iii) support to continue to find new ways of working and generating 
income including more effective commissioning of services and 
in particular, tackling child poverty; 

(iv) support for the review of culture and sport, stressing the 
importance of working alongside the VCS such as the County 
Durham Sports and the County Durham Community Foundation. 

Engagement with Equality Related Groups 
 
92 The targeted work with people with learning and physical disabilities included 

a range of methods from facilitated group discussions sessions to self-
completion of the questionnaire.  This section summarises the feedback from 
the four facilitated groups.  There was a 100% agreement across the groups 
that the proposals are reasonable.  Comments included: 

 

(a) there is a need to protect adult and social care services, particularly 
those which allow people to stay in their own homes and communities 
and remain independent; 
 

(b) there was concern about criteria for adult and social care services 
changing.  It was stressed that this could leave people without 
adequate support; 

 
(c) it is important that when considering alternative ways to provide 

services, that care is taken on who will provide them and costs.  
 

93 Fifty nine children and young people took the time to complete questions as 
part of this budget consultation. Similar to the overall results a large majority 
of young people (84%) felt the proposals for savings for 2018/19 represented 
‘a reasonable approach’. There were very few comments made about specific 
savings with generally single comments made about a wide variety of 
proposals and issues. However, two clear themes did come though: six 
respondents felt that generally the council should protect services for children 
and young peoples and 10 respondents felt that ‘things to do for young people 
in their area’ is something that would most improve their quality of life. 

 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 

Scrutiny Committee Feedback   
 

94 Scrutiny members have met three times so far to consider ongoing work to 
prepare MTFP(8). Meetings of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board were held on 15 September,  27 October 2017 and on 29 
January 2018 following the Local Government Financial Settlement. Leaders 
of all opposition political groups were also invited to attend the January 
meeting.   
 

95 Overall, members of the committee agreed that they wished to commend 
officers for their efforts in achieving the savings to date since austerity began 
in 2010 and also for the way in which this has being carried out in a planned 
way to minimise impact on residents.  
 

96 Members also noted the results of the MTFP consultation process and 
commended officers in specifically targeting certain groups, particularly young 
people as the impact of spending decisions will affect their future. It was noted 
that despite a smaller number of people participating in the consultation than 
in previous years the key messages were consistent with those received in 
the past. Members made suggestions in two key areas:  
 
(a) Local government finance can be complex. Innovative approaches to 

getting the message across using infographics and charts should be 
considered to try and aid understanding and increase participation; 

 
(b) There is a popular misconception with residents that the majority of 

local government spending is funded from Council Tax. Addressing this 
misunderstanding might help to improve participation. 

 
97 Turning to the subject of reserves, members made comments in a number of 

areas. Some members were concerned that we may be too prudent in our 
outlook making savings whilst continuing to underspend our revenue budget 
and increase our reserves. Other members felt that our reserves had been 
well managed with general reserve balances being maintained at levels 
between 5% and 7.5% in line with the council’s own policy in order to meet 
unforeseen future expenditure. It was recognised however, that there is a 
view held by some residents that our reserve levels are too  high. Ways to 
communicate the difference between general reserves and earmarked 
reserves set aside to finance specific future items of expenditure agreed by 
members need to be explored. 
 

98 In considering the detail of the financial settlement, members were 
disappointed that the government continue to ignore deprivation and need as 
a factor in calculating grant support and that this change in the way that local 
government funding is determined is leading to a shift in resources from the 
north of the country to the south. There was also concern that the local 
government sector is being given new responsibilities but with insufficient 
funding to deliver them. Another concern was that Durham receives no rural 
funding despite the county having some of the most sparsely populated areas 
in the country. There were also worries that residents would feel that the 

Page 29



 

 

council is complicit in cutting public services and that more work should be 
done to communicate that this is due to the government’s austerity 
programme.  
 

99 Members noted that the government is allowing local authorities to increase 
their council tax by up to 3% in 2018/19 without the need for a referendum. 
The government has also made the assumption in their calculations that all 
councils will increase their council tax in line with this new council tax cap. 
The approach in Durham in the past has been to set annual increases in 
council tax up to the maximum of the old council tax cap and members 
questioned whether we should examine increasing our council tax by 3% in 
the forthcoming year. 
 

100 Turning to the MTFP model, members noted the planned increase in the 
percentage of retained business rates and that this will make local 
government finances more sensitive to fluctuations in the local economy. It is 
therefore important that our ambitious regeneration programme is not delayed 
and maintaining a strong planning service is crucial in achieving this.  
 

101 Members felt that there was a need to consider carefully the best use of the 
Better Care Fund to underpin prevention and to support future efficiencies in 
the context of demographic pressures the council faces in relation to adult 
social care. Concern was expressed about the uncertainty regarding the 
ability to carry forward better care fund money between years and whether the 
council needs to be more agile given increasing short-term funding. On 
another note, members did welcome the protection of the public health 
budget.  
 

102 Concern was also expressed about the funding outlook beyond 2019/20 and 
whether there is a risk of further cuts. The Committee noted the Fair Funding 
review as a key issue that may affect the council. 
 

103 Some members of the Committee expressed concern about the level of detail 
provided regarding savings proposals and asked that Cabinet should review 
this.  

 

Medium Term Financial Plan Strategy 
 
104 The strategy the council has deployed to date has been to prioritise savings 

from management, support services, efficiencies and, where possible, 
increased income from fees and charges to minimise the impact of reductions 
on frontline services as far as possible.  

105 Throughout the period covered by the MTFP(1) 2011/12 through to MTFP(8) 
2021/22, the cumulative savings required has risen from an originally forecast 
£123 million to a revised and updated forecast £252.7 million.  It will become 
increasingly difficult to protect frontline services going forward.  

106 To date the council has implemented the agreed strategy very effectively: 
 

Page 30



 

 

(a) £209 million of savings will have been delivered by 31 March 2018; 

(b) In the vast majority of cases, savings have been delivered on time and 
in some areas ahead of time.  This is critically important, as non-
delivery would place additional pressure upon the revenue budget;  

(c) Whilst income from fees and charges has been increased, this has not 
resulted in the council having the highest levels of fees and charges in 
the region, which is important given the socio-economic make-up of the 
county; 

(d) It was originally forecast that there would be a reduction in posts of 
1,950 due to austerity measures.  Looking ahead with the significant 
savings requirements over the next two years, the council is expecting 
to see further reductions in the workforce. For 2018/19 the forecast is 
for a further reduction of 155 posts including the deletion of 57 vacant 
posts. It is currently forecast that by the end of 2018/19 the reduction in 
posts will be 2,921, of which 784 will have been via the deletion of 
vacant posts;   

(e) Following the abolition of the national council tax benefit system in 
2013, and despite government funding reductions for the Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme, the council has been able to maintain a 
scheme that protects all working age households in line with the 
support they would have previously received under the Council Tax 
Benefit system.  This is a significant achievement and the council is 
one of small number of councils that have been able to maintain this 
support at a time when working age households are suffering from 
continued impacts of the government’s welfare reforms.  This has only 
been possible through prudent financial planning; 

(f) The council has also been able to protect those services prioritised by 
the public such as winter maintenance whilst also continuing to support 
a fully funded capital programme.  

107 The benefits of delivering savings early, if practical to do so, cannot be over 
emphasised.  The utilisation of reserves has been essential in ensuring the 
smooth delivery of savings and enabled a managed implementation of 
proposals across financial years. 

108 In general, the council has been accurate in forecasting the level of savings 
required, which has allowed the development of strong plans and has enabled 
the council to robustly manage the implementation and delivery on time, 
including meeting extensive consultation and communication 
requirements.  This has put the council in as strong a position as possible to 
meet the ongoing financial challenges across this MTFP and beyond. Savings 
proposals are becoming more complex and difficult to deliver and will 
inevitably require increased utilisation of reserves to offset any delays and 
‘smooth in’ reductions across financial years. 

Page 31



 

 

109 The council’s existing MTFP strategy accords well with the priorities identified 
by the public.  For example: 
 
(a) protecting basic needs and support service for vulnerable people: 

Although the scale of government spending reductions is such that all 
MTFPs including MTFP(8) have identified unavoidable impact on 
vulnerable people, the council works hard with partners to minimise this 
impact as far as possible.  In MTFP(8), support has been continued to 
protect working age people on low incomes through the continuation of 
the existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  Work with health partners 
continues to help ensure that health and social care funds are 
maximised and every proposal with the potential to impact on 
vulnerable people is subject to an assessment to identify likely impacts 
and mitigate these as far as possible; 

(b) avoid waste and increase efficiency: The council has a good track 
record of delivering cashable efficiency savings since local government 
reorganisation.  This includes rationalisation of council buildings and IT 
systems as well as implementing significant changes such as the move 
to alternate weekly refuse collections.  All employees have the ability to 
suggest ideas that could reduce waste and improve efficiency.  The 
council benchmarks itself against other organisations in order to 
demonstrate value for money; 

(c) work with the community: The council is a forerunner in asset 
transfer, having successfully transferred a number of leisure centres, a 
golf course, community buildings and children’s centres to date.  The 
council has recognised the need for investment in resources to work 
with the community to achieve successful outcomes in this area and 
shares the public’s view that there is scope to continue this in the 
future.  The “Durham Ask” initiative is expected to result in the transfer 
of more council assets to community groups so long as there is a 
business case supporting the sustainability of the transfer; 

(d) fees and charges: The council has addressed some of its financial 
challenges through increasing fees and charges.  Such decisions are 
carefully considered and it is acknowledged that it is not appropriate to 
aim for the highest charges possible given the income levels of the 
majority of residents and service users in County Durham. 

110 It is likely that austerity will continue over the four year period of MTFP(8) 
resulting in at least 11 years of funding reductions and the need to identify 
significant annual savings to balance the budget. The fact that each year’s 
reduction is on top of those of previous years leads to a forecasted, 
cumulative total of £252.7 million of required savings across the period 
2011/12 up to 2021/22.  This means that the council continues to face a very 
considerable financial challenge to balance budgets whilst providing a good 
level of service. 

111 In addition, local government generally is facing more uncertainty about future 
funding and absorbing more financial risks from central government. 

Page 32



 

 

112 Increased risk is arising from several sources: 
 
(a) Under the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, previous national risk 

arising from any increased numbers of benefits claimants has been 
transferred to local authorities since 2013/14.  The risk is greater for 
authorities like Durham that serve relatively more deprived areas and 
have relatively weaker economic performance than the national 
average; 

(b) Business Rates Retention was introduced in 2013/14 to incentivise 
local authorities to focus on economic regeneration by being able to 
retain 49% of business rates raised locally.  Economic regeneration has 
always been the top priority for the council.  Unfortunately, the practical 
consequences of these changes shifts risks once managed nationally 
to local authorities should there be a downturn in the local economy 
and local business rate yield reduces.  In addition, the Council also now 
carries a share in the risk arising from successful rating appeals against 
the rateable value assigned to a business by the Valuation Office, part 
of HM Revenues and Customs which can go back many years and pre-
date the introduction of Business Rates Retention; 

(c) The Local Government Finance Settlement confirmed the government’s 
aspiration that local authorities will be able to retain 75% of business 
rates collected locally in 2020/21. At this point there will be a business 
rate reset and the implementation of the Fair Funding review. This 
could result in significant changes to the funding received by the 
council; 

(d) The government’s ongoing Welfare Reform changes, including the roll 
out of Universal Credit Full Service, carry increased financial risk to the 
Council in areas such as the Benefits Service, Welfare Rights, 
homelessness and housing services.  Similarly, council tax may 
become more difficult to collect, creating increased financial pressure; 

(e) Risks such as future price and pay inflation beyond MTFP forecasts 
and demographic pressures in social care services in particular will still 
apply and are not currently recognised in government funding 
allocations, increasing the real terms cuts required to set a balanced 
budget; 

(f) Future settlements are dependent upon the national finances. 
Uncertainties in relation to Brexit could impact upon the national 
finances and as such impact upon future settlements for local 
government. 

113 Detailed savings plans have been developed for 2018/19 with work ongoing to 
develop savings plans for 2019/20 and beyond. It is recognised that the likely 
impact of the Fair Funding review will not become clear until at least 2019.  
On that basis the council will need to be flexible in terms of planning for future 
years savings.  

Page 33



 

 

Revenue Budget for 2018/19 

114 Regular updates on the development of the 2018/19 budget have been 
presented to Cabinet since July 2017.  These updates have provided detail 
upon the forecast resources available, budget pressures and the savings 
required to balance the budget.  This report provides details on the final 
position. 

 
Base Budget Pressures in 2018/19 
 
115 Base budget pressures have been reviewed over the last year.  Table 14 

below provides detail of the final position on the 2017/18 Base Budget 
pressures. 
 
Table 14 – 2018/19 Base Budget Pressures 
 

Pressure Amount £m 

Pay Inflation 4.800 
Price Inflation 3.200 
Corporate Risk Contingency Budget (1.000) 
Costs associated with the National Living Wage 
Energy Price Increases 
Microsoft Licencing 

2.900 
0.500 
1.200 

Adult Demographic Pressures 3.000 
Children’s – LAC Pressures 3.944 
Children’s - Special Guardianship/Arrangement Orders 
Children’s -  Social Worker Academy 
Unfunded Superannuation 

1.049 
0.372 

(0.100) 

TOTAL  20.507 

 
Additional Investment 
 
116 Additional budget provision is required for price inflation and the cost of the 

pay award. At this stage the National Employers have made a two year offer 
to the Trade Unions for the two year period 2018/19 to 2019/20. The offer at 
this stage is as follows:  

2018/19 

(a) Bottom loading for scale points 6 – 19.  It is considered necessary to 
increase the lower grades significantly to take into account higher than 
inflation increases in the National Living Wage (NLW).  The increases 
from scale point 6 to scale point 19 vary between 3.7% and 9.2% with 
the larger increases at the lower grade points. The hourly rate at scale 
point 6 will be £8.50 per hour; the lowest scale point utilised in the 
council is point 10 which has an hourly rate of pay of £8.74 per hour.  

(b) A 2% flat rate increase for scale point 20 and above. 

 

Page 34



 

 

2019/20 

(a) A reorganisation of incremental points between scale points 6 and 22. 
This will include the merger of points between scale points 6 and 17 to 
form six new scale points rather than the current twelve. The hourly 
rate at scale point 6 will increase at this point to £9 per hour; 

(b) A 2% flat rate increase for scale point 23 and above. 

117 It is forecast that the offer, if accepted by the Trade Unions, will result in a 
2.5% increase in the total pay bill for both 2018/19 and 2019/20.  The Durham 
Living Wage is based upon scale point 10 which will see an increase from 
£8.09 per hour to £8.74 per hour which is significantly higher than the National 
Living Wage of £7.83 per hour.  The Durham Living Wage will need to be 
reviewed in the light of the reorganisation of increment points in 2019/20. 
Government have not recognised the impact of the pay offer in the Local 
Government Finance Settlement. 

118 Over the coming months the council will be need to consider the impact of the 
2019/20 pay offer, which includes the creation of a new grading structure 
below scale point 23.  Consideration will need to be given as to how 
employees are assimilated onto the new grading structure and the impact 
upon the overall grading structure and pay bill. 

119 The increase in the NLW for 2018/19 is 33p per week bringing the hourly rate 
up to £7.83 per hour.  The forecast cost to the council of this increase is     
£2.9 million over the MTFP(8) period. This increase will cover additional costs 
in relation to contract prices including Adult Social Care contractors where 
salaries paid by care providers are often at or near to the National Minimum 
Wage. 

120 The council faces significant budget pressures in both Adult and Children’s 
Social Care related in the main to additional demand for services.  The 
additional costs in Children’s Social Care continue to be challenging and it is 
disappointing that this pressure has not been recognised by government in 
terms of the Local Government Finance Settlement.  

121 The council continues to prioritise capital investment and this budget includes 
a fully funded capital programme.   A key priority of the capital programme 
continues to be regeneration and job creation within the local economy. 

Savings Methodology 

122 To date, the council has delivered the vast majority of savings required on 
schedule, where across the period 2011/12 to 2017/18 savings targets have 
totalled £209 million. 

123 The savings requirements to balance the 2018/19 budget is £15.336 million, 
as detailed in Table 15 overleaf: 

 
 

Page 35



 

 

Table 15 – 2018/19 Savings Requirement 
 

 £million £million 

Resource Base/Pressures – net position 
 
Add Use of One Off Funds 2016/17 
 
Budget Support Reserve 
 

TOTAL SAVINGS REQUIREMENT 
 
Financed as follows: 
 
Savings Proposals 
Use of Budget Support Reserve 

 
 

 
 

12.622 
 
 
 
 
 

(14.803) 
  (0.500) 

 

2.681 
 
 
 
 
 

15.303 
 
 
 
 
 

(15.303) 

SHORTFALL  0  

 
124 To reduce the impact upon front line services the council will utilise              

£0.5 million of the Budget Support Reserve (BSR).  The utilisation of          
£0.5 million of the BSR will leave a residual balance of £29.5 million to 
support the MTFP in future years. 

125 The detailed savings plans totalling £18.631 million over the 2018/19 to 
2020/21 period with £14.803 million of these savings being realised in 
2018/19. The savings are detailed in Appendix 3. 

126 Over the coming months the council will develop savings plans to balance the 
budget over the MTFP(8) period whilst recognising the uncertainties presently 
facing local government funding. These plans will be reported to Cabinet 
during the development of MTFP(9). 

127 The revised forecast of savings up to 2021/22 is detailed in Table 16. 

Table 16 – Total Savings 2011/12 to 2021/22 

Period Savings 

 £m 
2011/12 to 2017/18 209.0 
2018/19 to 2021/22   43.7 

TOTAL 252.7 

 
2018/19 Net Budget Requirement and Council Tax 
 
128 After taking into account base budget pressures and additional investment, 

the council’s recommended Net Budget Requirement for 2017/18 is    
£395.278 million.  The financing of the Net Budget Requirement is detailed in 
Table 17 overleaf. 
 
 

Page 36



 

 

Table 17 – Financing of the 2018/19 Budget 

Funding Stream Amount 

 £m 
Revenue Support Grant 41.860 
Business Rates 51.887 
Business Rates – Top Up Grant 
Section 31 Grants 

70.350 
7.459 

Collection Fund Surplus 7.506 
Council Tax 209.712 
New Homes Bonus  6.504 

NET BUDGET REQUIREMENT 395.278 

 
129 The Gross and Net Expenditure Budgets for 2018/19 for each service 

grouping are detailed in Appendix 4.  A summary of the 2018/19 budget by 
service expenditure type, based upon the CIPFA classification of costs is 
detailed in Appendix 5. 
 

130 The government has confirmed that the maximum the council can increase 
council tax by is 2.99% without approval from a majority of council tax payers 
to increase it higher after a public referendum.  The council also has the ability 
to apply an Adult Social Care precept up to a maximum of 6% over the period 
2017/18 to 2019/20, subject to a cap of no more than 3% to be applied in any 
one year. In setting the 2017/18 budget council agreed to plan on the basis of 
utilising this flexibility evenly at 2% in each of the three years. 

131 After considering the impact upon the council’s budget and, importantly upon 
council tax payers, this report recommends a 2.99% council tax increase in 
the council’s Band D council tax in 2018/19 which is below the 3% 
Referendum Limit.  

132 In addition, the report recommends a 2% increase to the Adult Social Care 
precept.  The total increase will generate additional council tax income in 
2018/19 of £9.9 million. The additional income will enable the council to 
protect front line services whilst also covering significant base budget 
pressures such as the additional costs associated with the introduction of the 
National Living Wage.  

133 The 2018/19 council tax base which is the figure utilised to calculate council 
tax income forecasts, was approved by Cabinet on 16 November 2016 as 
138,419.2 Band D equivalent properties.  Based upon the council’s track 
record in collecting council tax from council tax payers, the tax base for 
council tax setting and income generation processes will increase from 98.5% 
to 99%. 

Recommendations  

134 It is recommended that Members: 

(a) approve the identified base budget pressures included in 
paragraph 115; 

Page 37



 

 

(b) approve the investments detailed in the report; 

(c) approve the 2018/19 savings plans detailed in Appendix 3; 

(d) approve a 2.99% 2018/19 council tax increase and an additional  
2% increase which relates to the Adult Social Care precept, 
totalling 4.99%; 

(e) approve the 2018/19 Net Budget Requirement of £395.278 million. 

How the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP (8)) 2018/19 to 2021/22 has been 
Developed 

135 The following assumptions have been utilised in developing the MTFP(8) 
budget model which is set out in Appendix 7. 
 
(a) Government grant reductions for the MTFP(8) period have been 

developed utilising information from the Local Government Finance 
Settlement.  The published RSG reductions for the period 2018/19 to 
2019/20 are detailed below.  By 2019/20 the RSG received by the 
council will have reduced to an estimated £27.6 million; 

Table 18 – MTFP(8) RSG Reductions 
 

Year Funding Reduction 

 £m 

2018/19 
2019/20 

(14.140) 
(14.240) 

 
At this stage it is forecast that there will be no further reductions in RSG 
in the period after 2019/20. At the same time the implementation of the 
Fair Funding review in 2020/21 could have a significant impact upon 
RSG and broader government funding levels; 
 

(b) The government previously announced significant reductions of circa 
15% in Public Health grant over the four year period 2016/17 to 
2019/20.  The government has confirmed that the reduction in the 
Public Health grant will be £1.3 million in 2018/19 with an additional 
reduction of £1.3 million in 2019/20. This reduction in Public Health 
grant increases the savings requirement for the council in each of these 
years; 

(c) NHB is now paid for four years rather than six and a deadweight 
threshold of 0.4%.The government will retain the option of making 
adjustments to the baseline in future years in the event of significant 
housing growth. In terms of MTFP(8) planning it is assumed that the 
NHB will continue to reduce in future years as the 0.4% threshold takes 
effect. It is forecast at this stage that NHB will reduce by a further £0.45 
million in 2019/20, £0.8 million in 2020/21 and by £0.25 million in 
2021/22; 

Page 38



 

 

(d) The council is also forecasting that there will be continued reductions in 
the Benefit Administration grants. It is forecast that Benefit 
Administration grants will continue to reduce by £0.3 million per annum 
in both 2019/20 and 2020/21; 

(e) The additional BCF allocations relating to Adult Social Care and Health 
pressures have been built into the MTFP.  These allocations begin with 
a £2.4 million in 2017/18 increasing to a forecast £13.4 million in 
2018/19 and £23.1 million in 2019/20. In addition the government has 
also confirmed allocations of the ‘Improved’ Better Care Fund. The 
council will receive £8 million in 2018/19 which will reduce by £4 million 
in each of 2019/20 and 2020/21 with no funding remaining beyond 
2020/21.  All of these sums have been built into MTFP(8) to support the 
budget; 

(f) Forecast pay and price inflation levels have taken into account the 
latest National Employers pay offer for 2018/19 and 2019/20 and the 
forecast levels of price inflation.  Although it is forecast that price 
inflation may exceed 1.5% over the next couple of years, service 
groupings will be expected to manage budgets within set cash limits 
although some additional allowance will be recognised for major 
contracts.  The assumptions built into MTFP(8) are detailed in the table 
below: 

  Table 19 – Pay and Price Inflation Assumptions 
 

Year Pay Inflation Price Inflation 

 % % 

2019/20 
2020/21 
2021/22 

2.5 
2.0 
2.0 

1.5 
1.5 
1.5 

 

(g) Forecasts have also been included in relation to the impact of the 
National Living Wage over and above the 1.5% inflation allowance. 
Over the period 2019/20 to 2021/22 the council expects to receive 
requests from a broader range of contractors requesting price 
increases due to the impact of the National Living Wage.  The annual 
budget pressure is forecast to be between £2.5 million and £4 million 
across the period 2019/20 to 2021/22; 

(h) Continuing forecast budget pressures in relation to energy prices and 
Children and Adults demographics; 

(i) Continuing to support the capital programme; 

(j) It is assumed that the council will continue to utilise the flexibility to 
increase council tax utilising both the additional 3% referendum level 
and the additional 2% Adult Social Care precept. 

Page 39



 

 

136 Based upon the assumptions built into MTFP(8) the following shortfall in 
savings will be required to balance the budget in 2019/20 and 2021/22.  
 
Table 20 – Savings to be Identified 

 

Year Savings Target 

 £m 

2019/20   7.704 
2020/22 
2021/22 

11.789 
  5.600 

 

137 In total, savings of £25.093 million are required to balance the budget over the 
2019/20 to 2021/22 period.  To support the MTFP over this period there will 
be a residual balance in the Budget Support Reserve of £29.5 million.  

138 The MTFP(8) forecasted budget model is attached at Appendix 6. 

Financial Reserves 

139 Reserves are held: 

(a) as a working balance to help cushion the impact of any uneven cash 
flows and avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of 
the General Reserves; 

(b) as a contingency to cushion the impact of any unexpected events or 
emergencies e.g. flooding and other exceptional winter weather – this 
also forms part of General Reserves; 

(c) as a means of building up funds, ‘earmarked’ reserves to meet known 
or predicted future liabilities. 

140 The council’s current reserves policy is to: 

(a) set aside sufficient sums in Earmarked Reserves as is considered 
prudent.  The Corporate Director of Resources should continue to be 
authorised to establish such reserves as required, to review them for 
both adequacy and purpose on a regular basis and then reporting to 
the Cabinet Portfolio Member for Finance and to Cabinet;  

(b) aim to maintain General Reserves in the medium term of between 5% 
and 7.5% of the Net Budget Requirement which in cash terms equates 
to up to £29 million. 

141 Each earmarked reserve, with the exception of the Schools’ reserve, is kept 
under review and formally reviewed on an annual basis.  The Schools’ 
reserve is the responsibility of individual schools with balances at the year-
end which make up the total reserve. 

Page 40



 

 

142 A Local Authority Accounting Panel Bulletin published in November 2008 
(LAAP77) makes a number of recommendations relating to the determination 
and the adequacy of Local Authority Reserves.  The guidance contained in 
the Bulletin “represents good financial management and should be followed 
as a matter of course”. 

143 This bulletin highlights a range of factors, in addition to cash flow 
requirements that councils should consider.  These include the treatment of 
inflation, the treatment of demand led pressures, efficiency savings, 
partnerships and the general financial climate, including the impact on 
investment income.  The bulletin also refers to reserves being deployed to 
fund recurring expenditure and indicates that this is not a long-term option.  If 
Members were to choose to use General Reserves as part of this budget 
process appropriate action would need to be factored into the MTFP to ensure 
that this is addressed over time so that the base budget is not reliant on a 
continued contribution from General Reserves. 

144 The forecast balance on all reserves is reported to Cabinet every quarter as 
part of the Forecast of Outturn reports and Cabinet received the latest report 
on 15 November 2017.  A range of reserves are being utilised to support 
MTFP(8).  Details are as follows: 

(a) MTFP Redundancy and ER/VR Reserve – this reserve was 
originally created in 2010 with a balance of £26.9 million.  The 
reserve has been replenished on several occasions since 
2010. In total an additional £30.642 million has been added to 
the original reserve and at the end of 2017/18, it is forecast that 
the balance on the reserve will be £10 million i.e. a sum of 
£47.5 million will have been expended over the 2010/11 to 
2017/18 period in support of the MTFP.  Having this reserve in 
place will be a major factor in managing the savings realisation 
process effectively across the MTFP(8) period.  This reserve 
will continue to be closely monitored; 

(b) Budget Support Reserve - It is forecast that an additional £0.5 
million of the BSR will be utilised to support the MTFP in 
2018/19. The residual balance of £29.5 million will be available 
to support the budget in later years when savings required are 
expected to be more challenging and the level of this reserve 
will be reviewed as part of the final accounts closedown and 
through the development of MTFP(8); 

(c) Cash Limit Reserves – service groupings continue to utilise 
Cash Limit Reserves to enable re-profiling of when MTFP 
savings are realised. These reserves will continue to be 
carefully monitored. 

145 Between the period 2011/12 to 2018/19 it is forecast that circa £80 million of 
reserves, including the BSR, will have been utilised to support the MTFP.  It is 
recommended at this stage that the current Reserve Policy of maintaining the 

Page 41



 

 

General Reserve of between 5% and 7.5% of the Net Budget Requirement is 
retained.  This will result in a General Reserve range of up to £30 million. 

146 A balanced MTFP model has been developed after taking into account the 
assumptions detailed in this report.  The MTFP model is summarised below. 

Table 21 – MTFP(8) Model Summary 
 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Variance in Resource Base (17.826) (4.886) (3.050) (7.650) (33.412) 

Budget Pressures 

Previous use of one off funds 

Use of Budget Support 
Reserve 

20.507 

 12.622 

(0.500) 

14.535 

   0.500 

0 

16.222 

  0 

  0 

13.250 

0 

0 

64.514 

13.122 

(0.500) 

Savings Required 14.803 10.149 13.172 5.600 43.724 

 
Recommendations 
 
147 It is recommended that Members: 

(a) agree the forecast 2019/20 to 2021/22 MTFP(8) financial position; 
 

(b) set aside sufficient sums in Earmarked Reserves as is considered 
to be prudent.  The Corporate Director of Resources should 
continue to be authorised to establish such reserves as required 
to review them for both adequacy and purpose on a regular basis 
reporting appropriately to the Cabinet Portfolio Member for 
Finance and to Cabinet; 

 
(c) aim to maintain General Reserve in the medium term between 5% 

and 7.5% of the Net Budget Requirement which in cash terms is 
up to £30 million. 

 
Capital Budget 2017/18 to 2021/22 
 
148 The capital budget was last approved by Cabinet on 15 November 

2017.  Since that date capital budgets have continued to be challenged and 
reviewed and some additional resources have been received which have 
augmented the capital programme.  After taking these adjustments into 
account Table 22 details the latest revised capital budget for the period 
2017/18 to 2020/21 including the details of the financing of this capital 
expenditure.  Further details of the current capital programme can be found at 
Appendix 7. 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 

Table 22 – Current Capital Budget 2017/18 to 2020/21 

Service Grouping 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Total 

 
 

£m £m £m £m £m 

Adults and Health 0.326 0 0 0 0.326 
CYPS 19.825 23.983 0 0 43.808 
REAL 81.244 61.885 26.516 2.699 172.344 

Resources 6.308 6.061 4.366 4.000 20.735 
Transformation & P. 3.680 2.841 0 0 6.521 

TOTAL 111.383 94.770 30.882 6.699 243.734 

Financed by 
 

     

Grants/Contributions 53.697 34.028 7.070 0 94.795 
Revenue/Reserves 5.320 0 0 0 5.320 

Capital Receipts 17.591 22.439 0 0 40.030 
Borrowing 34.775 38.303 23.812 6.699 103.589 

TOTAL 111.383 94.770 30.882 6.699 243.734 

 
Capital Considerations in the MTFP(8) Process 
 
149 Service groupings developed capital bid submissions during the summer 2017 

alongside the development of revenue MTFP(8) proposals.  Bids were 
submitted in the main for 2019/20 to maintain the two year rolling programme 
approach to the capital budget.  Bids were also submitted for 2018/19 which 
were deemed to be priority.  The Capital Member Officer Working Group 
(MOWG) had considered the capital bid submissions taking the following into 
account: 
 
(a) Service grouping assessment of priority; 

(b) Affordability based upon the availability of capital financing.  This 
process takes into account the impact of borrowing upon the revenue 
budget; 

(c) Whether schemes could be self-financing i.e. capital investment would 
generate either revenue savings or additional income to repay the 
borrowing costs to fund the schemes. 

150 Whilst considering capital bid proposals, MOWG has continued to recognise 
the benefits of committing to a longer term capital programme to aid effective 
planning and programming of investment.  At the same time MOWG also 
recognised the need for caution in committing the council to high levels of 
prudential borrowing at this stage for future years. 

Available Capital Financing – Capital Grants 

151 Capital grants for 2018/19 are in line with the forecasts built into MTFP(8) 
although the allocation for Schools Capitalised Maintenance is still to be 
confirmed.  

 

Page 43



 

 

152 The table below provides details of the indicative 2019/20 capital grant 
allocations included in plans.   If the actual allocations for 2019/20 vary from 
the forecast then the capital budget may need to be adjusted accordingly. 

 

Table 23 – Forecast Capital Grants Utilised in Support of the MTFP(8) 
Capital Programme 

Capital Grant 2019/20 

 £m 

Disabled Facilities 5.300 
LTP – Highways/Pot Hole funding 12.487 

LTP - Integrated Transport 2.726 
School Maintenance/Basic Need 9.105 

School Devolved Capital 1.378 

TOTAL 30.996 
 

Capital Receipt Forecast 
 
153 In the majority of cases, capital receipts received are utilised to support the 

overall council capital programme.  Capital receipts are generated from asset 
sales and from VAT shelter arrangements in relation to previous council 
housing stock transfers within the former district councils.  Normally 
Registered Social Landlords cannot recover VAT.  The VAT shelter agreed 
with Revenues and Customs (HMRC) allows recovery normally over a 15 year 
period.  The benefit of this is shared between the council and the 
landlord.  Asset sales in the main relate to land sales which are generated 
from the council’s Asset Disposal Programme.   
 

154 In a small number of circumstances, primarily in relation to former schools 
sites, capital receipts via land sales are ring fenced to particular schemes.  In 
other cases estimated capital receipts have been offset by selective 
demolition of redundant buildings on sites declared surplus and being 
marketed for sale. 

 
155 In the 2015 Autumn Statement the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced 

that local authorities would be given flexibility under certain circumstances to 
utilise capital receipts to finance one off revenue costs associated with service 
transformation and reform.  

 
156 The government has identified that revenue expenditure would qualify to be 

financed from capital receipts in the following circumstances: 
 

(a) Qualifying expenditure is expenditure on any project designed to 
generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services 
and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs or to improve the 
quality of service delivery in future years; 

(b) The key criteria to use when deciding whether expenditure can be 
funded by the capital receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate 

Page 44



 

 

ongoing savings to an authority’s, or several authorities’, and/or to 
another public sector body’s net current expenditure; 

(c) Within this definition, it is for individual local authorities to decide 
whether or not a project qualifies for the flexibility; 

(d) The Secretary of State believes that individual local authorities or 
groups of authorities are best placed to decide which projects will be 
most effective for their areas; 

(e) Set up and implementation costs of any new processes or 
arrangements can be counted as qualifying expenditure. However, the 
ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot 
be classified as qualifying expenditure. 

157 The government believes that it is important that individual authorities 
demonstrate the highest standard of accountability and transparency. It is 
required that each authority should prepare a strategy that includes separate 
disclosure of the individual projects that will be funded or part funded through 
capital receipts flexibility and that the strategy is approved by full council or 
the equivalent.  This strategy can be included as part of the annual budget 
documentation and approved by full council or the equivalent at the same time 
as the annual budget. 

 
158 At this stage, it is not considered that there are a large range of opportunities 

for the council to utilise this new flexibility. Careful consideration also needs to 
be given to the other options of funding such expenditure as identified above 
e.g. from contingencies or from reserves. Notwithstanding this it is recognised 
that it would not be unreasonable for the council to consider utilising this new 
flexibility to finance severance costs associated with the MTFP process.  

 
159 On that basis to ensure that the council has this option available it will be 

recommended that as part of the council’s overall approach to efficiency that it 
is noted at this stage that capital receipts could be utilised to finance 
severance costs.  

 
160 If this option is adopted there will be a natural impact upon the financing of the 

capital programme. In former years the council has set a target of £10 million 
of capital receipts income to support the capital programme.  A target of       
£10 million is in place for 2018/19 which was included in MTFP(7). It is also 
recommended at this stage that a £10 million sum is included in the 2019/20 
capital financing budget.  It is recognised, however, that it is becoming more 
difficult to achieve the £10 million target as the availability of land for sale 
reduces.  This position will be reviewed during development of MTFP(9). 

 
161 If a decision is made and agreed by Cabinet in the future to utilise capital 

receipts to finance severance costs then the impact upon the capital financing 
budget will need to be considered. 

 
 

Page 45



 

 

162 During 2018/19 there may be other opportunities that manifest for the council 
to utilise this new capital receipts flexibility to finance service transformation 
and reform one off costs.  If there is a business case in this regard Cabinet 
approval will be sought and the case in question included in a formal 
Efficiency Strategy.  

 

One Off Revenue Funding 

163 The council continues to recognise the importance of investing in capital 
infrastructure and the need to boost the local economy.  With this in mind it is 
recommended that advantage is taken of the following one off revenue 
funding streams to support the capital programme:  

 
(a) Collection Fund Surplus – the Quarter 2 Forecast of Outturn report to 

Cabinet on 15 November 2017 detailed that it was forecast that there 
would be a £7.506 million surplus on the council tax / business rates 
collection fund for 2017/18. This one off funding benefit is required to 
be utilised in setting the 2018/19 budget. 

Prudential Borrowing 
 

164 The council continues to sensibly utilise prudential borrowing to fund capital 
investment. The current budget available for prudential borrowing alongside 
additional growth across the MTFP(8) period will enable the council to fully 
fund the capital programme.   

 

Approval of Additional Capital Schemes 

165 A comprehensive 2018/19 capital programme was approved as part of 
MTFP(7) in line with the council policy of developing a two year rolling capital 
programme.  The need to continue to invest in capital infrastructure is seen as 
an essential means of maintaining and regenerating the local economy whilst 
supporting job creation.  Additional investment will maintain and improve 
infrastructure across the county, help retain existing jobs, create new jobs and 
ensure the performance of key council services are maintained and improved. 

 
166 After considering all factors, including the availability of capital finance, 

MOWG has recommended that the following additional value of schemes be 
approved for inclusion in the MTFP(8) capital programme.  Full details of the 
additional schemes can be found in Appendix 8. 

 
Table 24 – Additional Capital Schemes for 2018/19 to 2021/22 

Service Grouping 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 TOTAL 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

CYPS 0 12.583 0 0 12.583 

REAL 9.089 71.622 10.300 0.700 91.712 
Resources 0 2.745 0 0 2.745 

T & P 0.250 9.775 0 0 10.025 

TOTAL 9.339 96.726 10.300 0.700 117.065 

Page 46



 

 

 
167 The new schemes detailed in Appendix 8 will ensure that the council 

continues to invest in priority projects and essential maintenance 
programmes.  Examples of additional investments are detailed below: 

 
(a) Replacement HQ (2018/19 – 2021/22 - £46.4 million) – a sum of   

£46.4 million has been included at this stage for the replacement HQ. 
This sum is to cover the cost of the HQ build and any required 
additional car park requirements; 

(b) History Centre (2018/19 and 2019/20 - £7.8 million) – the total 
scheme is forecast to cost between £14.8 million and £17.7 million. A 
HLF bid will be submitted which if approved would part fund the 
development. This initial funding allocation will enable the scheme to 
progress. It is expected that any funding shortfall will be funded as a 
priority in MTFP(9); 

(c) Highways Maintenance (2019/20 - £18.418 million) - in line with 
previous years, a sum in addition to the LTP grant of £11.556 million 
and pot hole grants of £1.862 million will be invested into highways 
maintenance; 

(d) Horden Rail Station (2019/20 - £0.75 million) - this will bring the 
council investment in this £10.55 million scheme to £3 million.  The 
additional investment from the council will be matched against funding 
from the New Stations fund and against funding from the LEP to enable 
this scheme to progress; 

(e) Finance Durham (2019/20 - £0.985 million) - this further tranche of 
investment will bring the total investment to £10 million. The investment 
will continue progress in the investment of loans and equity in County 
Durham businesses to assist them to grow and thrive, supporting the 
local economy; 

(f) New Primary School – Escomb Primary (2019/20 - £2.1 million) - 
New housebuilding in Bishop Auckland is placing excessive pressure 
upon school places.  The optimum solution in this circumstance would 
be the building of a new two form entry primary school. A housing 
developer has agreed to gift the required land in this regard and has 
been required to grant a £2.1 million Section 106 contribution to build 
costs.  In total build costs are forecast to be £6.3 million. The           
£2.1 million included in MTFP(8) will need to be matched with a further 
£2.1 million in MTFP(9).  

168 After taking into account the adjustments detailed in this report and the 
additional schemes the revised capital budget and its financing will be as 
follows: 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

 

Table 25 – New MTFP(8) Capital Programme 

Service Grouping 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
to 21/22 

Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Adults and Health 0.326 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.326 
CYPS 19.825 23.983 12.583 0.000 56.391 
REAL 81.244 70.974 98.138 13.699 264.056 

Resources 6.308 6.061 7.111 4.000 23.480 
Transformation & P. 3.680 3.091 9.775 0.000 16.546 

TOTAL 111.383 104.109 127.607 17.699 360.799 

Financed by      
Grants/Contributions 53.697 34.028 38.066 0.000 125.791 
Revenue/Reserves 5.320 9.339 38.167 0.000 52.826 

Capital Receipts 17.591 22.439 10.000 0.000 50.030 
Borrowing 34.775 38.303 41.374 17.699 132.152 

TOTAL 111.383 104.109 127.607 17.699 360.799 
 

Recommendations 

169 It is recommended that Members: 
 
(a) approve the revised 2017/18 capital budget of £111.383 million; 

(b) approve the additional capital schemes detailed at Appendix 
8.  These schemes will be financed from additional capital grants, 
from capital receipts, from one off revenue funding and from 
prudential borrowing; 

(c) note the option for the council to utilise capital receipts to finance 
severance costs utilising the new flexibilities in this regard. The 
utilisation of such flexibility will require the approval of Cabinet;  

(d) approve the MTFP(8) Capital Budget of £360.799 million for 
2017/18 to 2021/22 detailed in Table 25. 

2018/19 Savings Proposals 
 

Transformation and Partnerships 
 
170 To date spending reductions of just over £6.5 million have been achieved over 

the course of MTFP (1) – (7).  In 2018/19 a further £0.48 million is required 
bringing the total amount of savings since 2011 to circa £7 million. 
 

171 The service grouping continues to identify opportunities to work more 
efficiently whilst providing support to the council through a period of ongoing 
and considerable change, through the new transformation programme. 

 
172 Since 2011 much of the service grouping’s savings have been realised 

through reduction of management and support services. In 2017/18 savings 

Page 48



 

 

were made through AAP Revenue Reduction, grant reductions, and 
reductions in staffing. 

 
173 In 2018/19 there will be a full service review following the unitisation of policy, 

performance and planning type services in 2017. There will not be a reduction 
in AAP budgets.  

 
174 For 2018/19 onwards Transformation and Partnerships will be facilitating 

additional back office savings and increasing productivity across the council 
as part of the Transformation Programme in addition to a review of the service 
grouping will continue in order to identify further savings. 

 
Adult and Health Services 
 
175 In 2018/19 savings of £5.6 million are required. 

 
176 The service continues to be faced with a significant amount of change both 

internally with the reorganisation of the service grouping and externally 
including the continuing demographic pressures arising from an ageing 
population with increasingly complex needs and support requirements, 
statutory changes for personal independence payments and new partnering 
arrangements between health and social care.  
 

177 In 2018/19 a range of proposals will be implemented to ensure that services 
to vulnerable users are protected whilst the budget savings are achieved. 
Proposals include a review of direct provision of in house services, use of 
consistent eligibility criteria and a review of charging income in a number of 
areas.  
 

178 A number of service areas will be reviewed and restructured to gain maximum 
efficiency savings including reviews of community based services, 
environmental health and  consumer protection and non-front line activity in 
public health.  

Children and Young People’s Services 
 
179 In 2018/19 savings of £2.7 million are required.   

 
180 All efforts continue to be made to minimise the impact as far as possible upon 

vulnerable people in line with the MTFP consultation views expressed by the 
public. There will be reviews of operating models and working practices 
alongside the development of opportunities to work in a more integrated way 
with external partners. Where possible the decision to re-profile savings has 
been taken to further minimise impact for service users. 
 

181 The service will be seeking to increase the income through the expansion of 
traded services as well as reduce expenditure through a number of service 
reviews and back office savings through the development of new technologies 
and more efficient ways of working.  
 

Page 49



 

 

182 A review will be undertaken to develop new partnership arrangements for 
early help services whilst further savings will be sought across all teams in the 
service including staffing and non-staffing budgets.    
 

183 Further small scale savings will be achieved from proposals previously agreed 
to review home to school transport, utilising safe walking routes.  

Regeneration and Local Services 
 
184 Neighbourhood Services and Regeneration and Economic Development have 

also undergone significant organisational change and have been 
amalgamated to form the single service grouping Regeneration and Local 
Services (ReaL), reducing the number of Corporate Directors by 
one.  Spending reductions of £55.3 million have been achieved over the 
course of MTFP (1) - (7) for Regeneration and Local Services with a further 
£4.9 million required in 2018/19. Since 2011 the total amount saved by this 
service grouping to the end of 2018/19 will be in excess of £60 million. 
 

185 Throughout the previous MTFPs, both service groupings had focused on 
protecting  front line services, looking to restructure and review teams and 
wherever possible to deliver savings through more efficient ways of working, 
while also maintaining a high level of service, working with partners to deliver 
our economic ambitions. 

 
186 Areas where further efficiency reviews will be carried out in 2018/19 include 

fleet, buildings and facilities, grounds maintenance, and culture and sport. 
There will also be savings made from restructures of Economic Development, 
transport and planning teams and this will include a proportionate reduction in 
supplies and services.  

 

187 Waste also continues to be an area in which savings have been identified, 
with additional income being generated from garden waste and bulky waste 
charges along with a review of the strategic waste service. 
 

188 Whilst every effort has been made to minimise impact of frontline services in 
previous years it will become increasingly difficult in the future as austerity 
continues. 

 
Resources 
 
189 In line with the views of the public the council has consistently prioritised 

higher savings targets from Resources, which has resulted in savings since 
2011 of £16.5 million.  
 

190 In 2018/19 a further £0.6 million reduction is required. This will mean from 
2011 to the end of 2017/18 reductions totalling £17.1 million will have been 
made. 
 

191 All areas of the service grouping will be undergoing further reviews and 
restructuring during 2018/19 in order to deliver the savings required in these 

Page 50



 

 

areas. This will include a review and further restructuring of HR, Legal 
Services, Corporate Finance, Revenues and Benefits, Internal Audit and 
Digital and Customer Services. 
 

192 The service grouping also manage a range of additional savings from 
corporate areas including renegotiated contract prices for concessionary 
fares, additional dividends, and reductions of the insurance budget and 
annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charge.  
 

193 These proposals will deliver a further £3.7 million of savings for MTFP(7) with 
additional savings in 2018/19 achieved from the annual subscription to the 
Association of North East Councils (ANEC) which is no longer required. On 
top of the £8.6 million achieved to date since 2013 this will bring the total 
corporate savings in 2018/19 to circa £12 million. 

Recommendation  
 

194 It is recommended that Members: 

(a) note the approach taken by service groupings to achieve the 
required savings.  

 
Equality Impact Assessment of the Medium Term Financial Plan   
 
195 The equality impact of these savings proposals is an essential element that 

Members must consider in this decision making process.  This section 
provides an update on the outcomes of the equality impact assessment of the 
MTFP(8) to date, and summarises the potential cumulative impact of the 
2018/19 proposals.  
 

196 The aim of this equality analysis is to:  
 
(a) identify any disproportionate impact on service users or staff based on 

the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation; 

(b) identify any mitigating actions, which can be taken to reduce negative 
impact where possible;  

(c) ensure that we avoid unlawful discrimination as a result of MTFP 
decisions;  

(d) ensure the effective discharge of the council’s public sector equality 
duty. 

197 As in previous years, equality impact assessments are being considered 
throughout the decision-making process, alongside the development of 
MTFP(8).  This is required to ensure MTFP process decisions are both fair 
and lawful.  The process is in line with the Equality Act 2010 which, amongst 
other things, makes discrimination unlawful in relation to the protected 

Page 51



 

 

characteristics listed above and requires reasonable adjustments for disabled 
people. The public sector equality duty  requires us to pay ‘due regard’ to the 
need to:  
 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 

conduct that is prohibited under the Act;  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

198 All of the savings options presented at Appendix 3 have been subject to initial 
equality impact assessments from services where applicable.  Existing 
assessments from previous years are in place where there is a residual 
saving or a continuation of a savings proposal.  A number of proposals do not 
require an assessment, for example those involving savings in supplies or 
reduced insurance premiums.  
 

199 A number of successful judicial reviews in respect of local authorities 
discharge of the public sector equality duty, reinforce the need for robust 
consideration of the public sector equality duties and the impact on service 
users with protected characteristics in the decision-making process.  
Members must take full account of the duties and accompanying evidence 
when considering the MTFP proposals.  
 

200 Throughout the period of MTFP planning through to setting the MTFP(8) 
budget in February 2018, the equality impact assessments have been 
developed alongside emerging savings proposals.  Any relevant results of 
consultation activity have been included in the assessments and all 
assessments are continually updated as further information becomes 
available.  Final assessments will be considered as part the decision-making 
process for each individual proposal.   
 

201 In terms of the ongoing programme of budget decisions, the council has taken 
steps to ensure that impact assessments:  
 
(a) are built in at the formative stages so that they form an integral part of 

developing proposals with sufficient time for completion ahead of 
decision-making;  

(b) are based on relevant evidence, including consultation where 
appropriate, to provide a robust assessment;  

(c) objectively consider any negative impacts and alternatives or mitigating 
actions so that they support fair and lawful decision making;  

(d) are closely linked to the wider MTFP decision-making process;  

Page 52



 

 

(e) build on previous assessments to provide an ongoing picture of 
cumulative impact.  

Impact Assessments for 2018/19 Savings Proposals  
 
202 A total of 46 savings proposals are listed in Appendix 9 together with a 

description of the proposal, any positive or negative impacts, potential or 
otherwise, on groups with protected characteristics and any mitigation we 
propose to undertake to lessen anticipated negative impacts.  
 

203 Key impacts and mitigations are summarised below and Members are asked 
to note this equality analysis and that detailed in Appendix 9 when considering 
the savings proposed in this report.   

 
204 In many cases, savings proposals have no overall equality impact in terms of 

service delivery or staff. Where potential impacts are evident and the 
individual savings proposal is subject to further decision making outside of this 
report a full equality assessment is undertaken. 
 

205 These individual equality impact assessments reflect detailed information 
about the impact of the changes and include any relevant mitigating actions at 
the point of decision. Where further decision making is required to finalise how 
these proposals will be implemented the impact assessments will be updated. 
 

206 Proposals include potential service user impacts across all protected 
characteristics, but, most commonly around age, gender and disability 
characteristics.  In addition, staffing reviews have potential impacts across all 
protected characteristics. Fair treatment of staff will be ensured through 
agreed corporate HR procedures contained within the council’s Change 
Management Toolkit.   

 
207 Specific potential impacts of MTFP(8) saving proposals are summarised by 

service grouping below.  
 

(a) Adult and Health Services (AHS)  

Adults and Health Services have a range of proposed savings some of 
which reflect ongoing savings agreed in previous years.  Ongoing 
savings include the review of direct provision of in-house services, the 
consistent and effective use of existing eligibility criteria and increased 
charging income in respect of adult care provision. At this stage, 
changes to be made to the operating models for in-house services are 
not anticipated to affect the level of service provided. Those eligible for 
support will continue to receive that support subject to ongoing annual 
review and consistent application of eligibility criteria. 
 
New proposals include a mix of changes to service provision as well as 
staffing reviews.  Specifically, changes affecting new service users 
include bringing charging policies in line with the latest Department of 

Page 53



 

 

Health guidelines with adverse effects derive from increased care 
costs.  
 
A review of community-based services will reduce the use of short term 
support funding available to supplement Adult Social Care. At this 
stage the actual equality impact on these services is considered 
negligible as alternative funding has been secured. 

 
Service users affected by AHS proposals tend to be older and/or have 
a disability. In addition, a higher proportion of older service users are 
female and furthermore women are more likely to be affected in their 
role as primary carers.  
 
Other changes involve staffing reviews across a range of services.  
These reviews have potential impacts across all protected 
characteristics.  Fair treatment of staff will be ensured through agreed 
corporate HR procedures contained within the Change Management 
Toolkit; 

 
(b) Children and Young People Services (CYPS)   

 Savings proposals for Children and Young People’s Services largely 
reflect service and staffing reviews.  These include a review of 
Children’s Services which is likely to restructure how children’s social 
care and early help for families are delivered.  

 
Reviews of Education Services and business support / administration 
are also included.  These reviews have potential impacts across the 
protected characteristics including disability. Adapting the service 
delivery model for the sensory support team will align responsibilities 
with schools and funding arrangements for other children with SEND, 
supporting the capability of staff in all schools with reference to children 
with sensory impairment, and will continue to meet statutory duties 
under SEND legislation. Equality impact assessments will be further 
developed as savings proposals progress to implementation stages. 
 
The opening of a fifth residential unit at Aycliffe Secure Centre will 
generate income. Furthermore, this will also promote our commitment 
to equality as it will provide an additional service for vulnerable children 
and young people.  

 
(c) Regeneration and Local Services (ReaL)  

The proposals in ReaL Services have been developed with the 
intention of minimising front line impacts in all areas of the service 
grouping.   

 
The review in Culture and Sport will involve changes to development 
services in sport and the arts, with further operational reductions 
across the service.  The nature of service delivery in this area mainly 

Page 54



 

 

involves targeted interventions.  Whilst this saving may result in fewer 
new programmes being introduced, it is unlikely to affect existing users. 
There are potential impacts in terms of reduced access to targeted 
interventions for future users which are more likely to affect gender, 
and or age disability related characteristics.      

 
There is an increase in charging for garden waste with the option of a 
discounted multi-year deal to ease the impact. Furthermore, 
households are reminded that they can share garden waste bins with 
neighbours which will also cut costs and help mitigate impact.  There is 
also a small increase in charges for bulky waste collection. These 
proposals are likely to have a greater impact on older or disabled 
residents who may have limited means to access alternative ways of 
disposing of their garden or bulky waste. The proposal is mitigated, in-
part, by the introduction of a points system which means customers 
can mix smaller and larger items in a single collection which may make 
some collections cheaper, where the number of items is low.   

 
There are proposed reductions in the safer communities budget which 
currently provides low level intervention to tackle anti-social behaviour. 
At this stage it is not anticipated that these changes will have an 
equality impact. 

 
There are some areas relating to staffing savings with no expected 
service impact.  This includes proposed service reviews for planning, 
economic development and transport.  Equality impact assessments 
will be developed as savings proposals develop to implementation 
stage. 

 
(d) Resources  

Resources proposals involve staffing reviews, the majority of which do 
not affect the public-facing services.  There could be some minimal 
customer impact in term of the processing of benefit applications due to 
the re-structure and reductions in non-staffing budget for the financial 
support service (assessment, awards and payment, income and 
support). However, at this stage impact is thought to be minimal 
because proposals will seek to delete vacant posts and freeze new 
recruitment. In order to maintain performance there will be continuing 
challenge of systems and processes and maximisation of efficiencies 
through continued channel migration and automation of processes.  
 
Staffing reviews have potential impacts across all protected 
characteristics and relevant equality impact assessments will be 
developed as savings proposals develop to implementation stage. 
 

(e) Transformation and Partnerships (T&P)  

There is a single proposal for the Transformation and Partnerships 
service grouping to undertake a service and staffing review, the 

Page 55



 

 

majority of which will not affect the public-facing services.  Staffing 
reviews have potential impacts across all protected characteristics and 
relevant equality impact assessments will be developed as savings 
proposals develop to implementation stage.   

 
Cumulative Impacts 
 
208 Carrying out equality analysis on MTFP proposals helps us reflect on their 

cumulative impacts across the range of protected characteristics and to 
compare with previous years.  Throughout the last five years of austerity, the 
approach of the council has taken is to keep the impact of savings on front 
line services to a minimum and this has greatly reduced equalities impacts on 
those with a protected characteristic.  

 
209 For example, in previous years our successful transfer to local community 

groups of leisure centres and community facilities, the ongoing work on the 
Durham Ask and increases in income generated are all ways in which 
Durham County Council is reducing the equalities impacts of government 
budget cuts.  
 

210 Where service reductions have been unavoidable, impacts in relation to 
previous proposals generally related to loss of, or reduced access to, a 
particular service or venue, travel to alternative provision, increased costs or 
charges and service re-modelling including reductions in staff.  These 
changes had the potential to affect all protected characteristics however 
because it is more likely to affect those on low income, people without access 
to personal transport and those reliant on others for support there were 
particular potential impacts in relation to people with a disability, age and 
gender.   

 
211 Generally, previous changes to universal services such as street lighting or 

bin collection are less likely to have a disproportionate impact on any one 
specific group.  However, there are exceptions such as reductions in 
contracted public bus services, changes to libraries’ opening hours and 
changes to leisure centres.  Changes to dedicated services such as social 
care, day care and home to school transport may also  disproportionately 
impact  particular groups such as people with a disability, older people and 
women and those with a caring responsibility and we have taken steps to 
monitor the impact and mitigate where possible. Generally, these include 
ensuring service users can make informed choices or find alternatives where 
possible, implementing new or improved ways of working, working with 
partners and providing transitional, or more flexible, arrangements to reduce 
the initial impact. However, in some cases it is not possible to entirely mitigate 
against impact such as increases in charging.  
 

212 Proposed savings in the 2018/19 MTFP comprise a mix of savings intended 
to: 
 
(a) continue to realise saving already agreed; 

Page 56



 

 

(b) continue to reduce management and back office posts, accommodation 
costs, supplies and services and review our working arrangements to 
achieve efficiencies; 

(c) continue to find new ways of working and generating income including 
more effective commissioning of services, investing in changes that will 
reduce our future expenditure and focussing on priority service users.  

213 While many of the specific savings proposals are different from previous years 
the impacts on protected groups are broadly similar to previous MTFPs. Again 
similar to previous MTFP processes mitigating actions are being considered 
and planned where assessments have identified negative impacts on 
protected groups. Generally, these include ensuring service users can make 
informed choices or find alternatives where possible, implementing new or 
improved ways of working, working with partners and providing transitional, or 
more flexible, arrangements to reduce the initial impact.  
 

214 There are a number of MTFP(8) proposals relating to staffing reviews, the 
impacts of which are comparable to those reported in previous years. 
Services continue to be required to follow corporate HR procedures to ensure 
fair and consistent treatment, for example, by making reasonable adjustments 
employees with a disability.  
 

215 Furthermore, in many cases negative impacts for employees can be 
minimised by progressing requests for early retirement, voluntary redundancy 
and through redeployment.  There remains, however, potential impacts for 
staff relating to all protected characteristics.  In terms of age, employees over 
55 may feel greater pressure to take early retirement and younger staff may 
see their risk as greater as they may carry more significant financial burdens, 
such as mortgages or young families.  There are potential impacts for both 
men and women depending on the gender structure of the specific service 
under review.   
 

216 Overall, the staffing profile shows almost two thirds of staff employed across 
the Council are female so women are inevitably more likely to be affected by 
change.  There are some disabled staff and staff from black or ethnic minority 
backgrounds included in the reviews and restructures but the overall numbers 
of those affected are low which reflects the broader workforce profile data. 
Data on the religion or belief and sexual orientation of staff is collected 
through Resourcelink but the reporting rates are still very low so this 
information is not routinely included in equality impact assessments in order 
that people cannot be identified.  Transgender status is not currently 
monitored. 

 
Key Findings and Next Steps  
 
217 The equality impact of these savings proposals is an essential element that 

Members must consider in this decision making process.  This section has 
provided an update on the outcomes of the equality impact assessments of 

Page 57



 

 

the MTFP(8) proposals to date, and summarises the potential cumulative 
impact of the 2018/19 proposals.  
 

218 It is likely that the key equality impacts will relate to age, gender and disability, 
similar to previous years. Some savings proposals represent continuing 
savings from previous years, and the equalities impacts and mitigating actions 
are summarised earlier in the report and detailed in Appendix 9. Where further 
decision making was necessary these proposals have been supported by 
individual equality impact assessments.  
 

219 Other proposals are at an earlier stage.  As these proposals are further 
developed, services, with support from the corporate equalities team, will be 
asked to identify the level of equalities assessment required.   
 

220 There will be continued focus on equalities issues as we move into future 
years of this MTFP, with equality impacts revisited and reviewed each year as 
appropriate. In many cases impact assessments are initial screenings with a 
full impact assessment to follow at the point of decision, once all necessary 
stakeholder consultation has been completed.  Where proposals are subject 
to multi-stage decision making, or subject to consultation, the relevant impact 
assessments will be updated as further information becomes available.  Final 
equality impact assessments will also be considered in the final decision 
making process for savings where appropriate.          

 
Recommendations 
 
221 It is recommended that Members:  

 
(a) consider the equality impacts identified and mitigating actions 

both outlined in the report above and detailed in Appendix 9; 

(b) note the programme of future work to ensure full impact 
assessments are available where appropriate at the point of 
decision, once all necessary consultations have been completed; 

(c) note the ongoing work to assess cumulative impacts over the 
MTFP period which is regularly reported to Cabinet. 

Workforce Considerations 
 
222 MTFP(1) which covered the period from 2011 to 2015 originally forecast a 

reduction in posts of 1,950 against a savings target of £123.5 million.  Since 
MTFP(1) however, the savings target has increased significantly with the 
revised savings targets up to the end of 2021/22 being £252.7 million.  

 
223 Looking ahead, with the significant savings plans of £14.8 million in 2018/19 

there will be further reductions in workforce numbers.  For 2018/19 the 
forecast is a further reduction of approximately 155 posts including the 
deletion of an anticipated 57 vacant posts.  It is currently forecast that by the 

Page 58



 

 

end of 2018/19 the reduction in post numbers will be 2,921 of which 784 will 
have been via the deletion of vacant posts. 

 

224 Further detailed planning is underway to identify the forecasted numbers for 
future years and recognising the principles adopted to date in workforce 
reduction exercises within service groupings, the council will take all possible 
steps to avoid compulsory redundancies and minimise the impact upon the 
workforce in these next stages of change.  The continued approach of forward 
planning, retaining vacant posts in anticipation of any required change, 
seeking volunteers for early retirement and/or voluntary redundancy and 
maximising redeployment opportunities for the workforce will minimise 
wherever possible the necessity for compulsory redundancies in the process. 

 
225 In addition, the way that work is organised and jobs are designed will continue 

to be reviewed by service groupings. This will ensure that as changes 
continue to be made, the council maximises the capacity of the remaining 
workforce through skills development and the introduction of flexibility into the 
way work is organised, in order to maximise the capability of the remaining 
workforce. 
 

226 Consideration will also need to be given to the revised national grading 
structure included in the National Employers 2019/20 pay offer and its 
implementation within the council.  

 
Pay Policy  
 
227 The Localism Act 2011 requires the council to prepare and publish a pay 

policy statement annually which sets out the authority’s policy relating to the 
remuneration of its Chief Officers and how this compares with the policy on 
the remuneration of its lowest paid employees.   

 
228 The first policy document was approved by a resolution of the council prior to 

31 March 2012 and a policy must then be published by the end of March for 
each subsequent year, although the policy can be amended by a resolution of 
the council during the year. 

 
229 Additionally, the Act requires that in relation to Chief Officers the policy must 

set out the authority’s arrangements relating to: 
 
(a) the level and elements of remuneration for each Chief Officer; 

(b) remuneration of Chief Officers on recruitment; 

(c) increases and additions to remuneration for each Chief Officer; 

(d) the use of performance-related pay for Chief Officers; 

(e) the use of bonuses for Chief Officers; 

(f) the approach to the payment of Chief Officers on their ceasing to hold 
office under or to be employed by the authority; 

Page 59



 

 

(g) the publication of and access to information relating to remuneration of 
Chief Officers. 

230 The Pay Policy Statement at Appendix 10 is for council consideration and 
outlines the details for the authority for 2018/19, in line with the above 
requirements. 

 
Recommendations  

231 It is recommended that Members: 
 

(a) approve the Pay Policy Statement at Appendix 10. 

Risk Assessment  
 
232 The council has previously recognised that a wide range of financial risks 

need to be managed and mitigated across the medium term.  The risks faced 
are exacerbated by the council’s growing responsibility for business rates and 
council tax support.  All risks will be assessed continually throughout the 
MTFP(8) period.  Some of the key risks identified include: 

 
(a) ensuring the achievement of a balanced budget and financial position 

across the MTFP(8) period; 

(b) ensuring savings plans are risk assessed across a range of factors e.g. 
impact upon customers, stakeholders, partners and employees; 

(c) government funding reductions are based upon the Local Government 
Finance Settlement.  A four year finance settlement was previously 
secured and should provide certainty in relation to RSG reductions for 
2019/20.  There is still a risk however that a deterioration in the public 
finances could result in further savings targets for local government in 
excess of those agreed to date; 

(d) the outcome of the government’s Fair Funding review which is 
expected to be implemented in 2020/21. This review could result in 
significant increases or reductions in government funding support for 
the Council; 

(e) the localisation of council tax support which passed the risk for any 
increase in council tax benefit claimants onto the council.  Activity in 
this area will need to be monitored carefully with medium term 
projections developed in relation to estimated volume of claimant 
numbers;  

(f) the council retaining 49% of all business rates collected locally but also 
being responsible for settling all rating appeals including any liability 
prior to 31 March 2013.  Increasing business rate reliefs and appeals 
settlements continue to make this income stream highly volatile and will 
require close monitoring to fully understand the implications upon 
MTFP(8); 

Page 60



 

 

(g) the impact of future increases in inflationary factors such as the 
National Living Wage and pay awards which will need to be closely 
monitored;  

(h) the council continuing to experience increases in demand for social 
care services.  Although some allowance is made for demand  
increases across the MTFP(8) period this issue will need to be closely 
monitored; 

(i) the impact of Brexit, which could affect future government finance 
settlements, inflation and European funding. 

 
Recommendations 
 
233 It is recommended that Members: 

 
(a) note the risks to be managed over the MTFP(8) period. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and School Funding 2018/19 
 
234 DSG is a specific earmarked grant provided by the Government which 

provides the major source of funding for schools and the provision of support 
to them.   
 

235 From 2018/19 the DSG is split into four ‘blocks’: Schools, Central School 
Services, High Needs and Early Years. The schools block is ring-fenced but 
local authorities retain limited flexibility to transfer up to 0.5% of their schools 
block funding into another block, with the approval of the schools forum. 
Movements from the central school services block to the schools block or 
from the high needs block to any other block are not subject to any statutory 
limits, and can be made in consultation with the schools forum. Movement 
from the early years block can be made in compliance with the early years 
pass through rate conditions and in consultation with the schools forum.  

 
Schools Block 
 

236 The Schools Block funds the funding formula for mainstream primary and 
secondary schools in respect of the education of pupils from Reception to 
Year 11.  Funding for these schools is currently distributed according to a 
local formula determined by the council, after consultation with the Schools 
Forum and schools.    
 

237 The local formula must comply with statutory regulations and there are 
significant limitations over what factors can be applied in the local formula, 
which significantly limits the discretion of local authorities in determining their 
local formulas and currently requires that at least 80% of funding is distributed 
through factors related to pupil numbers and needs.  
 

238 The local formula set by the council applies to all mainstream schools – 
maintained and academy equally dependent on their pupil numbers and 
profiles. There is no difference in terms of DSG funding provision save for 

Page 61



 

 

academies receiving their funding allocations on an academic year, whereas 
maintained schools receive their DSG funding on a financial year basis.  
 

239 In September 2017, the government announced that local formulas will be 
replaced by a National Funding Formula (NFF), with effect from 2020-21. 
Subject to legislation to provide the necessary powers, from 2020/21 the 
government intends to determine funding to individual schools via the NFF. 
 

240 The government has encouraged local authorities to move their local formulas 
towards the NFF based allocations over the next two years and in 2018/19 
DSG allocations to local authorities’ Schools Blocks have been based on 
notional NFF allocations.   This has resulted in an estimated £4 million 
increase in the Schools Block allocation for Durham. 

 
241 In response to the planned replacement of local formulas, the council has 

considered its approach to setting a local formula for 2018-19 and 2019-20.   
In previous years changes to the formula have been relatively minor, to 
minimise turbulence in funding for schools from year-to-year.   After 
consideration of a number of options, and consultation with the Schools 
Forum members, all Schools (via the Schools Extranet) and with the Children 
and Young people’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet decided in 
December to adopt a transitional formula from 2018-19. The intention being to 
reduce the differences between the current local formula and the NFF over 
the next two years, so that schools do not experience a cliff-edge in respect of 
funding allocations when the NFF replaces local formula in 2020/21.  
 

242 The consultation in relation to the 2018-19 local formula used estimates of 
2018-19 funding and school data (pupil numbers and numbers of pupils 
eligible for additional funding).   The transitional formula has now been 
updated to take account of actual funding and actual school data, provided by 
the DfE, in mid-December. 
 

243 The draft formula to be applied in 2018/19, which is subject to approval from 
the DfE, is summarised in the table below: 
 
Table 26 – Mainstream Primary and Secondary Funding Formula 2018-19 
 

    
 Pupils / 
Eligible 
Pupils  

 Factor 
Values  

 Allocation  

       £   £    

Basic funding 
per pupil 

Primary 39,186.58  2,781.61  109,001,761  36.51%  

KS3 15,231.00  3,723.55  56,713,336  18.99%  

KS4 9,216.00  4,802.69  44,261,587  14.82%  

Deprivation 

Free School Meals 
(Primary) 

8,835.48  147.46  1,302,922  0.44%  

Free School Meals 
(Secondary) 

4,578.00  1,956.48  8,956,781  3.00%  

FSM6 (Primary) 12,348.52  180.98  2,234,828  0.75%  

FSM6 (Secondary) 8,198.09  263.09  2,156,839  0.72%  

Page 62



 

 

    
 Pupils / 
Eligible 
Pupils  

 Factor 
Values  

 Allocation  

       £   £    

IDACI Band F (Primary) 5,187.19  358.46  1,859,405  0.62%  

IDACI Band E (Primary) 5,670.50  436.63  2,475,905  0.83%  

IDACI Band D (Primary) 4,486.74  541.61  2,430,062  0.81%  

IDACI Band C (Primary) 3,087.98  616.43  1,903,514  0.64%  

IDACI Band B (Primary) 3,099.34  723.62  2,242,760  0.75%  

IDACI Band A (Primary) 2,172.80  1,164.15  2,529,457  0.85%  

IDACI Band F (Secondary) 3,055.53  349.73  1,068,600  0.36%  

IDACI Band E (Secondary) 3,488.07  439.36  1,532,517  0.51%  

IDACI Band D (Secondary) 2,723.82  537.37  1,463,706  0.49%  

IDACI Band C (Secondary) 1,811.99  608.57  1,102,725  0.37%  

IDACI Band B (Secondary) 1,811.67  706.16  1,279,321  0.43%  

IDACI Band A (Secondary) 1,231.68  1,113.25  1,371,172  0.46%  

English as an 
Additional 
Language 

Primary 732.82  172.60  126,484  0.04%  

Secondary 87.08  464.18  40,422  0.01%  

Low Prior 
Attainment 

Primary 10,049.00  691.58  6,949,720  2.33%  

 Secondary  4,566.22  756.43  3,454,012  1.16%  

Minimum per-
pupil funding 

      33,564  0.01%  

 Total for pupil-led factors      256,491,400  85.90%  

Lump sum 
 Primary  215.00  143,333.33  30,816,667  10.32%  

 Secondary  31.00  153,333.33  4,753,333  1.59%  

Sparsity 
 Primary    8,333.33  97,408  0.03%  

 Secondary    21,666.67  21,522  0.01%  

Total for school-led factors     35,688,930  11.95%  

Total for premises factors     6,401,415  2.14%  

Total funding     298,581,745  100.00%  

 

244 Pupil numbers and the numbers of pupils who attract additional needs funding 
are taken from the October 2017 schools census and are provided by the DfE. 

 

245 Further information relating to the factors included in the table above is 
outlined below: 
 
(a) Free School Meals provides funding based on the number of pupils 

recorded as eligible for a free meal in the preceding October’s school 
census; 

 
(b) FSM6 is a measure of deprivation and provides funding based on the 

number of pupils who have been recorded as eligible for Free School 
Meals on any schools census in the last six years; 

 
(c) IDACI (Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index) is a subset of the 

Index of Multiple Deprivation.   In accordance with statutory regulation 
there are seven bands in the formula, with Band A being for the pupils 

Page 63



 

 

most likely to suffer deprivation and Band G being the lowest band.   
Regulations do not allow funding for Band G;   

 
(d) Minimum per pupil funding provides additional funding where the total 

of pupil-led funding plus the lump sum and sparsity funding falls below 
a minimum value, which has been set at £3,300 for primary schools 
and £4,600 for secondary schools, based on interim values used in the 
NFF; 

 
(e) Sparsity funding is provided for small schools in sparsely populated 

areas.   In Durham this only assists schools in the Dales; 
 

(f) Premises-led factors provide funding for rates, split-site schools, the 
PFI contract affordability gap, and an exceptional factor for a school 
that shares it sports facilities with a leisure centre. 

 
246 The use of a transitional formula means that the council has the option to 

reconsider the formula in 2019-20, to take account of any changes in 
government policy in respect of the NFF or the timetable. 

 

Central School Services Block (CSSB) 
 

247 The CSSB has been newly created for 2018/19 to fund local authorities for the 
statutory duties that they hold for both maintained schools and academies. 
The CSSB brings together: 
 
(a) funding previously allocated through the retained duties element of the 

Education Services Grant (ESG); 
 
(b) funding for ongoing central functions, such as admissions, previously 

top-sliced from the schools block; 
 
(c) residual funding for historic commitments, previously top-sliced from 

the schools block. 

High Needs Block (HNB) 
 

248 The High Needs Block provides funding for pupils with high cost Special 
Educational Needs (SEN), i.e. those pupils requiring provision in specialist 
settings costing more than £10,000 per year or those pupils in mainstream 
primary and secondary schools whose provision costs more than £6,000 per 
year.   The SEN provision that is funded from the High Needs Block is as 
follows: 

 
(a) specialist placements in out-of-County settings;  

 
(b) place based funding for special schools;  

 
(c) top-up funding to reflect additional costs for individual pupil support in 

both special and mainstream schools;  
 

Page 64



 

 

(d) SEN support services. 
 

249 Allocations for 2018-19 are based on a new High Needs National Funding 
Formula, which has replaced the old system based on local authority historical 
spend.   The new allocation is £1.14 million more than the allocation in 
2017-18. 

 

Early Years 
 

250 The Early Years Block provides funding for universal provision for 3 and 4 
year old children (up to a 570 hours per annum) and extended provision for 3 
and 4 year children from eligible working families (up to a further 570 hours 
per annum). The services are delivered by maintained nursery schools, 
nursery units in primary schools and academies, and Private, Voluntary and 
Independent (PVI) sector providers.   

 

251 A provisional allocation has been provided by the Department for Education 
(DfE), based on the 2017/18 allocation at this stage.  The actual 2018/19 
allocation will not be announced until the summer, based on the number of 
eligible children recorded in the January 2018 pupil census.  

 

252 Funding is also provided through the Early Years Block to provide free early 
education places for eligible 2 year-olds from lower income households. The 
allocation is based on participation and a provisional allocation has been 
provided by the DfE based on census data taken in January 2017. The DfE 
will not announce the actual 2018/19 allocations until July 2018, which will be 
based on the number of eligible children participating in early education 
recorded in the January 2018 census.  

 
253 Early Years Pupil Premium is also funded through the Early Years Block and 

a provisional allocation has been provided by the DfE, again based on the 
2016/17 allocations.  As with the other elements of the Early Years funding, 
the 2018/19 final allocation will not be announced until the summer, based on 
the number of eligible children recorded in the January 2018 pupil 
census.  The funding rate of £0.53 per hour in 2017/18 continues into 
2018/19, which equates to £302.10 for each eligible child taking up the full 
570 hours of state funded early education.  

 
254 As part of the Early Years National Funding Formula, the Council is required 

to implement a universal base rate for all providers. This is of concern to 
maintained nursery schools, which have higher costs than other providers, 
(e.g. the cost of employing a head teacher) and which currently receive 
additional funding through a formula; the formula includes a deprivation 
element, a lump sum and an allowance for rates. The DfE have recognised 
that maintained nursery schools provide a high quality provision, often in 
deprived areas and has allocated supplementary funding in addition to 
National Funding Formula to ensure that authorities can continue to provide 
funding to these schools through a formula in 2018/19. 

 
 
 

Page 65



 

 

Pupil Premium  
 

255 Pupil premium for pupils older than early years, is provided for a number of 
categories of need.   For schools and academies in Durham the funding for 
2017/18 is £26.202 million. Pupil Premium rates for 2017/18 and 2018/19 are 
shown in the following table: 

 
Table 27 – Pupil Premium Rates 
 

 £ / eligible pupil 

 17/18 18/19 Increase 

Deprivation Pupil Premium – Primary £1,320 £1,320 -    

Deprivation Pupil Premium – Secondary £935 £935 -    

Looked After Children £1,900 £2,300 £400 

Children adopted from care or who have 
left care 

£1,900 £2,300 £400 

Service Children £300 £300 -    

 
256 The numbers of pupils eligible for pupil premium for 2018/19 will be provided 

by the DfE in the summer term this year. 
 

257 DSG and Pupil Premium funding for 2018/19 is shown in the following table:  
 

Table 28 – DSG and Pupil Premium Funding 
 

DSG Block Pupils Allocation 

  £m 

Early Years Block (3-4 yr olds-universal) 7,341 18.035 

Early Years Block (3-4 yr olds-working parents) 2,660 6.535 

Early Years Block (2 yr olds) 1,839 5.450 

Early Years Block (EYPP)  0.379 

Early Years Block (Maintained Nursery School 
supplement) 

 1.274 

Early Years Block (Disability Access Fund)  0.133 

Schools Block  298.582 

High Needs Block  45.710 

Central School Services Block  2.828 

Total DSG  378.926 

Pupil Premium (2017-18 figure)  26.202 

TOTAL  405.128 

 

258 Primary and secondary formula funding for academies in County Durham is 
estimated to be £88.024 million, based on the local formula allocations. This 
funding is recouped by the Education Funding Agency and allocated directly 
to the individual schools, leaving £317.104 million of DSG funding payable to 
the council for maintained schools. 

Page 66



 

 

 

Recommendation 
 

259 It is recommended that Members: 
 

(a) note the position on the Dedicated Schools Grant; 
 

(b) approve the updated formula set out in Table 26 above, which is 
in line with the position agreed by Cabinet in December 2017, and 
authorise the Corporate Director of Resources to approve any 
amendments required following review by the DfE. 

 

 

Discretionary Rate Relief – Review of Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 
 
260 On 8 March 2017, as part of the Spring Budget, the Chancellor of the 

Exchequer announced a range of measures to reduce Business Rates 
liabilities following the national revaluation applicable from April 2017, 
summarised as follows: 

 
(a) £435 million of support for businesses facing significant increases in 

their bills, including:  

(i) support for small businesses losing Small Business Rate Relief 
(SBRR) as a result of the revaluation, where increases would be 
limited to the greater of £600 or the real terms transitional relief 
cap for small businesses each year;   

(ii) providing local authorities with funding to support £300 million of 
discretionary relief, to allow them to provide support to individual 
hard cases in their local area; 

(iii) the gross funding made available to County Durham to fund the 
new discretionary relief scheme is 2017/18 is £663,000 reducing 
to  £332,00 in 2019/19; £133,000 in 2019/20 and £19,000 in 
2020/21; 

(iv) the local policy was approved by the Council in July 2017. 

(b) The government also introduced a £1,000 business rate discount for 
public houses with a rateable value of up to £100,000, subject to state 
aid limits for businesses with multiple properties, for one year from 1 
April 2017.  

261 In making these announcements, the government stated that local authorities 
would be fully compensated, by way of s31 grant, for the loss of income 
because of these measures, with specific grant funding supplied to fund the 
Local Discretionary Relief scheme. No new legislation was required to deliver 
the schemes as these were to be applied under the Discretionary Rate Relief 
policies adopted by individual authorities.   

Page 67



 

 

262 The council’s Discretionary Rate Relief Policy was updated to reflect the 
Spring Budget announcements and approved by Cabinet in July 2017.  

263 With regards to the Local Discretionary Relief Scheme, to be eligible for this 
new relief, businesses needed to meet the following criteria: 

(a) Have a rateable value of less than £200,000 (i.e. is classed as a small 
or medium sized businesses); 
 

(b) Have had an increase in rateable value following the 2017 revaluation; 
 
(c) The ratepayer has a continuing liability i.e. was liable for business rates 

on 31/03/17  and continues to remain liable for business rates (to 
ensure the support is targeted to those small and medium sized 
businesses adversely impacted by the business rates revaluation);  

 
(d) As a result of the above the rate payer has seen a net increase of over 

£600 in their rates bill in 2017/18. 
 

264 Cabinet previously agreed that properties that continue to meet the above 
criteria would receive the following discounts: 

(a) 2017/18  -  50% of the increase above £600; 
 

(b) 2018/19  -  25% of the increase above £600; 
 

(c) 2019/20  -  10% of the increase above £600; 
 

(d) 2021/22  -   2% of the increase above £600. 
 

265 Due to the dynamics of the rating list, i.e. changes in rateable values due to 
alterations and appeals, ratepayers vacating premises etc. Cabinet gave 
delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance, to vary the percentage relief 
awarded so that the total amount of government grant received by Durham 
County Council was fully awarded to support local businesses. 

266 The total amount awarded under the Local Discretionary Relief scheme 
agreed by Cabinet in July totalled £538,152 at 30 November 2017, which was 
£124,848 below the grant available in 2017/18.  All businesses meeting the 
Council’s eligibility criteria had been awarded a 50% discount above £600. 

267 To ensure that the full amount of grant funding made available each year for 
the Local Discretionary Relief scheme is awarded to businesses in the county, 
the amount of discount that can be awarded in each year has been 
reassessed and revised as follows:  

(a) 2017/18  -  60% of the increase above £600; 
 

(b) 2018/19  -  27% of the increase above £600; 
 

Page 68



 

 

(c) 2019/20  -   15% of the increase above £600; 
 

(d) 2020/21  -    5% of the increase above £600. 
 
268 The Local Discretionary Relief scheme will continue to be monitored and 

reviewed, with increases to the awards to small businesses retrospectively 
applied should we need to in order to maximise spend against available grant 
in year. 

 
269 In the Autumn Budget 2017 the Chancellor announced that the £1,000 

discount for public houses would be extended by a further year into 2018/19.  
The existing guidance and terms for the current scheme will continue to apply 
in the same way as in 2017/18 – eligible pubs with a rateable value of below 
£100,000 will receive a £1,000 discount on their bill.   

 

270 The council’s Discretionary Rates Relief Policy has been updated to reflect 
the changes to the Local Discretionary Relief scheme awards identified above 
and to extend the eligibility for the £1,000 discount for public houses for a 
further year and is attached at Appendix 11. 

271 The updated Policy also removes references to the New Build Empty Property 
Relief and Transitional Relief (2015) schemes as these have now ceased 
following the revaluation in April 2017 and the expiry of the six month window 
for backdated claims under these schemes. Both these schemes operated 
during the two year extension to the revaluation that was initially due in April 
2015. 

Recommendations  
 
272 It is recommended that Members: 
 

(a) approve the updated Discretionary Rates Relief and Business 
Rates Hardship Relief Policy attached at Appendix 11; 

 
(b) note that the Local Discretionary Relief scheme will continue to be 

monitored and reviewed, with delegated approval given to the 
Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, to vary the percentage awards to small 
businesses retrospectively should we need to in order to 
maximise spend against the available grant in year and to vary the 
rates applied to new applications should the need arise.  

 
Prudential Code 
 
273 This section outlines the council’s prudential indicators for 2018/19 to 2021/22 

and sets out the expected treasury operations for this period.  It fulfils four key 
legislative requirements: 
 

Page 69



 

 

(a) The reporting of the prudential indicators, setting out the expected 
capital activities as required by the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities as shown at Appendix 12; 

 
(b) The council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy, which sets 

out how the council will pay for capital assets through revenue each 
year (as required by Regulation under the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007) as shown at Appendix 12; 

 
(c) The Treasury Management Strategy statement which sets out how the 

council’s treasury service will support the capital decisions taken 
above, the day to day treasury management and the limitations on 
activity through treasury prudential indicators.  The key indicator is the 
‘Authorised Limit’, the maximum amount of debt the council could 
afford in the short term, but which would not be sustainable in the 
longer term.  This is the Affordable Borrowing Limit required by section 
3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  This is in accordance with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code and shown at Appendix 12; 

 
(d) The investment strategy which sets out the council’s criteria for 

choosing investment counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of 
loss.  This strategy is in accordance with the CLG Investment 
Guidance and is also shown in Appendix 12. 

 
274 The above policies and parameters provide an approved framework within 

which the officers undertake the day to day capital and treasury activities. 
 

Recommendations 
 
275 It is recommended that Members:  

 
(a) agree the Prudential Indications and Limits for 2018/19 – 2021/22 

contained within the Appendix 12 of the report, including the 
Authorised Limit Prudential Indicator; 

 
(b) agree the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement 

contained within Appendix 12 which sets out the council’s policy 
on MRP; 

 
(c) agree the Treasury Management Strategy and the treasury 

Prudential Indicators contained within Appendix 12; 
 

(d) agree the Investment Strategy 2018/19 contained in the Treasury 
Management Strategy (Appendix 12 including the detailed 
criteria). 

Summary of Recommendations 

276 Detailed below is a summary of the recommendations Cabinet wish to 
recommend to full council for approval: 

Page 70



 

 

 
(a)  2018/19 Revenue Budget 

 
(i) approve the identified base budget pressures included in 

paragraph 115; 
 

(ii) approve the investments detailed in the report; 
 

(iii) approve the 2018/19 savings plans detailed in Appendix 3; 
 

(iv) approve a 2.99% 2018/19 council tax increase and a further 2% 
increase which relates to the Adult Social Care precept, totalling 
4.99%; 

 
(v) approve the 2018/19 Net Budget Requirement of               

£395.278 million. 
 
(b) MTFP(8) 

 
(i) agree the forecast 2018/19 to 2021/22 MTFP(8) financial position; 

 
(ii) set aside sufficient sums in Earmarked Reserves as is considered 

prudent.  The Corporate Director of Resources should continue to 
be authorised to establish such reserves as required to review 
them for both adequacy and purpose on a regular basis reporting 
appropriately to the Cabinet Portfolio Member for Finance and to 
Cabinet; 

 
(iii) aim to maintain General Reserve in the medium term between 5% 

and 7.5% of the Net Budget Requirement which in cash terms is 
up to £30 million. 

 
(c) Capital Budget 

 
(i) approve the revised 2017/18 capital budget of £111.383 million; 
 
(ii) approve the additional capital schemes detailed at Appendix 

8.  These schemes will be financed from additional capital grants, 
from capital receipts and from prudential borrowing; 

 
(iii) note the option for the council to utilise capital receipts to finance 

severance costs utilising the new flexibilities in this regard.  The 
utilisation of such flexibility will require the approval of Cabinet;  

 
(iv) approve the MTFP(8) Capital Budget of £360.799 million for 

2017/18 to 2021/22 detailed in Table 25. 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 

 

(d) Savings Proposals 
 

(i)  note the approach taken by service groupings to achieve the 
required savings.  

 
(e)  Equality Impact Assessment 

 

(i) consider the equality impacts identified and mitigating actions 
  both outlined in the report above and detailed in Appendix 9; 

(ii) note the programme of future work to ensure full impact  
  assessments are available where appropriate at the point of  
  decision, once all necessary consultations have been   
  completed; 

(iii) note the ongoing work to assess cumulative impacts over the 
  MTFP period which is regularly reported to Cabinet. 

(f) Pay Policy and Terms and Conditions Changes  
 

(i) approve the Pay Policy Statement at Appendix 10. 

(g) Risk Assessment 
 

(i) note the risks to be managed over the MTFP(8) period. 

(h)  Dedicated Schools Grant 
 

(i) note the position of the Dedicated Schools Grant; 

(ii) approve the updated formula set out in Table 26, which is in line 
with the position agreed by Cabinet in December 2017, and 
authorise the Corporate Director of Resources to approve any 
amendments required following review by the DfE. 

 
(i) Discretionary Rate Relief 
 

(i) note the changes to the council’s Discretionary Rate Relief Policy, 
as set out in the report, and agree the revised policy as attached 
at Appendix 11; 

(ii) note that the Local Discretionary Relief scheme will continue to be 
monitored and reviewed, with delegated approval given to the 
Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, to vary the percentage awards to small 
businesses retrospectively should we need to in order to 
maximise spend against the available grant in year and to vary 
the rates applied to new applications should the need arise.  

 
 
 

Page 72



 

 

(j)  Prudential Code 
 

(i) agree the Prudential Indications and Limits for 2018/19 – 2021/22 
contained within the Appendix 12 of the report, including the 
Authorised Limit Prudential Indicator; 

 
(ii) agree the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement 

contained within Appendix 12 which sets out the council’s policy 
on MRP; 

 
(iii) agree the Treasury Management Strategy and the treasury 

Prudential Indicators contained within Appendix 12; 
 

(iv) agree the Investment Strategy 2018/19 contained in the Treasury 
Management Strategy (Appendix 12 including the detailed 
criteria). 

Background Documents  
 

 Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended) - Section 47  

 Localism Act 2011 (as amended) - Section 69  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact:          Jeff Garfoot               Tel:      03000 261946 
                        Gordon Elliott            Tel:      03000 263604 
                        Jenny Haworth          Tel:      03000 268014 

Page 73



 

 

 

Appendix 1 - Implications 

 
Finance – The report sets out recommendations on the 2018/19 Budget and for the 
MTFP(8) period 2018/19 – 2021/22. The revisions to the Discretionary Rate Relief 
and Hardship Relief Policies relate to announcements made in the March and 
November 2017 budget statements.  
 
The government stated that local authorities would be fully compensated, by way of 
s31 grant, for the loss of income because of these measures, which were announced 
after budgets had been set for 2017/18.   
 
The gross funding made available to County Durham to fund the Local Discretionary 
Relief scheme in 2017/18 is £663,000, reducing to £332,000 in 2018/19; £133,000 in 
2019/20; and £19,000 in 2020/21. Any unspent grant must be returned to the 
government and cannot be carried over to the following year.  
 
The council initially awarded 50% relief over £600 of those who were eligible under 
the policy criteria established by Cabinet in July 2017. Following a review of the 
scheme the amount awarded in 2017/18 was increased to 60% relief over £600.  
 
Staffing – The impact of the MTFP upon staffing is detailed within the report.  
In terms of the changes to Business Rates Discretionary and Hardship Relief 
Policies, there are no additional staffing implications associated with this report. 
Processing applications under this policy is managed from within existing resources 
within the Assessments and Awards Team within Finance and Transactional 
Services, Resources 
 
Risk – A robust approach to Risk Assessment across the MTFP process has been 
followed including individual risk assessment of savings plans.  
 
In terms of the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy, given the scope and nature of the 
organisations supported through this policy any changes which would reduce 
entitlement would have reputational risks to the Council and financial risks to the 
individual organisations.  
 
The proposals set out in this report seek to extend and enhance current 
arrangements in line with Government policy. The amendments made to the 
Discretionary Rate Relief and Hardship Relief Policy ensures that the Council’s 
Policy is in line with legislative requirements and announcements made in the March 
and November 2017 Budget statements.  
 
The financial implications arising from the application of the Policy will continue to be 
carefully monitored and reviewed, with increases to the awards to small businesses 
retrospectively applied should we need to in order to maximise spend against the 
available grant in year. This risk is considered manageable within the existing 
projections, but will need careful monitoring going forward. 
 
 
 

Page 74



 

 

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty - Under section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010 all public authorities must, in the exercise of their functions, “have 
due regard to the need to” eliminate conduct that is prohibited by the Act. Such 
conduct includes discrimination, harassment and victimisation related to protected 
characteristics but also requires public authorities  to have due regard to the need to 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between persons who 
share a “relevant protected characteristic” and persons who do not. This means 
consideration of equality analysis and impacts is an essential element that Members 
must take into account when considering these savings proposals. 
 
Accommodation – The council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan is aligned to 
the corporate priorities contained within the Council Plan.  Financing for capital 
investment priorities is reflected in the MTFP Model. 
 
Crime and Disorder – It is recognised that the changes proposed in this report 
could have a negative impact on crime and disorder in the county.  However, the 
Council will continue to work with the Police and others through the safe Durham 
Partnership on strategic crime and disorder and to identify local problems and target 
resources to them. 
 
Human Rights – Any human rights issues will be considered for each of the 
proposals as they are developed and decisions made to take these forward.  There 
are no human right implications from the information within the report. 
 
Consultation – Full information on the MTFP(8) consultation process are contained 
in the report.  The Grant Determinations published on the new Local Discretionary 
Relief scheme stated there was a requirement to consult with the major precepting 
authorities (Police and Fire) and the Combined Authority on the Councils proposed 
scheme. 
 
This was undertaken in June 2017, with the Police and the Fire and Rescue Services 
both supportive of the council’s scheme. The scheme was also shared with the North 
East Combined Authority (NECA). 
 
Procurement – Wherever possible procurement savings are reflected in service 
groupings’ savings plans. 
 
Disability Issues – All disability related analysis is summarised in the equality 
impact assessment section of this report and detailed in the accompanying individual   
Equality Impact Assessments.  
 
The council’s Disability Partnership was invited to take part in this consultation and 
targeted work was undertaken with people with learning disabilities.    
 
Legal Implications – The council has a statutory responsibility to set a balanced 
budget for 2018/19.  It also has a fiduciary duty not to waste public resources. 
Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and subsequent amending 
legislation provides the provisions and criteria for awarding discretionary rate relief. 
The Localism Act 2011 amended Section 47 Clause 69, of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 to allow local authorities to reduce the business rates of any local 

Page 75



 

 

ratepayer (not just those who can currently be granted discretionary relief), via a 
local discount scheme.   
 
Statutory guidance states that any discretionary rate relief or local discount scheme 
must be in the interests of the wider council taxpayer. 
 
The proposals set out in this report seek to ensure that the council’s policy is in line 
with legislative requirements. Any changes to the Discretionary Rate Relief and 
Hardship Relief Policies need to be approved by Cabinet. 
 

Page 76



APPENDIX 2

REVENUE GRANTS

2018/19

SPECIFIC GRANT 2017/18 2018/19 Variance
£m £m £m

Public Health 49.983 48.698 -1.285
Better Care Fund 40.398

Inproved Better Care Fund 15.490
Housing Benefit Administration 2.267 2.005 -0.262

LCTRS Administation 0.964 0.933 -0.031
Education Services Grant 1.500 0.000 -1.500

School Improvement Grant 0.427
Local Lead Flood 0.020 0.020 0.000

Extended Free Rights to Transport 0.971 0.917 -0.054
Local Reform and Community 0.391

Prisons Social Care - New Burden 0.377
War Pensions Scheme Disregard 0.297

LCTRS New Burdens 0.245
Inshore Fisheries 0.014

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 – MTFP (8) SAVINGS 
 

MTFP 
REF 

Savings Proposal Description 
2018/19 
MTFP 

Savings 

2019/20 MTFP 
Savings 

2020/21 MTFP 
Savings 

Total 

AHS 
1.1 

Review direct provision of 
remaining in-house 
services 

Relates to phased savings arising from 
outsourcing of reablement and supported living 
and restructuring of Extra Care. Clients / 
service users who are eligible will continue to 
receive services (previously agreed by Cabinet 
September 2016). 

2,270,548 1,098,810 477,190 3,846,548 

AHS 
2.1 

Continuation of consistent 
and effective use of 
existing criteria 

Continuation of effective use of eligibility 
criteria for adults. 

400,000 0 0 400,000 

AHS 
3.1 

Review of Adult Social 
Care Charging 

Phased savings arising from changes to ASC 
charging policy in respect of Disability Related 
Expenditure disregards in new cases only 
(previously agreed by Cabinet March 2017) 

333,000 167,000 0 500,000 

AHS 
3.2 

Review of Adult Social 
Care Charging 

Phased savings from changes to ASC 
charging policy in respect of the Minimum 
Income Guarantee thresholds in new cases 
only. 

266,667 266,667 266,666 800,000 

AHS 
4.1 

Adult Commissioning 
Efficiencies 

A restructure of the support and other services 
retained within AHS that have not yet been 
unitised. 

318,231 0 0 318,231 

AHS 
4.4 

 
Review of Adult Social 
Work Function 
 

Management Review  50,839 103,863 0 154,702 

AHS 
4.5 

Review of non frontline 
activity in Public Health 
 

Reduction in transport costs. 15,615 0 0 15,615 

P
age 79



MTFP 
REF 

Savings Proposal Description 
2018/19 
MTFP 

Savings 

2019/20 MTFP 
Savings 

2020/21 MTFP 
Savings 

Total 

AHS 
4.6 

Environment, Health and 
Consumer Protection – 
Service Review 

Restructure and re-prioritisation of service 
delivery within Environment, Health and 
Consumer Protection. 

209,000 0 0 209,000 

AHS 
5.1 

Review of community 
based services 

To be achieved through the non-recurrent 
budget / capacity within the current BCF 
budget plan. 

1,780,119 0 0 1,780,119 

Total - Adults & Health Services 5,644,019 1,636,340 743,857 8,024,215 

CYPS 
1.2 

Opening 5th Unit at 
Aycliffe Secure Services 

Expansion of traded service. 878,000 0 0 878,000 

CYPS 
2 

Review home to school / 
college transport policies 

This saving is a continuation of savings arising 
from policy changes previously agreed by 
Cabinet in relation to safe walking routes, Year 
10/11 exam movers, post 16 independent / 
SEN travel arrangements  etc. 

24,000 0 0 24,000 

CYPS 
3.1 

Children's Services – 
Service Review 

A staffing restructure and the development of a 
new partnership arrangement for universal and 
Early Help Service focused on tackling child 
poverty delivered in localities through 0-19 
Family Hubs. 

1,500,000 0 0 1,500,000 

CYPS 
3.2 

Education -  Service 
Review 

Restructure of Education Services across all 
teams, together with non staffing budget 
reductions and increased income generation. 

891,357 30,000 0 921,357 

CYPS 
3.2a 

Review of Service 
Delivery Model – Sensory 
Services 

Relates to Modifications to the Service Delivery 
Model of the Sensory Services (Hearing 
Impaired / Visual Impaired). 

112,589 0 0 112,589 

P
age 80



MTFP 
REF 

Savings Proposal Description 
2018/19 
MTFP 

Savings 

2019/20 MTFP 
Savings 

2020/21 MTFP 
Savings 

Total 

CYPS 
3.5 

CYPS Operational 
Support – Service Review 

Staffing and non-staffing costs e.g. supplies, 
stationery, training. 

154,730 154,731 0 309,461 

CYPS 
11 

Repayment of CYPS 
Cash Limit in 2017/18 

Repayment of CYPS Cash Limit in 2017/18 to 
delay restructuring savings.  

-819,000 0 0 -819,000 

Total - Children & Young People's Services 2,741,676 184,731 0 2,926,407 

REAL 
01.20 

Review of Culture & Sport  

This proposal will see a general scaling down 
and re-structuring of a range of development 
services in both sport and the arts together 
with further operational reductions across the 
service. 

275,000 180,000 0 455,000 

REAL 
3.91 

Review of Fleet Service 

A more streamlined service allowing 
workshops to operate extended hours 
minimising loss of productivity for service users 
as vehicles can be maintained outside normal 
operating hours. 

360,000 0 0 360,000 

REAL 
3.92 

Review of Building and 
Facilities Maintenance 

Reductions across a range of service areas in 
Building and Facilities Maintenance, R&M 
Budgets and in out of hours services. 

259,722 185,278 0 445,000 

REAL 
4.06 

Savings in Clean and 
Green 

Low impact savings including a restructure 
within management, and savings from the in-
housing of weed control.  Also reductions in 
general maintenance and weekend working 
where impact can be minimised. 

452,616 0 0 452,616 

REAL 
5.20 

Increased income within 
Refuse and Recycling 

A range of measures to increase income, 
including increased trade / bulky waste 
charges and the introduction of charges on 
developers. 

398,000 0 0 398,000 

P
age 81



MTFP 
REF 

Savings Proposal Description 
2018/19 
MTFP 

Savings 

2019/20 MTFP 
Savings 

2020/21 MTFP 
Savings 

Total 

REAL 
6.06 

Review of garden waste 
charges 

Savings proposal includes a £5 annual 
increase on garden waste charging each year 
in 2018/19 and 2019/20 (to £30 and then £35 - 
three year discounted offer to be made 
available). 

310,000 259,000 0 569,000 

REAL 
6.07 

Review of Strategic 
Waste 

A restructure within Strategic Waste plus a 
range of non-staffing efficiencies. 

183,444 0 0 183,444 

REAL 
11.21 

Realignment of Winter 
Maintenance Budget with 
support from the Winter 
Maintenance Reserve 

Current coverage of the network can be 
accommodated with any additional costs from 
a severe winter funded from the Winter 
Maintenance Reserve. 

586,000 0  0 586,000 

REAL 
11.23 

Capitalisation of 
Condition Surveys 

Alternative funding arrangements are proposed 
which will enable savings to be made. 

486,000 0 0 486,000 

REAL 
20.1 

Overachievement of 
17/18 Savings 

Over programming of staffing reductions 
across former RED activities taken in 2017/18 
and removed from budget 2018/19. 

216,804 0 0 216,804 

REAL 
20.2 

Reductions in Supplies & 
Services 

Reductions in Supplies and Services in former 
RED areas. 

144,155 0 0 144,155 

REAL 
20.3 

Review of Planning Restructures within planning teams. 152,615 0 0 152,615 

REAL 
20.4 

Increased Income 
Generation 

Increased income generation within Chapter 
Homes, Visit County Durham, Business 
Durham and International Relations. 

99,000 0 0 99,000 

P
age 82



MTFP 
REF 

Savings Proposal Description 
2018/19 
MTFP 

Savings 

2019/20 MTFP 
Savings 

2020/21 MTFP 
Savings 

Total 

REAL 
20.5 

Review of Economic 
Development 

Savings from restructuring, and supplies and 
services savings in Economic Development 
and Visit County Durham. 

148,590 0 0 148,590 

REAL 
20.6 

Review of Transport 
Restructure of Strategic Traffic & Sustainable 
Transport. 

57,983 0 0 57,983 

REAL 
20.7 

Review of Strategy and 
Programmes 

Restructure of Strategy and Programmes. 61,000 0 0 61,000 

REAL 
24.09 

Savings due to Capital 
Investment within Leisure 

Savings associated with One Life Contract 
following capital investment already negotiated 
for 2018/19. 

300,000 0 0 300,000 

REAL 
24.10 

Review of Culture  
Provision 

Non staffing savings with regards to library 
service.  

50,000 0 0 50,000 

REAL 
35.02a 

Management and Non-
Staffing Efficiencies in  
Neighbourhood 
Protection 

Savings proposals include a restructure of 
management & support, plus reductions in 
horse impounding, and safer communities 
budgets and increased income from burial 
charges, pest control, fixed penalty notices, 
and from Durham Crematorium Service. 

365,000 0 0 365,000 

Total - Regeneration & Local Services 4,905,929 624,278 0 5,530,207 

RES07 
Restructure in HR Health 
and Safety and 
Occupational Health 

Restructure in Health and Safety and 
Occupational Health. 

54,000 0 128,123 182,123 

RES13 
Restructure of Legal & 
Democratic Services 

A restructure of Legal & Democratic Services. 40,000 0 153,469 193,469 

RES15 
Corporate Finance / 
Financial Services - 
Finance and Procurement 

A further restructure of accountancy and 
procurement functions. 

102,561 0   102,561 

P
age 83



MTFP 
REF 

Savings Proposal Description 
2018/19 
MTFP 

Savings 

2019/20 MTFP 
Savings 

2020/21 MTFP 
Savings 

Total 

RES16 
Review of Digital & 
Customer Services  

Review of Digital & Customer Services 
structures and service delivery arrangements, 
including a further review of ICT systems / 
licensing / non-staffing budgets. 

47,000 0  357,094 404,094 

RES19 

Financial Support Service 
(Assessment & Awards 
and Payment, Income 
and Support) 

Further restructure and reductions in non-
staffing budgets. 

276,290 0 0 276,290 

RES21 
Internal Audit and Risk 
Staffing rationalisation 

Restructure of Internal Audit, Corporate Fraud 
and Risk / Insurance functions. 

56,889 0 0 56,889 

 Total - Resources 576,740 0 638,686 1,215,426 

TAP 
22 

Service Review 

Service restructure - savings target linked to 
the former ACE budgets and targets 
transferred to TAP following the unitisation of 
Policy, Performance and Communications. 

484,325 0 0 484,325 

 Total - Transformation & Partnerships 484,325 0 0 484,325 

COR 
26 

External Audit Fees Reprocurement of the External Audit contract. 50,000 0 0 50,000 

COR 
32 

Insurance Premiums 
A recent procurement exercise has resulted in 
reduced insurance premium costs. 

100,000 0 0 100,000 

COR 
34 

Corporate Subscriptions 
Saving from the Council no longer paying to 
subscribe to ANEC. 

100,000 0 0 100,000 

COR 
35 

Commercial Activity Additional investment income. 200,000 0 0 200,000 

Total - Corporate Savings 450,000 0 0 450,000 

Total Savings - MTFP(8) 14,802,689 2,445,349 1,382,543 18,630,581 

 
 

P
age 84



Appendix 4
Budget Summary - By Service Grouping

2017/18 2017/18
Original Projected Gross Gross Net
Budget Outturn Expenditure Income Expenditure

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Council Controlled Budgets

151,581 129,714 Adult and Health Services 345,068 214,246 130,822
97,897 109,386 Children and Young People's Services 171,383 64,820 106,563

126,024 128,739 Regeneration and Local Services 297,304 170,420 126,884
16,628 18,537 Resources 71,881 56,246 15,635

8,716 12,063 Transformation and Partnerships 16,355 4,431 11,924
3,990 3,824 Corporate Costs 4,008 164 3,844
5,422 4,701 Contingencies 3,724 0 3,755

410,258 406,964 909,723 510,327 399,427

Non Council Controlled Budgets

1,066 10,367 Schools 354,130 354,130 0
0 0 Benefits 176,633 176,633 0

1,066 10,367 530,763 530,763 0

411,324 417,331 NET COST OF SERVICES 1,440,486 1,041,090 399,427

-57,113 -57,113 Reversal of Capital Charges -56,650
38,108 38,337 Interest payable and similar charges 43,113
-1,700 -2,320 Interest  and investment income -1,900

Levies

15,482 15,482 North East Combined Authority 15,696
432 432 Environment Agency - Flood Defence 432

65 65 North East Inshore Fisheries Conservation Authority 65

406,598 412,214 NET OPERATING EXPENDITURE 400,183

-48,739 -48,739 Business Rates - local share -51,887
-67,625 -67,625 Top up Grant -70,350
-56,000 -56,000 Revenue Support Grant -41,860

-3,000 -3,000 Estimated net Surplus on Collection Fund -7,506
-8,882 -8,883 New Homes Bonus -6,504

-267 -283 New Homes Bonus - re-imbursement 0
-5,875 -6,336 Section 31 Grant -7,459
-1,500 -1,516 Education Services Grant 0

-18,185 -24,086 Use of Earmarked Reserves -4,872
-819 325 Use of Cash Limit Reserves -33

0 -365 Addition to General Reserve 0

195,706 195,706 AMOUNT REQUIRED FROM COUNCIL TAX PAYERS 209,712

2018/19

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5
Budget Summary - By Expenditure and Income Type

Original Budget 
2017/18

2017/18 Projected 
Outturn Position

Original Budget 
2018/19

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employees 504,244 522,047 527,858
Premises 51,415 53,539 52,661
Transport 41,617 40,960 41,598
Supplies & Services 118,315 121,723 123,605
Agency & Contracted 321,726 335,285 356,691
Transfer Payments 197,680 217,730 190,384
Central Costs 101,054 111,816 86,605
Direct Revenue Financing 430 1,412 710
Capital Charges 57,113 57,192 56,650
Contingencies 5,422 4,701 3,755

GROSS EXPENDITURE 1,399,016 1,466,405 1,440,517

Income

         - Specific Grants 572,492 626,984 611,485
         - Other Grants & contributions 76,382 76,828 74,746
         - Sales 8,935 7,840 10,439
         - Fees & charges 109,086 109,962 114,762
         - Rents 7,746 8,386 8,183
         - Recharges 205,879 211,542 212,616
         - Other 7,172 7,532 8,859

Total Income 987,692 1,049,074 1,041,090

NET COST OF SERVICES 411,324 417,331 399,427

Capital charges -57,113 -57,113 -56,650 
Interest and Investment income -1,700 -2,320 -1,900 
Interest payable and similar charges 38,108 38,337 43,113

Levies

North East Combined Authority 15,482 15,482 15,696
Environment Agency - Flood Defence 432 432 432
North East Inshore Fisheries Conservation Authority 65 65 65

Net Operating Expenditure 406,598 412,214 400,183

Movement in Reserves:
Use of Earmarked Reserves -18,185 -24,086 -4,872 
Use of Cash Limit Reserves -819 325 -33 
Addition to General Reserve 0 -365 0

Net Budget Requirement 387,594 388,088 395,278

Financed by:
Business Rates - local share -48,739 -48,739 -51,887 
Top up Grant -67,625 -67,625 -70,350 
Revenue Support Grant -56,000 -56,000 -41,860 
Amount required from council tax payers -195,706 -195,706 -209,712 
Estimated Net Surplus on Collection Fund -3,000 -3,000 -7,506 
New Homes Bonus -8,882 -8,883 -6,504 
New Homes Bonus - re-imbursement -267 -283 0
Section 31 Grant -5,875 -6,336 -7,459 
Education Services Grant -1,500 -1,516 0

Total Financing -387,594 -388,088 -395,278 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Medium Term Financial Plan - MTFP (8) 2018/19 - 2021/22 Model Appendix 6

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Government Funding
Government RSG Funding Reduction 14,140 14,240 0 0
Impact of 100% Business Rate Retention 0 0 0 0
Reduction in Public Health Grant 1,285 1,286 0 0
Reduction in Education Services Grant 1,200 0 0 0
Reduction in Benefit Admin Grant 300 300 300 0
Town and Parish Council RSG Adjustment -16 -103 0 0
Adult Social Care Support Grant (2017/18 One Off) 2,830 0 0 0
Impact of Business Rate Revaluation -915 341 0 0
Bus. Rates - CPI increase (3%/2%/1.75%/1.5%) -1,500 -1,000 -900 -800
Top Up - CPI increase(3%/2%/1.75%/1.5%) -2,000 -1,400 -1,200 -1,000
Section 31 Grant adjustment and inflation uplift (19/20 2.9% RPI) -1,300 -1,300 -150 -100
Improved Better Care Fund -19,000 -5,700 4,000 0
New Homes Bonus 2,650 450 800 250
Other Funding Sources
Council Tax Increase (2.99% 2018/19 and 2019/20 then 1.99%) -5,900 -6,300 -4,400 -4,500
Council Tax Adult Social Care Precept (2% increase) -4,000 -4,200 0 0
Council Tax - Increase in Collection Rate to 99% -1,000 0 0 0
Council Tax/Business Rate Tax Base increase -4,600 -1,500 -1,500 -1,500
Estimated Variance in Resource Base -17,826 -4,886 -3,050 -7,650

Pay inflation (2%+ - 2%+ - 2% - 2%) 4,800 5,000 4,300 4,400
Price Inflation (1.5% - 1.5% - 1.5% - 1.5%) 3,200 3,000 3,100 3,200
Reduction of Corporate Risk Contingency Budget -1,000 0 0 0

Base Budget Pressures
Costs Associated with National Living Wage 2,900 3,250 4,000 2,500
Additional Employer Pension Contributions 0 0 1,000 0
Energy Price Increases 500 250 250 250
Pension Fund Auto Enrolment - Employer Contributions 0 600 0 0
Microsoft Licencing / Office 365 1,200 0 0 0
SSID Replacement Licences 0 0 300 0
Adults Demographic Pressures 3,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Adults - Winterbourne 142 535 372 0
Childrens - Demographics 500 500 500 500
Childrens - LAC Pressures 3,944 -500 -500 -500
Childrens - Special Guardianship / Child Arrangement Orders 1,049 0 0 0
Childrens - Social Worker Academy 372 0 0 0
Unfunded Superannuation -100 -100 -100 -100
Prudential Borrowing to fund new Capital Projects 0 1,000 2,000 2,000

TOTAL PRESSURES 20,507 14,535 16,222 13,250

Use of One Off funds
Adjustment for use of BSR in previous year 12,622 500 0 0
Savings 
Savings Assured 14,803 2,445 1,383 0

Utilisation of Budget Support Reserve (BSR) 500

Savings Shortfall 0 7,704 11,789 5,600
Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7

Scheme 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £

ADULT AND HEALTH SERVICES

Learning Disability Provider Services 16,817 0 0 0
Drugs Commissioning 32,057 0 0 0

Drug & Alcohol Premises Upgrade 200,000 0 0 0
Public Health 77,247 0 0 0

ADULT AND HEALTH SERVICES TOTAL 326,121 0 0 0

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SERVICES

Building Schools for the Future 1,003,812 3,112,953 0 0
Childrens Homes 167,508 0 0 0

Childrens Services - Planning & Service Strategy 1,000,000 2,470,520 0 0
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Structural Maintenance 179,804 240,000 0 0

DFE School Capital Including Basic Need 11,035,840 16,125,318 0 0
Free School Meals Support 93,930 0 0 0

Increased Provision for Two Year Olds 80,902 0 0 0
Priority Schools Building Programme 0 146,692 0 0

Private Finance Initiative 28,508 0 0 0
School Devolved Capital 3,688,576 1,888,099 0 0

School Modernisation 1,028 0 0 0
Secure Services 212,694 0 0 0

Thirty Hours Free Childcare 2,332,184 0 0 0
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SERVICES TOTAL 19,824,786 23,983,582 0 0

REGENERATION AND LOCAL SERVICES

AAP Schemes - Direct Services 52,595 0 0 0
AAP Schemes - Sport and Leisure 25,966 0 0 0

Barnard Castle Vision 661 0 0 0
Building & Facilities Maintenance 341,006 0 0 0

Capitalised Structural Maintenance 6,469,399 7,202,996 350,000 0
CCTV 10,000 0 0 0

Chapter Homes 2,010,000 0 0 0
Crematorium 2,459,037 0 0 0

Culture and Museums 273,042 1,144,100 0 0
Disabled Facilities/Financial Assistance 3,861,255 3,264,404 0 0

Durhamgate 900,000 2,730,000 0 0
Eastgate 0 0 150,000 360,830

Housing Renewal 1,129,890 1,312,340 896,698 0
Industrial Estates 11,695,816 5,531,724 2,266,443 0
Leisure Centres 1,173,289 436,171 0 0

Library 214,560 88,692 0 0
Local Transport Plan - Integrated Transport 2,829,184 2,689,000 0 0

Minor Economic Development & Housing Schemes 168,000 393,817 0 0
Minor Planning & Assets Schemes 251,528 33,512 0 0

Minor Strategy Programmes & Performance Schemes 143,242 200,000 121,889 0
Minor Transport & Contract Services Schemes 6,027 0 0 0

North Dock Seaham 50,000 130,000 229,558 0
Office Accommodation 888,090 1,863,684 1,858,899 0

Outdoor Play Areas and Parks 530,243 78,644 0 0
Peatland 2,330,239 1,520,903 0 0

Renewable Technology 618,413 576,308 815,657 688,725
Strategic Highways 29,319,989 20,476,692 1,365,671 0

Strategic Highways - Bridges 3,546,884 141,065 0 0
Street Scene 939,335 611,657 0 0
Town Centres 1,720,920 4,030,607 2,320,344 650,000

Transport - Major Schemes 5,585,722 4,877,700 14,875,743 1,000,000
Vehicle and Plant 146,600 0 0 0

Waste Infrastructure Capital 1,552,896 2,550,884 514,883 0

                                                 CURRENT CAPITAL PROGRAMME                               

Page 91



Scheme 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £

Woodham Community Technology College 0 0 750,000 0
REGENERATION AND LOCAL SERVICES TOTAL 81,243,828 61,884,900 26,515,785 2,699,555

RESOURCES

Applications and Development 16,366 0 0 0
Archiving Of Obsolete Systems 0 200,000 0 0

Big Data 0 149,200 0 0
Broadband / Digital Durham 1,806,936 2,000,000 4,031,054 4,000,000

Civica Pension Fund Administration System 206,639 0 0 0
Code of Connection Compliance 40,150 0 0 0

Conversion of Capita One Software to Tribal 47,706 0 0 0
Corporate Mail Fulfilment 43,916 0 180,000 0

Customer Relation Management System 390,526 900,000 0
Dark Fibre Installations and Circuit/Microwave Upgrades 124,730 0 0 0

Email Upgrade 86,301 0 0 0
Homeworking 234,715 640,000 0 0

ICT Business Continuity 0 530,000 0 0
Learning Gateway 73,895 0 0 0

Migration of HR/Payroll functionality 556,000 44,000 0 0
Mobile Device Management 360,000 0 0 0

Ongoing Server Replacement 245,270 244,000 0 0
Open Revenues/Fraud & ICON System 600,000 0 0 0

Remote Access Central Solution 0 0 155,000
Replacement of Desktop ICT Equipment 1,090,758 1,300,000 0 0

Schools Web Filtering Project 240,000 0 0 0
Sharepoint Architecture 0 23,031 0 0

Tanfield Datacentre Core Swiching Replacement 953 0 0 0
Datacentre Local Area Network Switching Replacement 65,162 30,000 0 0

Wireless Network Replacement 78,521 0 0 0
RESOURCES TOTAL 6,308,544 6,060,231 4,366,054 4,000,000

TRANSFORMATION AND PARTNERSHIPS

AAP Capital Budgets 474,966 336,000 0 0
AAP Initiatives - Other 18,890 0 0 0
Community Buildings 342,580 720,231 0 0

Community Facilities in Crook 343,892 0 0 0
Derwent Valley Coding Equipment 6,734 0 0 0

Dipton Project Fund 1,479 0 0 0
Members Neighbourhood Fund 2,426,740 1,701,724 0 0

Nevilles Cross Community Centre New Build 0 83,000 0 0
Stanley Regeneration Works 44,600 0 0 0
Witton Park Memorial Garden 19,790 0 0 0

TRANSFORMATION AND PARTNERSHIPS 3,679,671 2,840,955 0 0
COUNTY COUNCIL TOTAL 111,382,950 94,769,668 30,881,839 6,699,555

Page 92



APPENDIX 8

SERVICE
 SCHEME BACKGROUND 2018/19 2019/20

2020/21 and 
21/22

 TOTAL 

£ £ £ £

T&P
Members 

Neighbourhood 
Budget

In order to fulfil their roles as community champions and work in partnership with AAPs to address 
local priorities in their communities, since 2009 elected members have been allocated a 

Neighbourhood Budget alongside a smaller Member Initiative Fund.  The capital allocation is £14,000 
per member

0 1,764,000 0 1,764,000

T&P
Area Action 
Partnership

AAPs have been set up to give people in County Durham a greater choice and voice in local affairs. 
The partnerships allow people to have a say on services, and give organisations the chance to speak 
directly with local communities. Each AAP receives a £24,000 annual capital allocation. 0 336,000 0 336,000

T&P
County Durham 

Archives, Records 
and Registrars Office

This is a standalone but linked project to the HQ project. We have considered a number of options to 
secure the long term future for these services. The current preferred option is at Mount Oswald, 

Durham City.  The project will restore the existing listed building with a new building extension. A bid 
is to be submitted to HLF for up to £5 million with the balance being requested from council 

resources. At this stage the costs have only been requested up to 2019/20. Additional funding of up to 
£9.9 million may be required in 2020/21 with approval being sought in MTFP (9)

200,000 7,600,000 0 7,800,000

T&P

Asset Transfer of 
Great Lumley 

Community Centre to 
Great Lumley Parish 

Council

A sum of £127,000 was originally identified from the Community Transfer capital programme to 
support this asset transfer. Feasibility studies however have identified that the required works for the 
facility are more extensive than first thought. The additional £125,000 of investment will enable the 

Parish Council to either develop a programme for a new build or ensure essentials repairs are carried 
out to enable transfer to occur.

50,000 75,000 0 125,000

T&P Sub Total 250,000 9,775,000 0 10,025,000

CYPS Devolved Capital This capital grant is allocated to individual schools to invest in school infrastructure. 0 1,378,000 0 1,378,000

CYPS
 DfE Capital & Basic 

Need Grant

These are grants paid by the DfE to Local Authorities to enable each authority to carry out it's function 
to address the schools in worst condition and provide additional school places where there is 

pressure in areas of demographic growth. The Basic Need allocation for 2019/20 is £3,768,622.  The 
2019/20 Capital allocation for schools in worst condition has not been confirmed yet. To enable a 

meaningful planned programme of maintenance to be developed this bid is for an 'assumed' amount 
of £5,336,687 ( the same as the 2018/19 allocation)

0 9,105,309 0 9,105,309

CYPS
New Build Primary 
School to replace 
Escomb Primary

New housebuilding in Bishop Auckland is placing excessive pressure on school places. The optimum 
solution in this regard is the building of a new two form entry primary school to replace Escomb 

Primary. A housing developer has agreed to gift the land and will be required to make a £2.1 million 
contribution to the new school. It is forecast however that the new school will cost £6.3 million to build. 

There is a shortfall therefore of £4.2 million. There is a bid for £2.1 million in 2019/20 with the 
remaining £2.1 million being required in 2020/21

0 2,100,000 0 2,100,000

CYPS Sub Total 0 12,583,309 0 12,583,309

                          Additions to the 2018/19 - 2021/22 MTFP(8) Capital Programme

P
age 93



SERVICE
 SCHEME BACKGROUND 2018/19 2019/20

2020/21 and 
21/22

 TOTAL 

ReaL

Local Transport Plan 
(LTP) - Adopted 

Highway Maintenance 
Grant

The Council has a statutory responsibility to maintain the adopted highway in a safe and serviceable 
condition. 

The Council's Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) shows that capital expenditure of £21.8 
million is required per annum at 1st April 2015 prices to maintain the highway network in a "steady 

state" condition.

0 11,556,000 0 11,556,000

ReaL
Department for 

Transport (DfT) - 
Pothole Funding

The Pothole Fund is annual capital grant funding from the Department for Transport. The grant is 
provided to support local authorities with their statutory responsibility to maintain the adopted highway 

in a safe condition. 
931,000 931,000 0 1,862,000

ReaL
Adopted Highway 

Maintenance 

DfT LTP Grant Funding is not sufficient for the Council to maintain the adopted highway network in an 
appropriate condition. Councils are expected to provide additional funding from their own resources. 

This bid also incorporates the re-allocation of the former LAMA budget.
0 5,000,000 0 5,000,000

ReaL
Unadopted Highway 

Maintenance 

The council owns 42km of unadopted carriageway and 202km of unadopted footway together with 
other associated assets (gullies, kerbs, markings etc.). 

Funding has previously been approved in 2015/16, 2016/17  and 2017/18 to bring unadpopted 
highway up to adoptable standard. An additional amount of £750,000 will continue the process of 

eradicating unadopted highways.   

0 750,000 0 750,000

ReaL Flood Prevention

County Durham has suffered from multiple flooding events in recent years. The frequency and 
severity of flooding events is predicted to increase with climate change. The Council has a significant 

inventory of drainage assets (highway drainage, culverts, watercourses) and riverbanks.
This funding will therefore be used to maintain existing assets and for new priority schemes.

0 500,000 0 500,000

ReaL
Chester-le-Street 
Flood Prevention 

Scheme

The Council has a statutory responsibility as the Lead Local Flood Authority to work with partners to 
reduce flood risk. Chester-le-Street town centre is one of the highest flood risk areas in County 

Durham and residential and business properties have repeatedly suffered from the devastating impact 
of internal property flooding.

This scheme is led by the council in partnership with the Environment Agency. The council 
contribution of up to £1.5 million will secure matched funding from the Environment Agency (£2.3m) 

and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) (£2.6m).

750,000 750,000 0 1,500,000

ReaL
Street Lighting 

Column Replacement

The Council has a statutory responsibility to maintain the adopted highway in a safe condition. 
The probability of an individual column collapsing is very low but across a large inventory of columns 

such as the Council’s where the condition is deteriorating, the frequency of column collapses is 
expected to progressively increase without any additional intervention. 

Unfortunately, columns occasionally collapse directly onto highway users and in these cases there is 
a high risk of serious injuries or fatalities.  

0 1,536,000 0 1,536,000

ReaL
Horden Railway 

Station 

There is a balance of £750,000 council funding remaining from the £3,000,000 requested as part of 
MTFP (2). External funding via the New Stations Fund has been approved of £4.35m towards the  full 

scheme cost. (Estimated at £10.55m plus acquisition costs).  A sum of £3.34m has been made 
available from NELEP towards this project and this has already been built into the scheme budget.   

0 750,000 0 750,000

ReaL
Infrastructure 

Investments - Bishop 
Auckland

This investment will contribute to further transport enhancements in association with Architect Castle 
Trust (ACT). In total there will be a £68.8m investment in projects by ACT by 2020, with the highways 

investment contributing to facilitating this spend by ensuring projected visitation numbers are 
achieved. 

400,000 4,600,000 0 5,000,000

P
age 94



SERVICE
 SCHEME BACKGROUND 2018/19 2019/20

2020/21 and 
21/22

 TOTAL 

ReaL

Durham City Centre 
Conservation Area 

Refurbishment 
Project

This funding is to continue the refurbishment of the public realm of Durham City Centre Conservation 
Area that is in poor condition and will support works at North Bailey and South Bailey. 

The schemes are all prestige areas that require high specification materials that cannot be funded 
from existing budgets. Areas that require standard materials will continue to be maintained from 

existing budgets.
The works will be planned around forthcoming developments to maximise developer contributions to 

the works.

0 500,000 0 500,000

ReaL
Local Transport Plan 

(LTP) - Integrated 
Transport

This funding is essential to deliver the Local Transport Plan and contributes to both the County 
Durham Plan and the Regeneration Statement. The allocation is at the core of delivery of transport 

improvements across County Durham .
0 2,726,500 0 2,726,500

ReaL
Structural Capitalised 

Maintenance

Capitalised Maintenance - Continuing programme of planned work, alterations and adaptations  to 
reduce the backlog maintenance of the Council's non-schools property portfolio and to meet 

obligations under relevant legislation such as the Equalities Act and Fire Safety Orders.
0 5,000,000 0 5,000,000

ReaL
Aykley Heads Project 

Development

A masterplan for the Strategic Employment Site (SES) has divided the site into four key zones. The 
first area to be developed will be the Northern Zone, which consists of an established part of the 
business park providing premises for approximately 40 existing businesses including Atom Bank, 

Durham Constabulary and NHS offices.  
Aykley Heads has been identified as a strategic employment site to help drive the local economy. This 

funding will enable feasibility and infrastructure improvement work to begin. 

0 150,000 0 150,000

ReaL
Office 

Accommodation - 
Strategic Sites

As part of the INSPIRE Programme, it is proposed that County Hall be vacated to make way for a 
strategic employment site. This requires the number of people based in County Hall to reduce with 

staff moving out to four strategic sites across the county thereby enabling a much smaller 
headquarters to be built. These strategic sites are Green Lane in Spennymoor, Crook Civic Centre, 

Meadowfield and Spectrum 8 in Seaham. In order to make this work and to improve the effectiveness 
and efficiency of the staff, the council is moving towards smarter working. This requires some 

reconfiguration of the work spaces within the strategic sites along with different furniture that will 
support smarter working.  

0 1,287,420 0 1,287,420

ReaL
Finance Durham 
Investment Fund

Finance Durham is an Investment Fund created by the Council to help deliver business growth and 
job creation. The fund is financed by the Council and operated on a commercial basis and as such it 

is intended to generate a financial return over the longer term. The fund has been designed with 
growing the County economy as its core function. The expectation is that the fund will make equity 

and debt investments into high growth businesses. This is the next tranche of investment as part of an 
overall £20 million package.

0 985,556 0 985,556

ReaL New Headquarters

As part of the INSPIRE Programme, it is proposed that Aykley Heads becomes a Strategic 
Employment site for the city. This will require County Hall to be vacated and a new, smaller 

headquarters to be constructed with other staff moved out to four strategic site across the County. At 
this stage £46.4 million is included in the programme in relation to the new HQ and car parking 

requirements. This sum will be refined as the council moves through the procurement and build. 

5,500,000 29,900,000 11,000,000 46,400,000

P
age 95



SERVICE
 SCHEME BACKGROUND 2018/19 2019/20

2020/21 and 
21/22

 TOTAL 

ReaL
Horden Housing 
Feasibility Plan

In light of the rail station development at Horden, it is likely that there will be a drive to create new 
housing development in the surrounding area. This will enhance the existing facilities and services in 

the local community. As part of the drive to create new housing developments, planning and feasibility 
of development opportunities will be undertaken to ascertain the potential quantum of development. 

This could involve a range of options for delivery.
In addition, The Coal Authority is investigating the potential to generate energy from the mine water 

pumping station at Horden. Any new development in the area could use this sustainable energy 
source to heat new buildings.

200,000 0 0 200,000

ReaL

Vehicle In-cab 
Security / Digital 

recording of drivers 
hours

A number of near miss incidents have occurred involving un-authorised use of DCC HGV vehicles 
when there is a requirement for the driver to leave the vehicle cab to operate equipment fitted to the 

HGV vehicle. There have also been incidents of accidental rolling of vehicles downhill due to 
handbreak not being applied when driver has left the vehicle. In-cab technology is available to ensure 
that only authorised drivers can drive HGV vehicles  and that systems shut down if an unauthorised 

person seeks to take control of a HGV vehicle. There is a statutory requirement to record drivers 
hours which currently for drivers operating vehicles on "domestic rule" legislation manually record 
their working time / driving hours in a drivers hours book. DCC vehicles are now fitted with digital 

tackographs, drivers operating on "domestic rule" can record their working / driving time on the digital 
tachograph. Drivers will require to access the tachograph via their own drivers card.

358,000 0 0 358,000

ReaL
Disabled Facilities 

Grant

Disabled Facilities Grant is a mandatory grant which provides significant support to the most 
vulnerable client groups across County Durham. Adaptations enable clients to remain within their own 
homes and to live independently. Current figures advise that most grants are awarded to the over 60 

age group. Support for the grant is of significant importance as it plays a key role in increasing 
independence and enabling clients to live at home longer.  

0 3,500,000 0 3,500,000

ReaL
Stainton Grove 

Household Waste 
Recycling Centre

The current Stainton Grove Household Waste Recycling Centre is not fit for purpose and due to its 
position and risk with traffic management conflict  with the adjacent Depot is only able to open at 

weekends. There has been strong local support for many years for a larger more appropriate facility to 
be built to serve residents of Barnard Castle and the local area. There is already £1.84 million of 

Capital in Strategic Waste budget set against provision of a new facility. A design has been through 
Planning and gained approval in July 2016. The current forecast however far exceeds the original 

estimate and ongoing value engineering discussions are taking place reducing this figure. Currently 
the worst case indicates a budget deficit of £950,000. It is anticipated this figure will reduce further as 

value engineering discussions conclude.

950,000 0 0 950,000

ReaL
Town Centre 

Masterplan Priorities

Continue to prioritise town centre and retail sector support and key strategic public realm 
improvements in line with Regeneration and Economic Development Service Plan 2016-19, County 

Regeneration Statement and adopted suite of town centre Masterplans.  The programme is to 
continue to deliver priorities set as actions within the adopted 12 plans and request for funding is to 

continue to deliver a rolling programme of works across these centres.  

0 1,200,000 0 1,200,000

ReaL Sub Total 9,089,000 71,622,476 11,000,000 91,711,476

RES
Replacement desktop 

programme

The end user equipment fleet (Desktops, Laptops and Tablet) currently consists of 8,800 items. This 
total has risen slightly due to requirements to support the agility programme and the use of tablets in 

maintenance workshops to support the new working methods. This is replaced on a four-year cycle to 
ensure that the equipment is fit for purpose and delivers the service for the end users. To support the 

move from desktop to laptop, docking stations will be needed. The move to laptops has now been 
instigated and as such the mix of the estate will change. 

0 1,403,000 0 1,403,000

P
age 96



SERVICE
 SCHEME BACKGROUND 2018/19 2019/20

2020/21 and 
21/22

 TOTAL 

RES
LAN Switch 

Replacement

DCC Local Area Network (LAN) infrastructure is a large scale deployment of switches and routers. 
The current infrastructure has been in place for the past six years and supports computer 

connectivity, the wireless access point network and telephony. The manufacturer of the current 
infrastructure has just notified the market that models deployed within the council are reaching end of 

life.

0 540,000 0 540,000

RES
Accommodation Bid - 

ICT

This is a supplementary bid to the current budget of £831,000. The full scheme has been more 
accurately costed there is a shortfall of £502,000. The bid is to cover the ICT capital costs for the 
Strategic Sites at Crook Civic Centre, Green Lane Spennymoor, Meadowfield Direct Services and 

Spectrum Seaham. 

0 502,000 0 502,000

RES
Middleware Software - 
Enterprise application 

integration (EAI)

Enterprise application integration is an integration framework composed of a collection of technologies 
and services which form a middleware or "middleware framework" to enable integration of systems 

and applications across an enterprise.
The business software within the council such as the DEBS ERP systems, CRM applications, 

business intelligence applications, payroll and human resources systems typically cannot 
communicate as standard with one another in order to share data or business rules.  This lack of 
communication leads to inefficiencies, wherein identical data are stored in multiple locations, or 

straightforward processes are unable to be automated.

0 250,000 0 250,000

RES Server Replacement

This is the ongoing server replacement bid which replaces the server hardware on a rolling 
programme of renewal. This ensures that the servers are up to date and within warranty and is the 

main ICT hardware for all corporate systems within the Council.
0 50,000 0 50,000

RES Sub Total 0 2,745,000 0 2,745,000

TOTAL 9,339,000 96,725,785 11,000,000 117,064,785

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 9 – MTFP(8) -  Table of Equality Impacts 

MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

AHS 

AHS 1.1 
Review direct 
provision of 
remaining in-house 
services 

Relates to phased savings 
arising from outsourcing of 
reablement and supported 
living and restructuring of 
Extra Care. Clients/service 
users who are eligible will 
continue to receive 
services (previously 
agreed by Cabinet 
September 2016). 

Service users affected by the change are 
predominantly older and disabled people. 
There are likely to be higher numbers of 
women than men impacted, and more 
carers are likely to be female than male. 
 
Changes to operating models are not 
anticipated to affect the level of service 
provided as service users will continue to 
receive services to address their eligible 
needs however some service users may 
experience a change of provider. 
 
Savings will involve potential changes to 
staffing which will include, in some 
instances, TUPE transfer. 
 

Services will continue to operate, and the 
principles of the review work are that eligible 
service users will continue to receive support, 
subject to ongoing annual review and 
consistent application of eligibility criteria.  
 
Transition arrangements, including individual 
care plans will be sensitively planned to 
mitigate any issues connected to a change of 
provider. Service users and staff will receive 
communication on a timely basis and 
alternative means of communication will be 
provided where required.  
  
Any changes relating to staff will be carefully 
planned and implemented to promote fairness 
and equality in line with DCC procedures by 
following the Change Management toolkit. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact on 
staff. 

AHS 2.1 
Continuation of 
consistent and 
effective use of 
existing criteria 

Continuation of effective 
use of eligibility criteria for 
adults. 

There are potential impacts as people are 
assessed more consistently and effectively 
meaning reviews of care and support may 
result in changes in care provision 
following re-assessment.  
 
The profile of service users indicates that 
older people and those with a disability are 
likely to be impacted as well as more 
females than males. 

The overarching policy objective is to bring 
about greater clarity, consistency and equality 
of access to care and support, both for people 
using care and support and for people with 
caring responsibilities. This is outcome-
focused, supports personalisation and 
prevention, and continues to allow the council 
flexibility to reflect individual, family and local 
circumstance. It also promotes positive 

P
age 99



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

 
Needs will continue to be met in variety of 
ways as part of the Transformation Agenda 
for Adult Care. 
 
The Care Act 2014 (Section 2) requires 
local authorities to offer preventative 
services which will contribute towards 
preventing, reducing or delaying the needs 
for care and support, which will impact 
positively on those identified with the 
protected characteristics. 
 
Department of Health equality analysis on 
modernisation of legislation did not identify 
any negative impact and highlighted the 
potential for positive outcomes such as 
improving the quality and availability of 
information about support services on offer 
and improvement of personalised care and 
support service for both service users and 
carers. 
 

attitudes to older and disabled people and 
involves them in decision-making.  
 
The following current practice ensures users’ 
needs are met and may lead to more positive 
outcomes for some: 

 Consistent use of eligibility criteria  

 Services sensitive to people’s needs 

 Not necessarily using traditional service 
responses such as building-based day care. 
Consideration of universal community based 
services to meet need 

 Examining differences in locality 
arrangements  

 Greater use of preventative services, e.g. 
telecare 

 Ensuring consistency in teams linked to 
practice and volumes 

 Maximising opportunities with the voluntary 
and community sector 

 Providing alternatives to residential and 
hospital admissions. 

 Use of reablement and other service offers 
to maximise independence. 
 

AHS 3.1 
Review of Adult 
Social Care 
Charging 
 
(Disability related 
expenditure) 

Phased savings arising 
from changes to ASC 
charging policy in respect 
of Disability Related 
Expenditure disregards in 
new cases only 
(previously agreed by 
Cabinet March 2017) 

This is a continuation of a saving agreed in 
2017 with full public consultation carried 
out April-June 2016 prior to the decision.  
 
Current applicants (at the time of 
implementation) were not affected, only 
new applications/clients. Previous profile 
suggested that people most affected are 
more likely to be older, female and will 
have some form of severe disability. The 

Ongoing support is provided to service users 
were necessary as changes implemented. This 
includes advice and support to help maximise 
income and benefit entitlement where possible 
during the financial assessment. Social work 
support is available if required. Service users 
unhappy with the financial contribution they are 
assessed to make will be offered a further fast 
track review. 
 

P
age 100



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

policy change led to a negative impact for 
some due to increased financial 
contributions as a result of ending the 
automatic 50% disregard in relation to 
service users in receipt of the severe 
disability premium. 
 

Since the policy was introduced no complaints 
or issues for consideration have been raised 
with regard to the charging policy. 
 

AHS 3.2 
Review of Adult 
Social Care 
Charging 
 
(Minimum income 
guarantee) 

Phased savings from 
changes to ASC charging 
policy in respect of the 
Minimum Income 
Guarantee thresholds in 
new cases only. 

It is anticipated that this policy will 
implement consistency across all new 
service users post April 2018. 
 
The adverse effect will derive from the 
increase in care costs predominantly 
affecting older and disabled people and 
greater proportions of women. 
 
Full public consultation closed on 14th 
January 2018. Results are currently being 
analysed. 
 

 
Ongoing support will be offered to new clients. 
This includes advice and support to help 
maximise income and benefit entitlement where 
possible during the financial assessment. 
Social work support will be available if required. 
Service users unhappy with the financial 
contribution they are assessed to make will be 
offered a further fast track review. 
 

AHS 4.1 
Adult 
Commissioning 
Efficiencies 

A restructure of the 
support and other services 
retained within AHS that 
have not yet been 
unitised. 

It is unclear at this stage if there will be any 
service impact and the equality impact 
assessment will be updated as the saving 
proposal progresses.  
 
Staff impact in terms of a restructure. 

The restructure/staffing changes would be 
completed following change management 
guidelines to ensure fair treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact on 
staff. 
 

AHS 4.4 
Review of Adult 
Social Work 
Function 

Management Review No service impact is expected. 
 
Staff impact in terms of a management 
review. 
 
 

The review will be completed following change 
management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 P

age 101



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

AHS 4.5 
Review of non 
frontline activity in 
Public Health 

Reduction in transport 
costs. 

Reduction in transport costs with no 
anticipated equality impact. 

 

AHS 4.6 
Environment, 
Health and 
Consumer 
Protection – 
Service Review 

Restructure and re-
prioritisation of service 
delivery within 
Environment, Health and 
Consumer Protection. 

Staff impact in terms of a restructure.  
 
It is unclear at this stage if there will be any 
service impact and the equality impact 
assessment will be updated as the saving 
proposal progresses.  
 

The restructure/staffing changes would be 
completed following change management 
guidelines to ensure fair treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, will 
minimise impact on staff. 
 

AHS 5.1 
Review of 
community based 
services 

To be achieved through 
the non-recurrent budget / 
capacity within the current 
BCF budget plan. 

The services and initiatives funded are 
either ending in March 2018 or will be 
continued using alternative funding 
sources.  For some services alternative 
funding has been identified. 
Services affected are as follows: 

 Reablement – alternative funding 
identified: no impact on service 
users 

 MAIN Autism Support service – 
alternative funding identified: no 
impact on service users 

 Dementia Care Advisors – 
alternative funding identified: no 
impact on service users 

 Support to move onto direct 
payments – time limited initiative: no 
impact on service users 

 Pre-Paid Carers Cards – to be 
funded through operational (core) 
budgets: no impact 

 Contribution to temporary posts – 
time limited: no impact on service 
users 

Implications for service users and staff will be 
considered as proposals are developed and the 
equality impact assessment will be updated 
going forward. 

P
age 102



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

 
At this stage the impact on affected 
services / protected characteristics is 
considered negligible. Impact in relation to 
staff will be limited, as small numbers are 
likely to be affected. 

CYPS 

CYPS 1.2 
Opening 5th Unit 
at Aycliffe Secure 
Services 

Expansion of traded 
service 

This proposal will promote our commitment 
to equality as it will provide an additional 
service for vulnerable children and young 
people. Staff will be recruited via Durham 
County Council recruitment policies and 
procedures for the 5th House. 
 

None required. 

CYPS 2 
Review home to 
school / college 
transport policies 
 
 

This saving is a 
continuation of savings 
arising from Policy 
Changes previously 
agreed by Cabinet in 
relation to safe walking 
routes, Year 10/11 exam 
movers, post 16 
independent / SEN travel 
arrangements  etc. 

There is a potential negative impact on 
young people between the ages of 16-19 
and those with a disability. The impact is 
financial as some pupils will no longer 
receive free or subsidised travel compared 
to the previous policy. There are also 
potential impact in relation to gender, 
where there are variations in proportions 
between male and female in some of the 
affected categories. Also religion, where 
families have a preference of educational 
establishment due to religion or belief.  
 

Public consultation took place during Autumn 
2015. 
 
The ouncil works with schools and colleges to 
promote a programme of Independent Travel 
Training. It is noted that, for some pupils / 

students, independent travel training would 
not be appropriate due to their complex 

needs. 

 
An assessment of a family’s ability to pay will 

be made to enable those who do need 
financial support for travel costs to receive 

the level of funding required from a dedicated 
Hardship Fund established by the council. 
 

The council will have regard to any preference 
an individual may have for a particular 
institution based on their religion or belief.  

 

P
age 103



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

CYPS 3.1 
Children's Services 
– Service Review 

A staffing restructure and 
the development of a new 
partnership arrangement 
for universal and Early 
Help Service focused on 
tackling Child Poverty 
delivered in localities 
through 0-19 Family Hubs. 

Redesign of Children’s Services will impact 
children, young people and their families.  
 
The re-design will ensure a robust focus on 
providing high quality and targeted early 
help and statutory services to children and 
families which is provided in accordance 
with need. This will take account of equality 
and diversity issues when considering the 
provision of support to vulnerable children 
and their families which meets their 
assessed needs. 
 
The service will ensure a clear focus on the 
provision of targeted and intensive support 
to children and families who’s need is 
greatest which will minimise any impact of 
the service redesign for the most 
vulnerable. 
 
The service has invested in new roles of 
VCS Alliance Workers who will ensure 
there is good knowledge of the VCS 
provision in localities which can support 
children and families with lower level 
needs. 
 
 
Staff impact in terms of a restructure.  
 

Any potential impacts on service delivery will be 
monitored as the restructure and service re-
design is implemented.  
 
The restructure/staffing changes would be 
completed following change management 
guidelines to ensure fair treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact on 
staff. 
 

CYPS 3.2 
Education -  
Service Review 

Restructure of Education 
Services across all teams, 
together with non staffing 
budget reductions and 

Service changes will impact on children 
and young people and those with a 
disability, especially a sensory impairment. 
This will also impact families and carers, 
where the impacts could be greater for 

Steps will be taken to protect all statutory 
functions. 

Adapting the service delivery model of the 
Sensory Team will align the responsibilities for 

P
age 104



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

increased income 
generation. 

women who are more likely to have care 
responsibilities.  
 
Impact may mean that provision which is 
currently discretionary may reduce or 
cease. There is currently insufficient detail 
to make an informed assessment, but this 
will be undertaken as the review 
progresses. 
 
Staff impact in terms of a restructure.  
 
 
 

meeting pupils sensory needs with schools 
responsibilities and funding arrangements for 
other pupils with SEND, supporting the capacity 
of staff in all schools with reference to pupils 
with sensory impairment, and will continue to 
meet statutory duties under SEND legislation. 
The delivery model will also continue to operate 
within nationally agreed guidelines for support 
for children with sensory impairment. 

Further equality analysis will be carried out 
going forward, and be provided to support 
further decision making. 

CYPS 3.2a 
Review of Service 
Delivery Model – 
Sensory Services 

Relates to 'Modifications 
to the Service Delivery 
Model of the Sensory 
Services (Hearing 
Impaired / Visual 
Impaired). 

As above. As above. 

CYPS 3.5 
CYPS Operational 
Support – Service 
Review 

Staffing and non-staffing 
costs e.g. supplies, 
stationery, training. 

At this stage there is not expected to be an 
impact on service users. The numbers of 
staff at risk of potential compulsory 
redundancy are small. Some staff may 
need to move job location. 
 

The restructure/staffing changes would be 
completed following change management 
guidelines to ensure fair treatment. 
 

CYPS 11 
Repayment of 
CYPS Cash Limit 
in 2017/18 
 
 
 
 
 

Repayment of CYPS Cash 
Limit in 2017/18 to delay 
restructuring savings. 

No equality impact.  

P
age 105



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

REAL 

REAL 1.20 
Review of Culture 
& Sport 

This proposal will see a 
general scaling down and 
re-structuring of a range of 
development services in 
both sport and the arts 
together with further 
operational reductions 
across the service. 

Change will mainly affect targeted 
interventions. Service recipients by nature 
are therefore transient depending upon 
specific programmes operating at any one 
time. Whilst this saving may result in fewer 
new programmes being introduced it is 
unlikely to affect existing users. Impact is 
likely to relate to gender, age and disability 
going forward with reduced access to 
targeted interventions for these groups. 
 
Proposals will result in changes to staffing 
levels.  
 

Monitor impact going forward and update of the 
equality impact assessment as the proposal 
develop. 
 
Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact on 
staff. 
 

REAL 3.91 
Review of Fleet 
Service 

A more streamlined 
service allowing 
workshops to operate 
extended hours 
minimising loss of 
productivity for service 
users as vehicles can be 
maintained outside normal 
operating hours. 

There will be limited impact on external 
service users as proposals will bring about 
more efficient ways of working. 
 
Proposals will result in changes to terms / 
conditions, post titles, the removal of 
existing posts and creation of new posts.   

Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact on 
staff. 
 

REAL 3.92 
Review of Building 
and Facilities 
Maintenance 

Reductions across a 
range of service areas in 
Building and Facilities 
Maintenance, R&M 
Budgets and in out of 
hours services. 

No negative impact on external service 
users as proposal will bring about more 
efficient ways of working. 
 
Minimal impact on staff for 2018/19. 
 

Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 106



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

REAL 4.06 
Savings in Clean 
and Green 

Low impact savings 
including a restructure 
within management, and 
savings from the in-
housing of weed control.  
Also reductions in general 
maintenance and 
weekend working where 
impact can be minimised. 

Low impact such as reductions in general 
maintenance and weekend working where 
impact can be minimised. Unlikely impact 
on general public. 
 
Proposals will result in changes to staffing 
levels. 

Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact. 

REAL 5.20 
Increased income 
within Refuse and 
Recycling 

A range of measures to 
increase income, including 
increased trade / bulky 
waste charges and the 
introduction of charges on 
developers. 

Increased charging for the bulky waste 
scheme may have a greater impact on 
elderly or disabled people as they may be 
restricted in the means by which they can 
otherwise dispose of their bulky waste.  
 
The introduction of a points system means 
that customers can mix smaller and larger 
bulky waste items. 
 
 

The service will ensure the change to the 
charge is comprehensively communicated; 
including ensuring that the service information 
is accessible to all residents. 
 
Residents needing help to present their waste 
(often due to disability) are able to access the 
‘assisted collection’ service.  
 
The points system may make some collections 
cheaper where the number of items collected is 
low and this may mitigate impact for some 
people. 

REAL 6.06 
Review of garden 
waste charges 

Savings proposal includes 
a £5 annual increase on 
garden waste charging 
each year in 2018/19 and 
2019/20 (to £30 and then 
£35 - three year 
discounted offer to be 
made available). 

An increase in charging has a negative 
financial impact for all those accessing the 
service. However there is likely to be a 
disproportionate impact on disabled and 
older residents accessing the garden 
waste service as they may be restricted in 
the means by which they can otherwise 
dispose of their waste. 
 
There is an option of a discounted multi-
year deal to pay for this service which will 
ease the impact of increased charging for 
all customers. 

The service will ensure the change to the 
charge is comprehensively communicated; 
including ensuring that the service information 
is accessible to all residents. 
 
Residents needing help to present and pull in 
their waste bin (often due to disability) are able 
to access the ‘assisted collection’ service.  
 
Households are reminded that they can share 
garden waste bins with neighbours (as 
publicised on the Council website) which will 

P
age 107



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

cut costs and help to mitigate financial impact 
for some. 
 
Multi-year discounted payment plans will ease 
impact for some.   
 

REAL 6.07 
Review of 
Strategic Waste 

A restructure within 
Strategic Waste plus a 
range of non-staffing 
efficiencies. 

No expected service delivery impact. 
 
Staff impact in terms of a restructure.  
 

Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact. 
 

REAL 11.21 
Realignment of 
Winter 
Maintenance 
Budget with 
support from the 
Winter 
Maintenance 
Reserve 

Current coverage of the 
network can be 
accommodated with any 
additional costs from a 
severe winter funded from 
the Winter Maintenance 
Reserve. 

No equality impact on the realignment of 
this budget. 

 

REAL 11.23 
Capitalisation of 
Condition Surveys 

Alternative funding 
arrangements are 
proposed which will 
enable savings to be 
made. 

No equality impact on this funding 
arrangement. 

 

REAL 20.1 
Overachievement 
of 17/18 Savings 

Over programming of 
staffing reductions across 
former RED activities 
taken in 2017/18 and 
removed from budget 
2018/19. 

No equality impact.  

P
age 108



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

REAL 20.2 
Reductions in 
Supplies & 
Services 

Reductions in Supplies 
and Services in former 
RED areas. 

No equality impact.  

REAL 20.3 
Review of 
Planning 

Restructures within 
planning teams. 

No adverse impact is expected for service 
users as work is to be picked up by wider 
team. 
 
Staff impact in terms of a restructure. 

Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact. 

REAL 20.4 
Increased Income 
Generation 

Increased income 
generation within Chapter 
Homes, Visit County 
Durham, Business 
Durham and International 
Relations. 

No equality impact  

REAL 20.5 
Review of 
Economic 
Development 

Savings from 
restructuring, and supplies 
and services savings in 
Economic Development 
and Visit County Durham. 

See 20.3 above.  

REAL 20.6 
Review of 
Transport 

Restructure of Strategic 
Traffic & Sustainable 
Transport. 

See 20.3 above.  

REAL 20.7 
Review of Strategy 
and Programmes 

Restructure of Strategy 
and Programmes. 

See 20.3 above.  

REAL 24.09 
Savings due to 
Capital Investment 
within Leisure 

Savings associated with 
One Life Contract 
following capital 
investment already 
negotiated for 2018/19. 

No equality impact.  

REAL 24.10 
Review of Culture  
Provision 

Non staffing savings with 
regards to library service. 

No equality impact of this saving which 
relates to supplies and services. 

 P
age 109



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

REAL 35.02a 
Management and 
Non-Staffing 
Efficiencies in  
Neighbourhood 
Protection 

Savings proposals include 
a restructure of 
management & support, 
plus reductions in horse 
impounding, and safer 
communities budgets and 
increased income from 
burial charges, pest 
control, fixed penalty 
notices, and from Durham 
Crematorium Service. 

Increases in fees and charges will affect 
the following areas: 
Cremation and Burial Fees 
Increased issue of fixed penalty notices 
Pest control charges. 
 
Furthermore the Stray/tethered horses 
budget will be reduced. 
 
At this stage it is not anticipated that these 
changes will have an equality impact. 
 
Minimal staff impact in terms of proposed 
staffing reductions. 
 

Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact. 

RES  

RES 07 
Restructure in HR 
Health and Safety 
and Occupational 
Health 

Restructure in Health and 
Safety and Occupational 
Health. 

No direct impact upon the public however 
impact upon the service provided within the 
council is expected. No expected specific 
equality impact. 
 
Staff impact due to restructure. 
 

A re-prioritisation of work will take place. 
 
Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact. 

RES 13 
Restructure of 
Legal & 
Democratic 
Services 

A restructure of Legal & 
Democratic Services. 

A reduction in service capacity may have 
an impact through reduced service levels 
to internal customers and stakeholders.  
 
Employee impact is limited for 18/19 as 
changes to post grading is currently 
vacant. 
 
 

Effective management of available resources 
aims to mitigate any impact. 

P
age 110



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

RES 15 
Corporate Finance 
/Financial Services 
- Finance and 
Procurement 

A further restructure of 
accountancy and 
procurement functions. 

Although there will be no direct impact 
upon the public a reduction in employees 
will continue to diminish the level of 
support the service is able to provide. 

Impact managed through prioritisation and new 
ways of working. 
 
Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact. 

RES 16 
Review of Digital & 
Customer Services 

Review of Digital & 
Customer Services 
structures and service 
delivery arrangements, 
including a further review 
of ICT systems / licensing 
/ non-staffing budgets 

No impact as this mainly relates to ICT 
systems and licensing where there are no 
equality implications. 
 
No staff impact for 2018/19. 

 

RES 19 
Financial Support 
Service 
(Assessment & 
Awards and 
Payment, Income 
and Support) 

Further restructure and 
reductions in non-staffing 
budgets 

Minimal impact on customers possible 
(assessment, awards and payment, 
income and support) which could impact 
any protected group.  
 
Any staffing reductions necessary are likely 
to come from deletion of vacancies. 
 

In order to maintain performance there will 
need to be the continuing challenge of systems 
/ current processes and maximisation of 
efficiencies through continued channel 
migration and automation of processes. 
 

RES 21 
Internal Audit and 
Risk Staffing 
rationalisation 

Restructure of Internal 
Audit, Corporate Fraud 
and Risk / Insurance 
functions 

Although there will be no direct impact 
upon the public there will be an impact on 
corporate governance and internal / 
external customers through reduced 
capacity to provide advice and consultancy 
support. It is unlikely to have a direct 
equalities impact. 
 
Small staff restructure which will involve 
the deletion of a vacant post.  
 

Service requests will need to be evaluated on a 
risk/added value basis as resources allow going 
forward to mitigate this risk. 

 

P
age 111



MTFP Ref / 
Savings Proposal 

Description Impact Mitigation 

T&P 

TAP 22 
Service Review 

Service restructure - 
savings target linked to 
the former ACE budgets 
and targets transferred to 
T&P following the 
unitisation of Policy, 
Performance and 
Communications. 

There will be no equalities impact on 
internal/external service users as proposal 
will bring about more efficient ways of 
working.  
 
The proposals will have an impact on staff 
in terms of an overall net reduction in staff 
and changes in responsibilities for some 
staff. 
 

Staffing changes would be completed following 
change management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
Consideration of ER/VR, where possible, and 
deletion of vacant posts will minimise impact. 
 
A range of temporary posts to support the 
Transformation Programme could mitigate 
overall impact on staff. 
  

CORPORATE 

COR 26 
External Audit 
Fees 

Re-procurement of 
external audit contract. 

Re-procurement of external audit contract 
with no expected equality impact. 

 

COR 32 
Insurance 
Premiums 

A recent procurement 
exercise has resulted in 
reduced insurance 
premium costs. 

Reduced insurance premium costs with no 
expected equality impact. 

 

COR 34 
Corporate 
Subscriptions 

Savings from the Council 
no longer paying to 
subscribe to ANEC. 

No expected equality impact.  

COR 35 
Commercial 
Activity 

Additional investment 
income. 

No equality impact.  

 

P
age 112



 

 

 
1 Introduction 

 
This policy outlines the key principles of Durham County Council’s (DCC) pay 
policy for 2018/19 aimed at supporting the recruitment and remuneration of 
the workforce in a fair and transparent way.  The policy complies with 
Government Guidance issued under the Localism Act 2011 and includes 
commentary upon: 

 

 the approach towards the remuneration of Chief Officers. 

 the remuneration of the lowest paid employees. 

 the relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and the 
remuneration of its employees who are not Chief Officers. 

The Local Government Transparency Code, published in February 2015 by 
the Government also sets out key principles for local authorities in creating 
greater transparency through the publication of public data. As part of the 
code, the Government recommends that local authorities should publish 
details of senior employee salaries. This pay policy forms part of the Council’s 
response to transparency of senior pay through the publication of a list of job 
titles and remuneration. 

 
Durham County Council is mindful of its obligations under the Equality Act 
2010 and is an equal opportunity employer.  The overall aim of our Single 
Equality Scheme is to ensure that people are treated fairly and with respect. 
The scheme also contains a specific objective to be a diverse organisation 
which includes recruiting and retaining a diverse workforce and promoting 
equality and diversity through working practices.  This pay policy forms part of 
our policies to promote equality in pay practices.  By ensuring transparency of 
senior pay and the relationship with pay of other employees, it will help ensure 
a fair approach which meets our equality objectives. 
 
In setting the pay policy arrangements for the workforce the Council seeks to 
pay competitive salaries within the constraints of a public sector organisation. 

 
As a result of Local Government Review in the County, the significant 
opportunity existed to bring together the pay and conditions arrangements of 
the eight previous authorities into one cohesive pay policy for the new 
organisation.  In response, Durham County Council’s approach towards the 
workforce pay and conditions of employment was fundamentally reviewed and 
a new pay structure and revised conditions of employment for the majority of 
the workforce was agreed during 2012,  in order to ensure that the council is 
able to operate as a modern, fit for purpose and streamlined organisation. 
 

  

Appendix 10 -  Durham County Council Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 

Page 113



 

 

2 Posts defined within the Act as Chief Officers 
 
The policy in relation to Chief Officers relates to the posts of Chief Executive, 
four Corporate Directors, Director of Transformation and Partnership 
Services, Director of Public Health and the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services (who undertakes the Monitoring Officer Role for the Authority). 

 
3 Governance Arrangements 

The Chief Officer Appointments Committee is defined within the Council’s 
Constitution as performing the functions under section 112 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 in relation to these officers.  This includes the setting of 
the pay arrangements for these posts and in doing so the Committee takes 
into account: 
 

 the prevailing market in which the organisation operates; 

 the short and long term objectives of the Council; 

 the Council’s senior structure, financial situation and foreseeable future 
changes to these; 

 the expectations of the community and stakeholders; 

 the total remuneration package; 

 the links with how the wider workforce is remunerated and national 
negotiating frameworks; 

 the cost of the policy over the short, medium and long term. 

The Committee also has access to appropriate external independent expert 
advice on the subject where required. 
 

4 Key Principles 
 

 The Chief Officer Pay policy is designed to be easily understood and to be 
transparent to the post holders and key stakeholders.  The structure and 
level of the pay arrangements will enable the Council to attract, motivate 
and retain key senior talent for the authority. 

 The policy is based upon spot salaries with clear differentials between 
levels of work/job size, within a range that is affordable now, will remain 
so for the medium term, and will be subject to review to ensure it 
continues to remain fit for purpose.  In the first instance it is intended that 
the Authority will market test the rates of pay when vacancies arise, as 
part of consideration on whether or not roles continue to be required 
within the context of the Council’s priorities and commitments at that time. 

 

Page 114



 

 

 A competency based performance management framework is established 
within the organisation linked to individual job descriptions, person 
specifications, with performance reviewed annually.  This ensures that the 
individual standards of achievement are met and clearly linked to the 
achievement of the council’s objectives and priorities, and the authority’s 
expectations are delivered by post holders within these roles. 

 These posts do not attract performance related pay, bonuses or any other 
additions to basic salary.  This approach enables the council to assess 
and budget accurately in advance for the total senior pay bill over a 
number of years. 

 The Council is currently the sixth largest single tier authority in the 
Country and in setting the pay policy for this group, a market position has 
been established that aims to attract and retain the best talent available at 
a senior level within a national recruitment context, to lead and motivate 
the council’s workforce that is rewarded under a nationally agreed 
negotiating framework.   

 Roles at this level have all been subject to an externally ratified job 
evaluation scheme that is transparent and auditable to ensure equality 
proofing of pay levels.  

 Other terms and conditions of employment for this group are as defined 
within the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local 
Authorities Conditions of Service handbook, with discretion to set actual 
pay levels at a local level, but within a national negotiating framework.  
These posts are part of the nationally defined Local Government final 
salary pension scheme. 

5 Pay Levels 
 
Individual elements of the remuneration package are established as follows at 
the point of recruitment into the posts: 

 

Role Salary @ 1.4.18 
subject to agreement 

of 2% pay award 

Chief Executive £192,493 

Corporate Directors £145,670 

Director of Transformation and Partnership Services £124,860 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services £114,455 

Director of Public Health  £108,054 

 
 In addition to Chief Officers there are a range of senior roles identified as Heads 
 of Service that are evaluated using the same principles and scheme as the 
 Chief Officers and these roles are remunerated at three levels based on job 
 size.  
 
  

Page 115



 

 

Head of Service Level Salary @ 1.4.18 subject to agreement of 2% 
pay award 

HOS 3 £79,599 

HOS 2 £100,825 

HOS 1  £114,455 

 
Increases are made in accordance with the appropriate Joint Negotiating 
Committee (JNC) Pay Agreements.  The Association of Local Authority Chief 
Executives and Senior Managers have made a pay claim which matches the 
2% offer made to general local government employees. 

 
This Council has agreed a salary structure for its senior posts and agrees that 
appointment to any vacancies on this structure at the salaries referred to in 
this statement are permitted.  The creation of any new posts paying over 
£100,000 should however be presented to Council for approval. 
 
The designated Returning Officer for the Council, also carries out the role of 
‘Returning Officer’ or ‘Counting Officer’ in Parliamentary and European 
elections and other national referenda or electoral processes.  These 
additional roles carry an entitlement to payment from central government at 
levels set by order in relation to each national poll and according to scale of 
fees agreed by the Council in relation to Local Elections. 
 
Set out in Annex 1 is a scale of fees for the conduct of any County Council 
and Parish by-elections that arise.  The fees are based on the principle that 
the Returning Officer and nominated deputies will be remunerated in view of 
personal responsibilities, but at a rate below that of national elections.  
National rates are given for other posts such as Presiding Officers, Poll 
Clerks, Count Staff and postal vote sessions to ensure sufficient interest is 
maintained in undertaking these roles. 
 

6 The Authority’s Policy on the Remuneration of its Lowest Paid Workers 
 
Definition of Lowest Paid Workers 
 
In order to promote equity, former manual worker grades in the authority have 
been incorporated into the national framework, as outlined in the National 
Joint Council for Local Government Services “Agreements on Pay and 
Conditions of Service”. 
 
This ensures that the lowest paid workers and the wider workforce share 
equitable terms and conditions and access to pay and condition arrangements 
that are set within a national negotiating framework.  
 
This approach ensures fairness, provides market rates in the region for jobs, 
graded by job size, but with a reference also to the national local government 
family. 

 
Following the implementation in 1 January 2015 of the ‘Durham Living Wage’ 
the lowest paid workers now receive the minimum of Spinal Column Point 10 

Page 116



 

 

for all Durham County Council employees.   The current hourly rate from          
1 April 2018 is £8.74  (subject to the 2018 Pay Offer being accepted) which 
equates to workers (outside of apprenticeship schemes) remunerated in 
Durham on a minimum full time equivalent annual rate of pay of £16,863 
(excluding any allowances and again subject to the 2018 Pay Offer being 
accepted).  This is the Council’s definition of ‘lowest paid workers’.  
 

7 The Policy Relationship between Chief Officers Pay, the Lowest Paid 
Workers, and the Wider Workforce 
 
Current Position 
 
At the inception of the new unitary Council in 2009 the authority had defined: 
 

 The strategy for senior pay within the authority and had recruited into 
these posts. 

 The plan for the approach towards harmonising the pay and conditions of 
the workforce longer term. 

 Taking this approach, also now enables the authority to publish and 
support recommendations within Will Hutton’s review 2011 ‘Review of Fair 
Pay in the Public Sector’ around publishing the ratio of pay of the 
organisation’s top earner to that of a median earner and tracking this over 
time, taking corrective action where necessary. 

 In setting the relevant pay levels a range of background factors outlined at 
paragraph 2.2 were taken into consideration for senior pay alongside the 
significant scope and scale of the authority in the national context.   

For example, the scope and scale of the Chief Executive’s post encompasses 
responsibilities commensurate with the largest authorities in the country 
including responsibility for: 
 

 the provision of wide ranging services to over 500,000 residents of County 
Durham; 

 a gross budget of £1.4 billion for service delivery; undertaking the role of  

 the Head of Paid Service to over approximately 16,600 employees 
(including schools); 

 lead policy advisor to the Council’s 126 Elected Members. 

For 2018/19, the ratio between the pay of the Chief Executive in Durham 
County Council and the lowest paid workers is 11:1, against figures published 
by Government of an expectation to always be below 20:1 in local 
government.  
 

Page 117



 

 

In addition, during 2018/19 the employer will contribute 16.7% of pensionable 
pay to the pension fund for all employees in the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 
 

8 Long Term Planning 
 

In line with the original long term plan, Durham County Council has 
successfully completed the implementation of a new pay and conditions 
framework for the wider workforce.  This pay scheme is based upon a 
nationally agreed job evaluation system and the national spinal column points 
of pay, and will see the authority remain within the existing national pay 
negotiating machinery.   
 

9 Pay Policy Objectives 
 
This planned approach towards pay for the wider workforce, and the use of 
established and equality impact assessed job evaluation schemes in the 
exercise will ensure: 
 

 A planned approach towards pay policy for the organisation that enables 
the council to establish a relationship between pay for senior officers, the 
low paid and the wider workforce to align to the national guidance 

 The provision of accountability, transparency and fairness in setting pay 
for Durham County Council.  

10 Pay Policy Decisions for the Wider Workforce 
 
The decision making powers for the implementation of the new pay 
arrangements is one for the Full Council for the Authority, ensuring that 
decisions in relation to workforce pay are taken by those who are directly 
accountable to local people. 
 

11 The Approach towards Payment for those Officers Ceasing to Hold 
Office Under or be Employed by the Authority 
 
The Council has an agreed policy in relation to officers whose employment is 
terminated via either voluntary or compulsory redundancy.  This policy 
provides a clear, fair and consistent approach towards handling early 
retirements and redundancy for the wider workforce, including Chief Officers. 
In setting policy, the Authority does at this time retain its discretion to utilise 
the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006. 

 
12 Policy towards the Reward of Chief Officers Previously Employed by the 

Authority   
 
The Council's arrangements for payments on severance are outlined in the 
Early Retirement/Voluntary Redundancy policy approved by Full Council on 
29 October 2014. 

Page 118



 

 

 
Chief Officers leaving the authority under regulations allowing for early access 
to pension are leaving in circumstances where there is no longer a suitable 
role for them, and in such circumstances they leave the employment of the 
Council. Immediate re-engagement in another role would negate redundancy 
by operation of the Redundancy Payments (Continuity of Employment in Local 
Government, etc.) (Modification) Order 1999. 
 
The Council would not expect such officers to be offered further remunerated 
employment with the Council or any controlled company without such post 
being subject to external competition. 
 
The administering authority for the Local Government Pension Scheme does 
not currently have a policy of abating pensions for former employees who are 
in receipt of a pension, although this is an area that is kept under review. 
 
The Council is mindful of its obligations under equality legislation and as such 
is limited in its ability to adopt a policy that it will not employ people of an age 
that has entitled them to pension access on leaving former employment in the 
public sector or to propose that such applicants be employed on less 
favourable terms than other applicants. It expects all applicants for any posts 
to compete and be appointed on merit.  

  

Page 119



 

 

Annex 1:  Proposed Scale of Fees for the conduct of Individual By-Elections 

 
Set out in Annex 1 is a scale of fees for the conduct of individual By-Elections.  
These fees were agreed by the former District Authorities of the County in 2007. 
 
Election Fees – By-Elections 

 
Returning Officer £67.00 per 1,000 electors or part thereof (per 

division/ward) 

  

Polling Station:  

Presiding Officer £215.00 (plus ¼ fee for combined election) 

Poll Clerk £140.00 (plus ¼ fee for combined election) 

Polling Station Inspector £ 19.50 per station 

Mileage 0.45p 

  

Postal Votes Issue:  

Postal Votes Issuing Manager £120.00 

Postal Votes Issuing Supervisor £60.00 

Postal Votes Issuing Assistant £40.00 

  

Postal Votes Opening:  

Postal Votes Opening Manager £150.00 

Postal Votes Opening Supervisor £75.00 

Postal Votes Opening Assistant £60.00 

  

Count:  

Count Manager £260.00 

Count Supervisor £140.00 

Count Assistant £80.00 

  

Miscellaneous:  

Elector Assistance £17.00 per visit 

Attending Training £25.00 

Providing Training £150.00 

  

Clerical £89.00 per 1,000 electors or part thereof 

Preparation of Poll Cards £1.90 per 100 cards or part thereof 

Delivery of Poll Cards 13p per card 

Ballot Box Preparation £5.15 

Checking of Ballot Papers £1.60 per 1,000 or part thereof 

 
 
 

Page 120



 

Appendix 11 – Discretionary Rates Relief & Business Rates Hardship Policy 

  

   

  
  

JANUARY 2018 

  

  

  
  

  

Discretionary  Rat es  
Relief & Business  

Rates Hardship Relief  
Policy 

  
  

  
  
  
  
  

Page 121



Contents  

  
1. Introduction and Purpose of Policy Document  

  

  

2. Legislation  

  

  

3.  Business Rates – Discretionary Rates Relief Policy   

  

 3.1   Equality and Fairness  

  

 3.2   Criteria Used in the Decision Making Process  

  

 3.3   Levels of Discretionary Rate Relief Available  

  

 3.4   Claiming Mandatory and Discretionary Rate Relief  

  

           3.5   Period of Award  

  

 3.6   Notification of Award  

  

 3.7  Appeals  

  

  

4.    Relief for Properties that are Partially Unoccupied for a Temporary Period   

  

 4.1  Legislation  

  

 4.2  Making an Application  

  

 4.3  The Decision Making Process  

  

 4.4  Period of s44a Relief  

  

 4.5  Calculation of s44a Relief  

  

    

5.  Business Rates – Local Newspapers   

  

5.1       Legislation  

  

5.2       Properties that will Benefit from this Relief  

  

5.3       Criteria Used in the Decision Making Process  

  

5.4       Period of Relief   

  

  

Page 122



6.  Business Rates – Supporting Small Businesses Relief  

  

6.1      Legislation  

  

6.2     Properties that will Benefit from this Relief  

  

6.3     Criteria Used in the Decision Making Process  

  

 6.4  Period of Supporting Small Businesses Relief   

  

7.  Business Rates – Support for Pubs  

  

 7.1   Legislation  

 7.2   Properties that will Benefit from this Relief  

 7.3   Criteria used in the Decision Making Process  

 7.4   Period of Support for Pubs  

  

8.   Business Rates – Local Discretionary Relief Scheme  

8.1      Legislation  

8.2      Properties that will Benefit from this Relief  

8.3      Criteria used in the Decision Making Process  

8.4      Period of Local Discretionary Relief      

  

  

9.   Hardship Relief for Business Rates  

9.1      Legislation  

9.2      Criteria used in the Decision Making Process  

9.3      Period of Hardship  

9.4      Examples of Appropriate Circumstances  

9.5      Claiming a Reduction due to Hardship  

9.6      The Decision Making Process  

9.7      Review of the Decision   

  

   

Page 123



  

1   Introduction and Purpose of Policy Document  
  

1.1  This policy has been designed to ensure that all customers making an 

application for rate relief are treated in a fair, consistent and equal manner.  

  

1.2  This policy has been written to:  

  

• demonstrate how Durham County Council will operate its discretionary 

powers set out in the Local Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1988 and 

Localism Act 2011 and the factors that will be considered when deciding 

if relief can be awarded and the way in which the value of relief will be 

granted; 

  

• demonstrate how Durham County Council will administer Government 

funded rates relief schemes – including the schemes announced in the 

March 2017 and November 2017 budgets with regards to:  

  

 support for small businesses losing Small Business Rate Relief 

(SBRR) as a result of the revaluation effective from April 2017, 

where increases would be limited to the greater of £600 or the 

real terms transitional relief cap for small businesses each year;     

 the new local discretionary relief scheme to provide support to 

businesses adversely impacted by the revaluation effective from 

April 2017; and    

 a £1,000 business rate discount for public houses with a 

rateable value of up to £100,000, subject to state aid limits for 

businesses with multiple properties, for two years from 1 April 

2017.   

• set guidelines for the factors that should be considered when making a 

decision to award or refuse an application; 

  

• set out the delegated authority to award relief in appropriate 

circumstances; 

  

• establish an appeals procedure for customers dissatisfied with a 

decision; 

  

• safeguard the interest of the local taxpayers by ensuring that funds that 

are allocated for the award of relief are used in the most effective and 

economic way.  

  

2  Legislation  

  

2.1  Section 47 of the LGFA 1988 permits the billing authority to grant discretionary 

rate relief. This was amended by the Localism Act 2011 section  

69 from 1 April 2012, which removed the previous restrictions of discretionary 

relief to only apply to charities and other organisations of prescribed types.  

Page 124



  

2.2  The billing authority may make a decision to grant relief, only if it is satisfied 

that it would be reasonable to do so, having regard to the interests of the 

council taxpayers.  

  

2.3  Discretionary relief may not be granted where the property is an excepted 

property i.e. occupied by a billing authority or a precepting authority.     

  

3  Business Rates – Discretionary Rates Relief Policy   

  

3.1  Equality and Fairness  

  

3.1.1   Each application for relief will be dealt with on its own merits and the Council 

will treat all organisations that apply for discretionary rate relief equally and 

fairly. The scheme will operate in a manner that helps support Durham County  

Council priorities and key objectives contained in the Sustainable Community 

Strategy and the Council Plan. Public funds are not however unlimited, a 

proportion of the costs of relief granted is borne by council taxpayers.  

  

3.2  Criteria Used in the Decision Making Process  

3.2.1  The criteria to be used in deciding whether to give discretionary rate relief are 

based on assessing how an organisation’s work helps achieve the Council’s 

priorities and meeting the community’s needs for services and facilities.  

  

3.2.2  The following essential criteria must be met before Durham County Council 

would consider awarding discretionary rate relief:  

  

• The ratepayer must be a non-profit making body, and/or  

  

• Irrespective of whether an organisation is registered as a charity or not 

the property must be used by the ratepayer wholly or mainly for 

charitable, philanthropic or religious purposes, or concerned with 

education, social welfare, science, literature and the fine arts, or the 

ratepayer must use the property wholly or mainly for recreation by a 

non-profit making club or society. This is essential if any relief (either 

mandatory or discretionary) is to be granted. In most cases this can be 

readily seen by inspection but on occasions the authority has had to 

question the actual use of the premises to which relief is being sort.  

  

• Consideration will be given as to what proportion of the premises is 

wholly or mainly used for the purposes of the organisation. Has the 

organisation exercised due diligence in ensuring the premises are of a 

suitable size for their requirement and have not committed to an 

onerous lease or excessive space.  

  

 

 

 

Page 125



3.2.3  It is possible for a voluntary organisation to apply for 100% discretionary rate 

relief, and for registered charities to apply for an additional 20% discretionary 

relief in addition to the mandatory relief they already receive providing they 

meet the essential criteria detailed in the Levels of Discretion detailed in 

paragraphs 3.3.1 to 3.3.2.  

  

3.2.4  Community Interest Companies (CICs) would not qualify for mandatory relief 

and any discretionary relief application would be considered based on the 

essential criteria detailed in the Levels of Discretion detailed in paragraphs 

3.3.1 to 3.3.2.   

  

3.2.5  There are however, exceptions to this general rule which include: Housing 

Associations, Leisure Trusts, Voluntary Schools, Colleges and Universities or 

similar.  These organisations are charitable trusts for the purposes of the 

rating legislation and qualify for mandatory relief. However due to the funding 

streams available no discretionary top-up relief will be granted to these 

bodies.  

  

3.2.6  Every application for discretionary rate relief will be considered on an 

individual basis.  

  

3.2.7  The Council will need to be satisfied that value for money is being provided to 

the people of County Durham, bearing in mind the relief an organisation will 

receive. In making awards, consideration will be given to the financial impact 

on the Council and whether or not an organisation is already funded or 

commissioned by the Council. The decision to award relief must only be taken 

where it is in the wider interest of Council Taxpayers in County Durham.  

  

3.2.8 Relief may be refused if it is considered that the cost to the Council and its 

taxpayers outweighs the benefit that will be gained from the award of the 

relief. If the benefit of the rate relief is kept locally, the relief is more likely to be 

awarded.  

  

3.2.9  The finances of the organisation will be examined. This will include 

examination of the membership fees structure, examination and reasoning of 

level of reserves in relation to the amount of turnover and the rates actually 

charged, payments to staff and directors will all be taken into consideration 

when determining the application. If it appears that the reserve finances are 

not being used or partially used to benefit the local community, the application 

may be refused unless the ratepayer can demonstrate their reasoning.  

  

3.2.10 Some organisations or charities do not need to be registered with the Charity 

Commission where the annual income is under £5,000. In these cases, if the 

organisation has applied to Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) for 

tax relief, a HMRC number will be provided and mandatory relief can be 

awarded.  

  

 

 

 

Page 126



3.2.11 Organisations that meet the qualifying criteria for small business rates relief 

will not be considered for discretionary rate relief until they have applied for 

small business rates relief.  This will reduce the financial contribution on the 

authority. These organisations even though they may not be a small business, 

are however ratepayers who are entitled to apply for this relief. Durham 

County Council will provide support and guidance on how to apply for small 

business rates relief from the Council.  

  

3.3  Levels of Discretionary Rate Relief Available   

  

3.3.1  Registered charities or equivalent already in receipt of mandatory relief will 

receive the following top up relief provided they meet the relevant criteria (as 

identified above):  

  

For Registered Charities or Equivalent (CASCs, CIO or Exempt Charities) 

entitled to Mandatory Rate Relief  

% Relief 

Awarded 
(Top up to 

Mandatory Rate 
Relief) 

1.    Community Centres/Community Associations and other registered 

charities responsible for paying rates on Community Centre and village 

halls.  
100  

2.    Training Centres/Training Organisations offering schemes for particular 

groups to develop their skills e.g. young people, unemployed people.  
100  

3.    National Charity Shops  0  

4.    Local Charity Shops  100  

5.    Local Heritage Projects  100  

6.    Essential Community Services e.g. CAB, Hospice, Samaritans  100  

7.    Sports Clubs (Must be CASC or registered Charity)   Up to 100  

8.    Museums  100  

9.    Private Schools, Leisure Trust, Universities/Colleges and Academies  0  

10.  Housing Associations or similar organisations  0  

  

3.3.2  Non Registered charities and community based organisations will receive the 

following relief provided they meet the relevant criteria.  

  

  

Page 127



 

Organisations not entitled to Mandatory Rate Relief but who are 

established Not for Profit Making  Organisation  
% Relief  

1.    Community Centre, Community Associations, Agencies,  
Community Resource Centres which are not conducted for profit and 

which occupy premises that provide a community focal point.  
100  

2.    Recreational community based clubs or societies e.g. youth clubs, boy 

scouts, girl guides. (Sports Clubs will not qualify unless CASC or 

registered Charity)  
100  

3.    Philanthropic organisations that are community based.  100  

4.    Religious organisations that promote an understanding of religion that 

leads to a greater awareness of religious differences within the 

community.  
100  

Organisations not entitled to Mandatory Rate Relief but who are 

established Not for Profit Making  Organisation  
% Relief  

5.    Educational organisations that provide education support or training.  100  

6.    Scientific organisations that promote an awareness of science etc.  100  

7.    Literature and Fine Arts that promote an awareness of Literature and Fine 

Arts.  
100  

8.    Training Centres/Training Organisations offering schemes for particular 

groups to develop their skills e.g. young people, unemployed people.  
100  

9.    Training Centres/Training Organisations offering schemes and advice to 

businesses.  
50  

10.  Private Nurseries and Day Care Centres  0  

11.  Community Interest Companies (CICs)  Up to 100  

  

The following additional criteria will be used when dealing with applications for 

discretionary rate relief.  

  

Reason for Increasing Amount of Relief:  

1. Active encouragement of membership for all groups  

2. Affiliated to local or national organisations  

3. More than 50% drawn locally  

Reason for Reducing Amount of Relief:  

1. Bar facilities**  

2. Restrictive fees and Restrictive membership***  

  

Page 128



  Maximum Percentage  
of Relief to be  

Awarded  

Bar Facilities**  

Licensed Bar – Full licence operating through the year for registered 

charities or CASC.  

10%   
Discretionary Rate Relief 

top-up.  

Licensed bar is open but where the club/organisation has a restricted 

seasonal/match day licence for registered charities or CASC 
10% or 20%  

Discretionary Rate Relief 

top-up.  

No Bar and a registered charity or CASC  20% Discretionary Rate 

Relief or top-up.  

Restrictive fees and membership***  

Where coaching, mentoring or training is at a minimal cost and the 

membership subscription can be shown not to exclude the general 

community.  

50%  

  Maximum Percentage  
of Relief to be  

Awarded  

Where the organisation encourages the young, those with  
disabilities and the elderly to partake in their activities and where the 

organisation benefits the local community by its activities.  
40%  

Where the organisation actively seeks to eliminate all forms of 

discrimination in its activities, in line with the new authority’s own 

commitment to Equal Opportunities.  
10%  

  

3.3.3  Businesses in rural settlement lists will receive the following relief provided 

they meet the relevant criteria and receive mandatory rural relief.  

  

Rural relief  % Relief  

1.    Sole shop in a rural settlement area selling mainly food and 

household goods meeting the criteria of mandatory relief.  
100  

2.    Sole Post Office in a rural settlement area meeting the criteria 

for mandatory relief.  100  

3.    Sole public house in a rural settlement area meeting the 

criteria for mandatory relief.  100  

4.    Sole petrol station in a rural settlement area meeting the 

criteria for mandatory relief.  100  

  

3.4  Claiming Mandatory and Discretionary Rate Relief  

  

3.4.1   A claim must be made using the discretionary rate relief application form 

which is available on the Council’s website (www.durham.gov.uk). This 

application form and supporting information, including the Memorandum, 

Articles of Association or constitution, the latest Annual Report and the last 

two years professionally prepared account should be completed and returned 

to:  

  

 

 

Page 129



 

  Durham County Council  

  Revenues and Benefits  

  PO Box 238  

  Stanley  

                                County Durham   

  DH8 1FP  

  

3.4.2   It is the responsibility of the organisation applying for the relief to provide 

sufficient information and documentary evidence to support applications. If the 

organisation applying does not or will not provide the required evidence the 

application will still be considered but only on the basis of the information and 

evidence provided.  

  

3.5  Period of Award  

  

3.5.1   Entitlement to relief will be subject to a regular review or if there is a change in 

legislation that would affect its operation and taking into account Council 

policies and priorities, any withdrawal or variation of relief is subject to one 

financial years notice.  

  

3.6  Notification of Award  

  

3.6.1  The Council will inform the organisation applying for relief, in writing of the 

outcome of their application for discretionary rate relief.  

  

3.6.2  The Council will endeavour to determine any application received within 28 

days of receipt of the full information required to assess the claim.  

  

3.6.3  Where the application is not successful, the notification will provide full 

reasons why it has not been decided not to award discretionary rate relief and 

the applicant’s right to ask us to look at the decision again.  

  

3.6.4  Where the application is successful, the notification will include the percentage 

of relief awarded and details of when an amended Business Rate Demand will 

be issued.  

   

3.7  Appeals  

  

3.7.1  If you disagree with a decision made under this policy, you must write and tell 

Durham County Council why you think the decision is wrong and provide any 

additional information in support of the claim. An independent panel will look 

at the case.  

  

 

 

 

 

Page 130



 

3.7.2  The panel will check the discretionary rate relief application thoroughly and 

take account of any additional information in your appeal letter. The panel will 

decide whether or not the criteria have been properly applied. The panel will 

confirm the decision, change the decision to pay more discretionary rate relief 

or change the decision to pay less discretionary rate relief.  

  

3.7.3  Durham County Council will write to tell you the outcome of the appeal. There 

is no further right of appeal against the decision of the panel. Any further 

appeal against this decision must be done through judicial review 

proceedings.  

  

4  Relief for Properties that are Partially Unoccupied for a Temporary Period  

  

4.1  Legislation  

4.1.1  Section 44A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 enables a billing 

authority discretionary powers to grant relief on a property that is partly 

unoccupied or not fully occupied if it appears to the authority that this situation 

will remain for a “short period of time” only.  

  

4.1.2  Partially occupied rate relief (also referred to as Section 44A Relief) is not 

intended to be used where part of a property is temporarily not used. The 

intention is aimed at situations where there are practical difficulties in 

occupying or vacating all of a property.  

  

4.2  Making an Application  

  

4.2.1  Applications must be made by the ratepayer.  

  

4.2.2  Durham County Council will require a written application and the ratepayer 

must supply a plan of the property, with the unoccupied portions clearly 

identified and a timetable or schedule of works detailing plans for the phased 

occupation/vacation.  

   

4.3  The Decision Making Process  

4.3.1  Durham County Council will require accompanied access to the property 

during normal working hours to verify the application.  

4.3.2  Relief will not be awarded under any circumstance where it is not possible to 

verify the application.  

4.3.3  No award shall be made where it appears to the Council that the reason that 

part of the property is unoccupied is wholly or mainly for the purpose of 

applying for rate relief.  

4.3.4  Durham County Council will notify the applicant of the decision in writing and 

where the relief is refused, an explanation of the reasons why will be given.  

Page 131



4.3.5  Durham County Council will not consider applications where the customer has 

failed to provide information within the timescales provided to them and will 

notify the customer in writing that the application has been refused.  

  

4.4  Period of Section 44A Relief  

4.4.1  Section 44A Relief will only be applied to a property that is partly occupied for 

a temporary period. The relief can only be awarded for a maximum of three 

months in cases of offices and shops, or six months in the case of industrial 

properties.  

4.4.2  Section 44A Relief will end under the following circumstances:  

• At the end of a financial year, regardless of the date relief was applied;  

• Where all or part of the unoccupied area becomes occupied;  

• The person liable for Business Rates changes.  

  

4.5  Calculation of Section 44A Relief  

4.5.1  Where Durham County Council agrees to award a Section 44A Relief, 

notification will be sent to the Valuation Officer to seek a reduction in the 

rateable value.  

4.5.2  The amount of relief is calculated on a statutory basis based on the rateable 

value of the empty portion of the property. The appropriate rateable value is 

provided to Durham County Council by the Valuation Office Agency.  

  

   

5  Business Rates – Local Newspaper Relief  

  

5.1   Legislation  

  

5.1.1   This relief was introduced from 1 April 2017 for a two year period. Under               

Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 the billing authority               

has discretionary powers to grant relief in the prescribed circumstances.  

  

5.2  Properties that will Benefit from this Relief  

  

5.2.1  A £1,500 business rates discount for office space occupied by local 

newspapers in England, up to a maximum of one discount per local 

newspaper title and per hereditament, and up to state aid limits.  

  

5.3  Criteria used in the Decision Making Process  

  

5.3.1  Durham County Council will require a written application form.  

  

5.3.2  The new local newspaper relief is granted as de minimis aid for State Aid 

purposes. There is currently a ceiling of 200,000 Euros of de minimis aid that 

can be granted over a three year rolling period.  

Page 132



  

5.3.3  Durham County Council will notify the applicant of the decision in writing and 

where the relief is refused, an explanation of the reasons why will be given.  

  

5.3.4  Durham County Council will not consider applications where the customer has 

failed to provide information within the timescales provided to them and will 

notify the customer in writing that the application has been refused.  

  

5.4  Period of Local Newspaper Relief  

  

5.4.1  The relief is only applicable for the financial years 2017/18 and 2018/19.  

    

6  Business Rates – Supporting Small Businesses Relief  

  

6.1      Legislation  

  

6.1.1  This relief was introduced from 1 April 2017 for a maximum of five years  

under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the billing 

authority has discretionary powers to grant relief in the prescribed 

circumstances.    

  

6.2      Properties that will Benefit from this Relief  

  

6.2.1 Those ratepayers who as a result of the change in their rateable value at            
Revaluation in 2017 are losing some or all of their small business or rural rate 
relief and as a result are facing large increases in their bills.  

  

6.2.2  The supporting small businesses relief will ensure that the increase per            

year in the bills of these ratepayers is limited to the greater of:  

  

• a cash value of £600 per year (£50 per month). This cash minimum 

ensures that those ratepayers currently paying nothing or very small 

amounts are brought onto paying something; or,  

  

• the matching cap on increases for small properties in the transitional 

relief scheme.  

   

6.3      Criteria used in the Decision Making Process  

  

6.3.1   Durham County Council will identify those businesses that meet the qualifying 

criteria and write to them and / or require a written application form.  

  

6.3.2   The Supporting Small Businesses relief is subject to de minimis State Aid 

rules, therefore any applicant or business where the relief is applied to will be 

required to confirm that the award of this relief does not contravene State Aid 

rules. There is currently a ceiling of 200,000 Euros of de minimis aid that can 

be granted over a three year rolling period.  

  

Page 133



6.3.3   Durham County Council will notify the applicant of the decision in writing            

and where the relief is refused, an explanation of the reasons why will be 

given.  

  

6.3.4   Durham County Council will not consider applications where the customer has 

failed to provide information within the timescales provided to them and will 

notify the customer in writing that the application has been refused.    

   

6.4      Period of Supporting Small Businesses Relief     

  

6.4.1   Ratepayers will remain in the Supporting Small Businesses relief scheme            

for either five years or until they reach the level of charges they would have 

paid without the scheme.  

  

6.4.2   A change of ratepayer will not affect the eligibility for the Supporting Small 

Businesses relief scheme.  

  

6.4.3   Eligibility will be lost if the property becomes vacant or becomes occupied            

by a charity or Community Amateur Sports Club.  

  

7        Business Rates – Support for Pubs  

   

7.1      Legislation  

  

7.1.1  This relief was introduced from 1 April 2017 for an initial one year period, but 

was extended to two years in the November 2017 Budget under Section  47 of 

the Local Government Finance Act 1988 the billing authority has discretionary 

powers to grant relief in the prescribed circumstances.  

   

7.2      Properties that will Benefit from this Relief  

  

7.2.1   Public Houses with a rateable value of below £100,000.  

  

7.2.2   Eligible pubs will receive a £1,000 discount on their bill up to state aid            

limits.      

   

7.3      Criteria used in the Decision Making Process    

  

7.3.1   Durham County Council will identify those businesses that meet the qualifying 

criteria and write to them and / or require a written application form.  

 

7.3.2  The Support for Pubs relief is subject to de minimis State Aid rules, therefore 

any applicant or business where the relief is applied to will be required to 

confirm that the award of this relief does not contravene State Aid rules. There 

is currently a ceiling of 200,000 Euros of de minimis aid that can be granted 

over a three year rolling period. 

 

7.3.3   Durham County Council will notify the applicant of the decision in writing            

and where the relief is refused, an explanation of the reasons why will be 

given.  

Page 134



  

7.3.4   Durham County Council will not consider applications where the customer            

has failed to provide information within the timescales provided to them and 

will notify the customer in writing that the application has been refused.  

   

7.4     Period of Support for Pubs    

  

7.4.1  The relief will only be applicable for the financial years 2017/18 and 2018/19.       

  

8         Business Rates – Local Discretionary Relief Scheme  

  

8.1  Legislation  

  

8.1.1  In the March 2017 Budget the Government announced the establishment of a 

discretionary fund over four years, from 2017/18, to support those businesses 

that face the steepest increases in their business rates bills because of the 

2017 revaluation.    

  

8.1.2  The Government has used the increase in rateable values for those 

businesses valued up to £200,000 (small and medium sized businesses) to 

distribute funding to support Billing Authorities in implementing their local 

schemes.  The funding provided to local authorities reduces year on year, with 

the expectation that the local discretionary relief provided reduces in line.  

  

8.1.2   Billing authorities have been provided with a share of the funding to develop 

their own Local Discretionary Relief Scheme to deliver targeted support to the 

most hard-pressed ratepayers in their area. Funding cannot be carried over 

between years and any overspend against this funding being borne locally.  

  

8.1.3  The discretionary scheme will be administered through existing discretionary 

powers under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.  

   

8.2      Properties that will Benefit from this Relief   

  

8.2.1     Properties with a rateable value of less than £200,000 (i.e. small and 

medium sized businesses) that have had an increase in rateable value 

following the 2017 revaluation.   

  

8.2.2     Properties where the ratepayer was liable for business rates on 31 March 

2017 and continues to remain liable for business rates i.e. those small and 

medium sized businesses adversely impacted by the business rates 

revaluation and as a result have seen a net increase of over £600 in their 

rates bill.  

  

8.2.3     Properties that continue to meet the above criteria will receive the following 

discounts:  

               

              2017/18 - 60% of the increase above £600;  

              2018/19 - 27% of the increase above £600;  

              2019/20 - 15% of the increase above £600;  

Page 135



              2020/21 - 5% of the increase above £600.     

  

8.2.4     The amount of relief awarded may be reviewed in year and may be revised 

depending upon take up and the impact of appeals, to ensure the total 

amount of government grant received by Durham County Council is awarded 

to support local businesses.   

   

8.3      Criteria used in the Decision Making Process    

  

8.3.1     Durham County Council will identify those businesses that meet the 

qualifying criteria and write to them and / or require a written application 

form.  

  

8.3.2     The local discretionary relief is subject to de minimis State Aid rules, 

therefore any applicant or business where the relief is applied to will be 

required to confirm that the award of this relief does not contravene State Aid 

rules. There is currently a ceiling of 200,000 Euros of de minimis aid that can 

be granted over a three year rolling period.  

 

8.3.3     Durham County Council will notify the applicant of the decision in writing 

where the relief is refused, an explanation of the reasons why will be given.  

  

8.3.4     Durham County Council will not consider applications where the customer 

has failed to provide information within the timescales provided to them and 

will notify the customer in writing that the application has been refused.  

  

8.3.5  Durham County Council will only apply the relief to those ratepayers 

becoming eligible due to a reduction in rateable value in the 2010 rating list 

where those reductions are agreed or settled on or before 30 September 

2018.  

   

8.4       Period of Local Discretionary Relief    

  

8.4.1     Ratepayers may remain in the local discretionary relief scheme for either             

four years or until the increase in rate liability (impact of the revaluation in 

April 2017) falls below £600.   

  

8.4.2     Eligibility will be lost following a change in the person liable to pay              

business rates.  

  

8.4.3    Eligibility will be lost if the property becomes vacant or becomes occupied by 

a charity or Community Amateur Sports Club.                  

       

9       Hardship Relief for Business Rates        

  

9.1     Legislation  

  

9.1.1  The provisions are set out in Section 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 

1988. Councils have the power to reduce or remit the business rate charge 

where it considers that ‘hardship’ would otherwise be caused to the ratepayer. 

Page 136



Hardship relief for non-domestic property is intended to provide short term 

assistance to a business suffering unexpected hardship, financial, or 

otherwise, arising as a result of exceptional circumstances or short term crisis 

beyond the business’ control and outside of the normal risks associated with 

running a business of that type, to the extent that the viability of the business 

would be threatened if an award were not made. As the Hardship Relief 

scheme covers unforeseen events, it is not possible to offer precise 

definitions. However, a 'crisis' would have to result in a serious loss of trade or 

have a major effect on the services that can be provided.  

  

9.1.2  'Exceptional circumstances' will usually be circumstances that came from 

outside the business or organisation and are beyond the normal risks faced by 

businesses and cannot be foreseen or avoided. The effect of strikes within a 

business or organisation, increased running costs and increased competition 

would not be considered as 'exceptional circumstances' as they are normal 

business risks.  

   

9.2    Criteria Used in the Decision Making Process  

  

9.2.1  Applications to reduce or remit the business rate charge will only be 

considered where the Council is satisfied that the ratepayer would otherwise 

sustain hardship if no award was made and that it is reasonable to grant relief 

having regard to the interest of council tax payers who are affected by 

decisions under this section. This is because 50% of the cost of exercising 

this power has to be funded by the Council through general fund expenditure.  

  

9.2.2  Applications for hardship will be examined on a case by case basis and each 

application will be assessed on its individual merits. Other issues or 

requirements will also be considered in relation to the application as they arise 

including:   

  

• All applications should be made in writing from the ratepayer, their 

advocate/appointee or a recognised third party acting on their behalf, 

preferably using the relevant form, and should contain the necessary 

information to substantiate the request.   

  

• All applications are only intended as short term assistance and will not 

extend beyond the current financial year, and should not be considered as 

a way of reducing Business Rate Liability indefinitely.   

  

• Government guidance advises that remission of Business Rates on the 

grounds of hardship should be the exception rather than the rule.   

  

• The financial interests of the council tax payers will not be the sole 

overriding factor e.g. impact on employment and amenities provision will 

also be taken into account.  

  

• The test of 'hardship' is not confined strictly to financial hardship - all 
relevant factors affecting the ability of a business to meet its liability for 
rates are taken into account where readily available. Where the granting of 

Page 137



relief will have an adverse effect on the financial interests of the council tax 
payers, relief may still be granted if the case for relief on balance 
outweighs the costs to taxpayers.  

  

• The potential amount of any relief may in some cases constitute state aid 

and therefore adherence to EU regulations must be followed.   

  

• The test of hardship will include an assessment of the ratepayer’s 

individual accounts to verify that the payment of rates would cause 

hardship.   

  

• The assessment of the accounts will identify the cause of the business 

failings and a simple accounting calculation will be carried out as follows:   

  

 % of Rates to Sales;   

 % of Rates to Gross Profit;   

 % of Rates to Expenditure; 

 Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities;  

 Ratio of Current Assets Less Stock to Current Liabilities.   

  

• Relief will normally only be awarded retrospectively. However, where you 

can show that the circumstances will remain the same for a period up to 

the end of the current financial year relief may be award for the remainder 

of the year.  

  

• It is unlikely that Hardship Relief would be granted in respect of an empty 

property or where there is little expectation of economic survival.  
  

• It is expected that businesses should have taken prompt action to mitigate 

any factors giving rise to hardship. Examples of mitigating actions may 

include seeking business advice, discounts and promotions, reviewing 

pricing, extending the range of stock or services, negotiating with creditors 

etc. Applications may be declined in circumstances where the business is 

unable to demonstrate that it is taking reasonable steps to alleviate the 

hardship.  

    

9.3    Period of Hardship Relief   

  

9.3.1  In all cases relief will end in the following circumstances:   

  

• At the end of a financial year;   

• All or part of the unoccupied area becoming occupied;   

• A change of liable person;   

• The property becomes empty or is used for a different purpose, or it 

becomes occupied;   

• The ratepayer enters any form of formal insolvency;   

Page 138



• The ratepayer’s financial circumstances significantly change. The rate 

payer must inform the council if their circumstance change, e.g. change in 

rateable value. Circumstances may also be reviewed by the Council 

periodically where awards are made to confirm hardship persists.   

9.3.2   From the assessment of the above criteria, the Council will determine if the 

business is suffering from financial hardship due to the payment of Business 

Rates. If hardship relief is granted, applicants will be entitled to make further 

submissions in subsequent years. In the event of successive applications, 

evidence from an accountant or other professional adviser regarding the long-

term viability of the business may be required.  

    

9.4  Examples of Appropriate Circumstances   

  

9.4.1   The following examples indicate circumstances where it may be appropriate to 
award relief. They are included in this policy in the form of broad general 
guidelines and are not intended to be prescriptive: 

  

• Without rate relief the business will close and deprive local residents of an 

essential service and a source of significant local employment.  

  

• The ratepayer’s business has been detrimentally affected by 

circumstances beyond the ratepayer’s control and that do not constitute 

part of the normal risks in running a business of that nature (e.g. a natural 

disaster, an unusual or uncontrollable event in the neighbourhood of the 

business such as a fire making the immediate area of the business 

unsafe).   

  

  N.B. in addition, it must be in the interest of the community as a whole for  

Hardship relief to be granted.   

   

9.5    Claiming a Reduction due to Hardship   

  

9.5.1  A claim must be made on an approved application form. This application form 

and any supporting information should be completed and returned to:   

  

  Durham County Council  

Revenues and Benefits  

PO Box 238  

Stanley  

County Durham   

DH8 1FP  

  

9.5.2 It is the responsibility of the ratepayer applying for relief to provide sufficient  

information and documentary evidence to support their applications. If the 

ratepayer applying does not or will not provide the required evidence, we will 

still consider the application but only on the basis of the information and 

evidence provided.  

  

Page 139



9.6    The Decision Making Process  

  

9.6.1 Upon receipt of a written application form, all supporting information must be             

included for consideration.  

  

• Initial applications will be considered by Assessment & Awards Team 
Leader (Business Rates). These will include review sheet, with findings 
and financial implications and initial recommendations.  

• Recommendations will then be forwarded to Assistant Assessments & 
Awards Manager via the Assessment & Awards Team Leader (Business 
Rates).  

• These will then be forwarded to Head of Finance and Transactional 
Services for approval / refusal.  

• Once a decision has been approved the ratepayer will be advised in 
writing of the decision.   

  

9.7   Review of Decision   

  

9.7.1  Under the Local Government Finance Act 1988, there is no right of appeal 

against the Council’s use of discretionary powers. However, on individual  

discounts, the Council will accept a customer’s request from a ratepayer for a 

re-determination of its decision.  

  

• Re-determination of the decision will be by the Corporate Director.  

• The Council will consider whether the ratepayer has provided any 

additional information that will justify a change to its original decision.  

  

The Council will notify the ratepayer of its decision within 21 days of receiving 

a request for a redetermination.  

  

Page 140



 

Appendix 12:   
Durham County Council Annual Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19                             

 
Summary 
 
In accordance with statutory guidance and the Council’s Financial Procedure rules, 
this report presents the proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19, the 
Annual Investment Strategy, Prudential Indicators, Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy and Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices (Annex 1). 
 
A glossary of terms is provided at the end of the report. 
 
Background 
 
Treasury management is defined as ‘the management of the local authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions, the effective control of the risks associated with those activities and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks’. 

 
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management 
operation is to ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies 
being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before 
considering optimising investment return. 

 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital programme. The capital programme provides a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to 
ensure the Council can meet its capital spending requirements. The management of 
longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, utilising longer term 
cash flow surpluses and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured 
to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 
 
Reporting Requirements 
 
The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the 
Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring adequate monitoring of the 
Council’s capital expenditure plans and its Prudential Indicators (PIs). This requires 
Members to approve the following reports, as a minimum: 
 
1. An annual Treasury Management Strategy in advance of the year (i.e. this 

report) which includes: 
 

 Capital financing plans (including Prudential Indicators) 

 Annual Investment Strategy 2018/19 

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 

 Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices 
 

2. A mid-year Treasury Management Review - this updates Members on the 
progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, 
and reports on any policies requiring revision (2017/18 mid-year review 
reported to the County Council on 6 December 2017). 

Page 141



 

 
3. A Treasury Management Outturn Report following the end of the year 

describing the actual activity for the year in comparison to the annual Treasury 
Management Strategy (2016/17 Outturn reported to the County Council on 20 
September 2017). 

 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 
 
This report covers the following issues in respect of 2018/19: 
 

i. Current treasury position 
ii. Capital financing plans (including Prudential and Treasury Indicators) 
iii. Borrowing strategy 
iv. Municipal Bond Agency 
v. Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
vi. Debt rescheduling 
vii. Annual Investment Strategy 
viii. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy 
ix. Training 
x. Policy on use of external advisers 

 
These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, Communities and Local Government (CLG) MRP Guidance, 
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and Communities and Local Government 
Investment Guidance. 
 

i. Current Treasury Position 
 
The table below shows the Council’s position as at 31 December 2017, with 
comparators for 31 March 2017 and a forecast position for 31 March 2018: 
 

 31-Mar-17  

 
(£m) 

Average 
Rate  
(%) 

31-Dec-17  

 
(£m) 

Average 
Rate  
(%) 

31-Mar-18  

 
(£m) 

Average 
Rate  
(%) 

Borrowing 255.633 3.96 280.620 3.89 280.613 3.89 

Investments 174.630 0.53 185.248 0.57 160.000 0.57 

Net Debt 81.003  95.372  120.613  

 
It is anticipated that borrowing will increase by March 2018 and investment levels 
reduce slightly, thus increasing net debt. 
 

ii. Capital Financing Plans 
 
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity. The revenue consequences of capital expenditure, particularly the 
unsupported capital expenditure, will need to be paid for from the Council’s own 
resources. This capital expenditure can be paid for immediately by applying capital 
resources such as capital receipts, capital grants and revenue resources, however if 
these resources are insufficient, any residual capital expenditure will increase the 
Council’s borrowing need. 
 
The following Prudential Indicators provide an overview and assist members in 
reviewing plans and performance. 

Page 142



 

 
Prudential Indicator 1 – Estimate of Capital Expenditure 
This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans; 
those agreed previously and those forming part of this budget cycle.  
 
The table below summarises the annual capital expenditure plans and how the 
expenditure is due to be financed. Any shortfall of resources results in a funding 
need i.e. borrowing: 
 

Capital Expenditure 
 

2016/17 
Actual 

2017/18 
Budget 

2018/19 
Estimate 

2019/20 
Estimate 

2020/21 
Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Capital Expenditure 107.141 111.383 112.734 116.358 17.824 
Other LTL 2.968 8.691 7.339 6.584 8.148 

Financed by:      

Capital receipts 7.739 17.591 22.439 10.000 0 

Capital grants and 
contributions 

47.150 51.858 35.867 38.066 0 

Revenue and reserves 20.397 4.864 14.446 33.516 0 

Net financing need 
for the year 

34.823 45.761 47.321 41.360 25.972 

 
Prudential Indicator 2 – Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
The CFR is the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has yet to be paid 
for. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need. Any 
capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the 
CFR. 
 
The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is 
a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line 
with each asset’s life. 
 
The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).  
Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, 
these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not required 
to separately borrow for these schemes. 
 

 2016/17 
Actual 

2017/18 
Budget 

2018/19 
Estimate 

2019/20 
Estimate 

2020/21 
Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

CFR 431.641 462.001 492.152 514.853 520.724 

Movement in CFR 
 

21.234 30.360 30.151 22.701 5.871 

 

Net financing need 
for the year  

34.823 
 

45.761 47.321 41.360 25.972 

Less MRP/ VRP and 
other financing 
movements 

-13.589 
 

-15.401 -17.170 -18.659 -20.101 

Movement in CFR 21.234 30.360 30.151 22.701 5.871 

 
 

Page 143



 

Prudential Indicator 3 - Operational Boundary 
This is the limit beyond which external borrowing is not normally expected to exceed. 
In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher 
depending on the levels of actual borrowing. 
  

Operational boundary  2017/18 
Revised 

2018/19 
Estimate 

2019/20 
Estimate 

2020/21 
Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m 

Debt 411.000 440.000 462.000 468.000 

Other long term liabilities 52.000 53.000 53.000 53.000 

Total 463.000 493.000 515.000 521.000 

 
Prudential Indicator 4 - Authorised Limit 
This represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing and is a statutory limit 
determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003.  
 
This represents a limit beyond which external borrowing is prohibited, and this limit 
needs to be set or revised by full Council. It reflects the level of external borrowing 
which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in 
the longer term. 
 

  Authorised limit  2017/18 
Revised 

2018/19 
Estimate 

2019/20 
Estimate 

2020/21 
Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m 

Debt 461.000 490.000 512.000 518.000 

Other long term liabilities 55.000 56.000 56.000 56.000 

Total 516.000 546.000 568.000 574.000 

 
Prudential Indicator 5 – Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 
 
The objective is to keep external debt within sustainable and prudent limits and 
ensure that in the medium term, debt is only used for a capital purpose. This is 
undertaken by a comparison of the gross debt with the CFR. To ensure that, over the 
medium term, gross borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, borrowing should 
not, except in the short-term, exceed the CFR for the previous year plus the 
cumulative increases in CFR for the current year and next two financial years. The 
Council has complied with this requirement as shown in the following table, which 
shows gross borrowing is less than the CFR: 
 

 Position at 
31 Mar 2017 
(£ million) 

Estimated 
Position at 
31 Mar 2018 
(£ million) 

Gross Borrowing* 303.511 331.653 

   

CFR as at 31 March (previous year): 410.407 431.641 

Add: Increase in CFR current year 21.234 30.360 

Add: Increase in CFR + 1 year 30.360 30.151 

Add: Increase in CFR + 2 year 30.151 22.701 

Equals: CFR comparator for gross borrowing 492.152 514.853 

*includes PFI and finance lease liabilities on balance sheet 
 

Page 144



 

 
Current Portfolio Position 
The Council’s treasury portfolio position as at 31 March 2017 and projections up to 
2020/21 are summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt (the 
treasury management operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need 
(CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.  
 

 2016/17 
Actual 

2017/18 
Estimate 

2018/19 
Estimate 

2019/20 
Estimate 

2020/21 
Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Debt at 1 April  245.623 255.633 280.613 295.597 308.579 

Expected change in debt 10.010 24.980 14.984 12.982 14.924 

Other long-term liabilities 49.304 47.878 51.040 51.863 51.248 

Expected change in other 
long-term liabilities 

-1.426 3.162 0.823 -0.615 0.239 
 

Gross debt at 31 March  303.511 331.653 347.460 359.827 374.990 

CFR 431.641 462.001 492.152 514.853 520.724 

Under borrowing 128.130 130.348 144.692 155.026 145.734 

   
The Corporate Director of Resources confirms that the Council complied with this 
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the 
future. This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the 
proposals in this budget report. 
 
Affordability Prudential Indicators 
 
The previous indicators cover overall capital and control of borrowing, but further 
indicators are used to assess the affordability of the capital investment plans. These 
provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s 
overall finances. 
 
Prudential Indicator 6 - Actual and estimates of the ratio of financing costs to 
net revenue stream 
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term 
obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. 
 

 2016/17 
Actual 

2017/18 
Budget 

2018/19 
Estimate 

2019/20 
Estimate 

2020/21  
Estimate 

 % % % % % 

Ratio of financing costs to 
net revenue stream 

5.46 6.89 7.74 8.38 8.75 

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in 
this budget report. 
 
Treasury Management Indicators 
 
There are three debt related treasury activity limits. The purpose of these are to 
restrain the activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby managing 
risk and reducing the impact of any adverse movement in interest rates.  However, if 
these are set to be too restrictive they will impair the opportunities to reduce costs / 
improve performance.  The indicators are: 
 

Page 145



 

 Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum limit 
for variable interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments  

 Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure.  This is similar to the previous 
indicator and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates; 

 Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the 
Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are 
required for upper and lower limits.   

 
The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and limits: 
 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Interest rate Exposures 

 Upper Upper Upper 

Limits on fixed interest rates based on net debt 100% 100% 100% 

Limits on variable interest rates based on net 
debt 

30% 30% 30% 

Maturity Structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2018/19 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 40% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 60% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 80% 

10 years to 20 years 0% 100% 

20 years to 30 years 0% 100% 

30 years to 40 years 0% 100% 

40 years and above 0% 100% 

Page 146



 

 

Maturity Structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2018/19 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 10% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 30% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 40% 

10 years to 20 years 0% 50% 

20 years to 30 years 0% 70% 

30 years to 40 years 0% 70% 

40 years and above 0% 70% 

 
iii. Borrowing Strategy 

 
The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the CFR), has not been fully funded with loan debt as 
cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a 
temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and 
counterparty risk remains an issue which needs to be considered. 

 
Against this background and the risks within economic forecasts, caution will be 
adopted with the 2018/19 treasury operations. The Corporate Director Resources will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances. Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision 
making body at the next available opportunity. 
 

iv. Municipal Bond Agency 
 
It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local authorities 
in the future.  The Agency hopes that the borrowing rates will be lower than those 
offered by the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).  The Council may make use of this 
new source of borrowing as and when appropriate. 

 
v. Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 

 
The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs, purely to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance 
will be made within approved CFR estimates and following careful consideration, in 
order to demonstrate value for money and ensure the security of such funds.  
 
Any risks associated with borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism.  
 

vi. Debt Rescheduling 
 

As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed 
interest rates, there may be opportunities to generate savings by switching from long 
term debt to short term debt.  Advantages of debt rescheduling would include:  
 
 generating cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 

 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy; 

Page 147



 

 enhancing the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/ or the 
balance of volatility). 

 
However, these savings will need to be considered in light of the current treasury 
position and the cost of debt repayments (i.e. premiums). 
 
Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for making 
savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as short 
term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.   
 
All rescheduling will be reported to the relevant Committee, at the earliest meeting 
following its action. 
 

vii. Annual Investment Strategy 2018/19 
 

The Council has regard to the CLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments 
(“the Guidance”) and the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in 
Public Services and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).   
 
In accordance with the above guidance from the CLG and CIPFA, and in order to 
minimise the risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit 
criteria in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also 
enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. 
 
As with previous practice, ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an 
institution and that it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial 
sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political 
environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of 
information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To this end the Council will 
engage with its advisers to maintain a monitor on market pricing (e.g. “credit default 
swaps”) and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.  
 
Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other 
such information pertaining to the banking sector, in order to establish the most 
robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 
 
Investment instruments which are identified for use in the financial year are listed in 
Annex 2 under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments categories.  
 
Investment Risk Benchmarking 
 
The following benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so they may be breached 
from time to time depending on movements in interest rates and counterparty criteria.  
The purpose of the benchmark is that officers will monitor the current and trend position 
and amend the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions change. Any breach of 
the benchmarks will be reported with supporting reasons in the mid-year or annual 
report. 
 

Security - the Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current portfolio, 
when compared to the historic default tables, is: 

 0.08% historic risk of default when compared to the whole portfolio. 
 

Page 148



 

Liquidity - the Council seeks to maintain: 
 

 Bank overdraft - £250,000 

 Adequate liquid short term deposits available with a week’s notice 

 Weighted average life benchmark is expected to be 6 months, with a 
maximum of 9 months 

Yield – the local measure of yield benchmark: 
 

 Investments – internal returns above the 7 day LIBID rate 
 
Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit - total principal funds invested for greater 
than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements 
and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability 
of funds after each year-end. 

 
The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit:  
 

Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days 

£m 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Principal sums invested > 365 days £75m £75m £75m 

 
Creditworthiness Policy 
The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security of its 
investments; although the yield or return on the investment is also a key 
consideration.  After this main principle, the Council will ensure that: 
 

 it maintains a policy covering the categories of investment types it will invest 
in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security and 
monitoring their security.  This is set out in the specified and non-specified 
investment sections below; and 

 it has sufficient liquidity in its investments. For this purpose it will set out 
procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds may 
prudently be committed. These procedures also apply to the Council’s 
prudential indicators covering the maximum principal sums invested. 

   
The Corporate Director of Resources will maintain a counterparty list in compliance 
with the following criteria, will revise the criteria, and submit to full Council for 
approval as necessary. This criteria provides an overall pool of counterparties 
considered to be high quality which the Council may use, rather than defining what 
types of investment instruments are to be used.  
  
Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than 
just primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give 
undue weight to only one agency’s ratings. 
 
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria used by the Council will be a short term 
rating (Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be 
occasions when the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally 
lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these instances, consideration will 

Page 149



 

be given to the whole range of ratings available or other topical market information to 
support their use. 
 
All credit ratings will be monitored regularly. The Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poors) through its use 
of Link’s creditworthiness service.  
 
If a downgrade results in the counterparty/ investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately. 
 
In addition to the use of credit ratings, the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other 
market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in the 
downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

 
Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of the service provided by Link. The 
Council will also use market data and market information, information on sovereign 
support for banks and the credit ratings of that supporting government. 
 
The criteria for providing a pool of high quality investment counterparties (both 
specified and non-specified investments) is: 
 

 Banks 1 – good credit quality. The Council will only use banks which are:  
i. UK banks and/ or 
ii. Non UK banks domiciled in a country which has a minimum sovereign 

long term rating of AA- 
and have, as a minimum, the following credit ratings (where rated): 

 

 Fitch Moody’s Standard & Poors 

Short Term F1 P1 A-1 

Long Term A- A3 A- 

  
(n.b. viability, financial strength and support ratings have been removed and will 
not be considered in choosing counterparties). 

 

 Banks 2 – Part nationalised UK banks - Royal Bank of Scotland. This bank can 
be included if it continues to be part nationalised or meets the ratings in Banks 
1 above. 

 Banks 3 – The Council’s own banker for transactional purposes if the bank falls 
below the above criteria, although in this case, balances will be minimised in 
both monetary size and time. 

 Bank subsidiary and treasury operation.  The Council will use these where the 
parent bank has provided an appropriate guarantee or has the necessary 
ratings outlined above. 

 Building societies. The Council will use societies which: 

i. Meet the ratings for banks outlined above; 

ii. Have assets in excess of £1bn; 

iii. or meet both criteria. 

Page 150



 

 Money market funds  

 Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds  

 UK Government (including gilts and the DMADF) 

 Local authorities, parish councils etc. 

 
Use of additional information other than credit ratings 
 
Additional requirements under the Code require the Council to supplement credit 
rating information. Whilst the above criteria relies primarily on the application of 
credit ratings to provide a pool of appropriate counterparties available for use, 
additional operational market information will be applied before making any specific 
investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties.   
 
This additional market information, for example credit default swaps and negative 
rating watches/ outlooks, will be applied to compare the relative security of differing 
investment counterparties. The relative value of investments will be reviewed in 
relation to the counterparty size to ensure an appropriate ratio. 
 
Time and Monetary Limits applying to Investments  
 
The time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s counterparty list, 
covering specified and non-specified investments, are as follows: 
 

  Long Term 

Rating 

Money Limit Time Limit 

Banks  AA- £50m 2 years 

Banks  A £35m 1 year 

Banks  A- £25m 6 months 

Banks – part-nationalised N/A £60m 2 years 

Banks– Council’s banker A- £25m 3 months 

DMADF/ Treasury Bills AAA unlimited 6 months 

Local Authorities N/A £10m each 5 years 

  Fund Rating Money Limit Time Limit 

Money Market Funds AAA £100m total liquid 

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA £20m each liquid 

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA £20m each liquid 

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA £20m each liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds AAA £10m each liquid 

Property Funds N/A £50m total 

(£25m each) 

Unlimited 

 

Page 151



 

 

viii. MRP Policy Statement 
 

The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires the full 
Council to agree an annual policy for the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).   
 
The MRP is the amount that is set aside each year to provide for the repayment of 
debt.  The regulations require the authority to determine an amount of MRP which it 
considers to be prudent.  The broad aim of a prudent provision is to ensure that debt 
is repaid over a period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over which 
the capital expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of borrowing supported by 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG), reasonably commensurate with the support provided 
through the RSG.  The guidance provides recommended options for the calculation 
of a prudent provision but local authorities have significant discretion in determining 
the level of MRP which they consider to be prudent.   
 
A review of the Council’s MRP policy is being undertaken by Link Asset Services and 
recommendations arising from this will be reported in the Mid-Year Treasury 
Management Review. 
 
It is proposed that the Council adopt an annual MRP policy in line with the following 
principles: 
 

 Existing assets pre 1 April 2008 – MRP will be charged at 2.5% per annum. 

 Capital expenditure post 1 April 2008 – for all assets financed by unsupported 
borrowing, MRP will be charged over the estimated life of the assets. 

 Finance leases/ PFI – the MRP charge will be equal to the principal element of 
the rental or charge that goes to write down the balance sheet liability created 
from such arrangements. 

 
ix. Training 

 

 The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny 
and training will be arranged as required.   

 The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.  

 
x. Policy on use of external advisers 

 
Link Asset Services (formerly Capita Asset Services) are the Council’s treasury 
management advisers and whilst they provide professional support to the internal 
treasury management team, under current market rules and the CIPFA Code of 
Practice, the final decision on treasury matters remains with the Council. This service 
is subject to regular review. 
The range of services provided by the advisers currently includes: 
 

 technical support on treasury matters and capital finance issues; 

 economic and interest rate analysis; 

Page 152



 

 debt services which includes advice on the timing of borrowing; 

 debt rescheduling advice surrounding the existing portfolio; 

 generic investment advice on interest rates, timing and investment 
instruments; 

 credit ratings/ market information service comprising the three main credit 
rating agencies. 

Page 153



 

Annex 1:  Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices                             

 
Treasury Management Policy Statement 
 
This organisation defines its treasury management activities as: The management of 
the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.  
 

This organisation regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk 
to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 
management activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation, and 
any financial instruments entered into to manage these risks.  
 
This organisation acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 
management, and to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement 
techniques, within the context of effective risk management. 
 
Treasury Management Practices 
 
TMP1 Risk management 
 
General statement 

This organisation regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be 
the security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that robust due 
diligence procedures cover all external investment.  

The responsible officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the 
identification, management and control of treasury management risk, will report at 
least annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of 
urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the 
organisation’s objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set 
out in TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements.  
 
In respect of each of the following risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure 
compliance with these objectives are set out in the schedule to this document. 
 
[1] credit and counterparty risk management 
This organisation regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be 
the security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its 
counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with 
whom funds may be deposited, and will limit its investment activities to the 
instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 Approved instruments, 
methods and techniques and listed in the schedule to this document. It also 
recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty 
policy in respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom it 
may enter into other financing or derivative arrangements. 
 
 
 

Page 154



 

[2] liquidity risk management 
This organisation will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent 
attitude towards organisations with whom funds may be deposited, and will limit its 
treasury management investment activities to the instruments, methods and 
techniques referred to in TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques and 
listed in the schedule to this document. It also recognises the need to have, and will 
therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in respect of those organisations 
from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other financing or derivative 
arrangements. 
 
[3] interest rate risk management 
This organisation will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view 
to containing its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with 
the amounts provided in its budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with 
TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements. 
It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved instruments, methods and 
techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at 
the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of 
unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest 
rates. This should be the subject to the consideration and, if required, approval of 
any policy or budgetary implications. 
It will ensure that any hedging tools such as derivatives are only used for the 
management of risk and the prudent management of financial affairs and that the 
policy for the use of derivatives is clearly detailed in the annual strategy. 
 
[4] exchange rate risk management 
It will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any 
detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels. 
 
[5] inflation risk management 
The organisation will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and 
liabilities to inflation, and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of 
the whole organisation’s inflation exposures. 
 
[6] refinancing risk management 
This organisation will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership 
arrangements are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of 
the monies so raised are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal 
or refinancing, if required, which are competitive and as favourable to the 
organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of market conditions 
prevailing at the time. 
It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in 
such a manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid overreliance on any one 
source of funding if this might jeopardise achievement of the above. 
 
[7] legal and regulatory risk management 
This organisation will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply 
with its statutory powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such 
compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities. In 
framing its credit and counterparty policy under TMP1[1] credit and counterparty risk 
management, it will ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, authority 
and compliance in respect of the transactions they may effect with the organisation, 
particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged. 

Page 155



 

This organisation recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact 
on its treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, 
will seek to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation. 
 
[8] fraud, error and corruption, and contingency management 
This organisation will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may 
expose it to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its 
treasury management dealings. Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and 
procedures, and will maintain effective contingency management arrangements, to 
these ends. 
 
[9] price risk management 
This organisation will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies 
and objectives will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value 
of the principal sums it invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the 
effects of such fluctuations. 
 
 
TMP2 Performance measurement 
 
This organisation is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its treasury 
management activities, and to the use of performance methodology in support of that 
aim, within the framework set out in its treasury management policy statement. 
 
Accordingly, the treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing 
analysis of the value it adds in support of the organisation’s stated business or 
service objectives. It will be the subject of regular examination of alternative methods 
of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal or other grant or subsidy incentives, 
and of the scope for other potential improvements.  
 
TMP3 Decision making and analysis 
 
This organisation will maintain full records of its treasury management decisions, and 
of the processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the 
purposes of learning from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps 
were taken to ensure that all issues relevant to those decisions were taken into 
account at the time.  
 
TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques 
 
This organisation will undertake its treasury management activities by employing 
only those instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the schedule to this 
document, and within the limits and parameters defined in TMP1 Risk management. 
 
Where this organisation intends to use derivative instruments for the management of 
risks, these will be limited to those set out in its annual treasury strategy. The 
organisation will seek proper advice and will consider that advice when entering into 
arrangements to use such products to ensure that it fully understands those 
products. 
 
 
 

Page 156



 

TMP5 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and dealing 
arrangements 
 
This organisation considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and 
monitoring of its treasury management activities, for the reduction of the risk of fraud 
or error, and for the pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are 
structured and managed in a fully integrated manner, and that there is at all times a 
clarity of treasury management responsibilities. 
 
The principle on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged 
with setting treasury management policies and those charged with implementing and 
controlling these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and transmission 
of funds, the recording and administering of treasury management decisions, and the 
audit and review of the treasury management function. 
 
If and when this organisation intends, as a result of lack of resources or other 
circumstances, to depart from these principles, the responsible officer will ensure 
that the reasons are properly reported in accordance with TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements, and the implications 
properly considered and evaluated. 
 
The responsible officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the 
responsibilities for each post engaged in treasury management, and the 
arrangements for absence cover. The responsible officer will also ensure that at all 
times those engaged in treasury management will follow the policies and procedures 
set out. The present arrangements are detailed in the schedule to this document. 
 
The responsible officer will ensure there is proper documentation for all deals and 
transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds.  
 
The delegations to the responsible officer in respect of treasury management are set 
out in the schedule to this document. The responsible officer will fulfil all such 
responsibilities in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs 
and, if a CIPFA member, the Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury 
Management. 
 
TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements 
 
This organisation will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its treasury management policies; on the effects of decisions 
taken and transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; on the implications of 
changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or other 
factors affecting its treasury management activities; and on the performance of the 
treasury management function. 
As a minimum: 
 
The organisation (i.e. full Council) will receive: 

 an annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year 

 a mid-year review 

 an annual report on the performance of the treasury management function, on 
the effects of the decisions taken and the transactions executed in the past 
year, and on any circumstances of non-compliance with the organisation’s 
treasury management policy statement and TMPs. 

Page 157



 

 
The committee/board/council will receive regular monitoring reports on treasury 
management activities and risks. 
 
The body responsible for scrutiny, such an audit or scrutiny committee, will have 
responsibility for the scrutiny of treasury management policies and practices. 
 
TMP7 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements 
 
The responsible officer will prepare, and this organisation will approve and, if 
necessary, from time to time will amend, an annual budget for treasury management, 
which will bring together all of the costs involved in running the treasury 
management function, together with associated income. The matters to be included 
in the budget will at minimum be those required by statute or regulation, together 
with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP1 Risk management, 
TMP2 Performance measurement, and TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and 
techniques. The responsible officer will exercise effective controls over this budget, 
and will report upon and recommend any changes required in accordance with 
TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements. 
 
This organisation will account for its treasury management activities, for decisions 
made and transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting 
practices and standards, and with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for 
the time being. 
 
TMP8 Cash and cash flow management 
 
Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the 
hands of this organisation will be under the control of the responsible officer, and will 
be aggregated for cash flow and investment management purposes. Cash flow 
projections will be prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the responsible officer 
will ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring compliance with 
TMP1[1] liquidity risk management.  
 
TMP9 Money laundering 
 
This organisation is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an 
attempt to involve it in a transaction involving the laundering of money. Accordingly, 
it will maintain procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties 
and reporting suspicions, and will ensure that staff involved in this are properly 
trained.  
 
TMP10 Training and qualifications 
 
This organisation recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the 
treasury management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them. It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are 
both capable and experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to 
acquire and maintain an appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills. The 
responsible officer will recommend and implement the necessary arrangements. 
The responsible officer will ensure that board/council members tasked with treasury 
management responsibilities, including those responsible for scrutiny, have access 
to training relevant to their needs and those responsibilities. 

Page 158



 

Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure 
that they have the necessary skills to complete their role effectively. 
 
TMP11 Use of external service providers 
 
This organisation recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times. It recognises that there may be potential 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services, in order to 
acquire access to specialist skills and resources. When it employs such service 
providers, it will ensure it does so for reasons which have been submitted to a full 
evaluation of the costs and benefits. It will also ensure that the terms of their 
appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 
agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. And it will ensure, where 
feasible and necessary, that a spread of service providers is used, to avoid 
overreliance on one or a small number of companies. Where services are subject to 
formal tender or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will always be 
observed. The monitoring of suc arrangements rests with the responsible officer. 
 
TMP12 Corporate governance 
 
This organisation is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance 
throughout its businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and 
practices by which this can be achieved. Accordingly, the treasury management 
function and its activities will be undertaken with openness and transparency, 
honesty, integrity and accountability. 
 
This organisation has adopted and has implemented the key principles of the Code. 
This, together with the other arrangements detailed in the schedule to this document, 
are considered vital to the achievement of proper corporate governance in treasury 
management, and the responsible officer will monitor and, if and when necessary, 
report upon the effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
 

Page 159



 

 

Annex 2:  Investment Instruments identified for use in 2018/19 

 
Specified Investments  
 
These investments are sterling investments of not more than one-year maturity, or 
those which could be for a longer period but where the Council has the right to be 
repaid within 12 months if it wishes. These are considered to be low risk assets 
where the possibility of loss of principal or investment income is small. These would 
include sterling investments, which would not be defined as capital expenditure, with: 
 

 The UK Government – e.g. the Debt Management Account deposit facility, UK 
treasury bills or gilts with less than one year to maturity. 

 Term deposits with a body that is considered of a high credit quality e.g. UK 
banks and building societies. 

 Global bonds of less than one year’s duration 

 A local authority, parish council or community council. 

 Certificates of Deposit. 

 Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market funds) that have been 
awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency.  

 
Non-Specified Investments 
 
These are investments which do not meet the specified criteria as outlined above. 
The Council is therefore required to examine non-specified investments in more 
detail. The identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other 
investments and the maximum limits to be applied are set out below.   
 
Non specified investments would include any sterling investments in the following: 
 

 Gilt edged securities with a maturity of greater than one year.  
These are Government bonds and so provide the highest security of interest 
and the repayment of principal on maturity.  

 The Council’s own banker if it fails to meet the basic credit criteria.   
In this instance balances will be minimised as far as is possible. 

 Equity shareholding in businesses of not more than £30 million in total, and £15 
million in any one company. 
This will be after undertaking significant due diligence checks only. It will 
facilitate a more balanced approach to investing by diversifying the investment 
portfolio and reducing concentration risk. 

 Local businesses, in order to encourage regeneration and economic 
development in the area. 
Any new investments will only be agreed after significant due diligence checks 
have been carried out. 

 Property funds of not more than £50 million in total and £25 million in an 
individual fund. 

 

Page 160



 

Glossary of Terms 
 
Authorised Limit 
This is the upper limit on the level of gross external indebtedness, which must not be 
breached without council approval. It reflects the level of borrowing, which while not 
desired, could be afforded but may not be sustainable. Any breach must be reported 
to the executive decision-making body, indicating the reason for the breach and the 
corrective action undertaken or required to be taken. 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
The capital financing requirement (CFR) replaced the ‘credit ceiling’ measure of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. It measures an authority’s underlying 
need to borrow or finance by other long-term liabilities for a capital purpose.  
 
It represents the amount of capital expenditure that has not yet been resourced 
absolutely, whether at the point of spend (by capital receipts, capital 
grants/contributions or from revenue income), or over the longer term (by prudent 
minimum revenue provision (MRP) or voluntary application of capital receipts for 
debt repayment etc). Alternatively it means, capital expenditure incurred but not yet 
paid for.  
 
Constant Net Asset Value Money Market Fund (CNAV) 
Are funds where the underlying securities are all priced on an amortised cost basis 
(i.e at the level they were originally purchased at), thus allowing funds to maintain a 
unit price of £1. Going forward this category will only relate to funds which invest in 
government securities.  
 
Credit Default Swaps (CDS) 
A credit default swap (CDS) is an agreement that the seller of the CDS will 
compensate the buyer in the event of loan default. In the event of default the buyer 
of the CDS receives compensation (usually the face value of the loan), and the seller 
of the CDS takes possession of the defaulted loan. 
 
CDS pricing can be used to gauge the riskiness of corporate and sovereign 
borrowers. 
 
Credit ratings 
A credit rating evaluates the credit worthiness of an issuer of debt, specifically, debt 
issued by a business enterprise such as a corporation or a government. It is an 
evaluation made by a credit rating agency of the debt issuer’s likelihood of default. 
 
Credit ratings are determined by credit ratings agencies. The credit rating represents 
their evaluation of qualitative and quantitative information for a company or 
government; including non-public information obtained by the credit rating agencies 
analysts. 
 
Debt Management Account Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
The Debt Management Office provides the DMADF as part of its cash management 
operations and in the context of a wider series of measures designed to support local 
authorities' cash management.  
 
The DMADF currently offers fixed term deposits. All deposits taken will be placed in, 
and interest paid from, the Debt Management Account. All deposits will also be 

Page 161



 

guaranteed by HM Government and thus have the equivalent of a sovereign triple A 
credit rating.  
 
Financing Costs 
An aggregation of interest charges, interest payable under finance leases and other 
long-term liabilities and MRP, net of interest and investment income. 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
The HRA reflects a statutory obligation to account separately for local authority 
housing provision, as defined particularly in Schedule 4 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. It shows the major elements of housing revenue expenditure – 
maintenance, administration and rent rebates – and capital financing costs, and how 
these are met by rents, subsidy and other income. 
 
iTraxx 
The brand name for the family of credit default swap index products.  
 
London Inter Bank Bid Rate (LIBID) 
The London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) is a bid rate; the rate bid by banks on 
deposits i.e. the rate at which a bank is willing to borrow from other banks. 
 
Low Volativity Net Asset Value Money Market Fund (LVNAV) 
This type of fund is the new format being introduced in Europe. Under this process, 
funds may value at amortised cost any instrument with a maturity of less than 75 
days, but has to use mark-to-market pricing for anything longer than this. So long as 
the overall NAV value does not deviate more than 20bps away from £1, then the 
fund can keep its unit price at £1. However, if it moves outside of this 20bps 
boundary, then the fund has to convert to VNAV pricing basis. This category will 
cover most of the MMFs currently being used. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Statutory charge to the revenue account as an annual provision for the repayment of 
debt associated with expenditure incurred on capital assets. 
 
Money Market Funds 
Money market funds are mutual funds that invest in short-term money market 
instruments.  These funds allow investors to participate in a more diverse and high-
quality portfolio than if they were to invest individually.   
 
Like other mutual funds, each investor in a money market fund is considered a 
shareholder of the investment pool, or a part owner of the fund.  All investors in a 
money market fund have a claim on a pro-rata share of the fund's assets in line with 
the number of ‘shares' or ‘units' owned. 
 
Net Revenue Stream 
The element of a local authority’s budget to be met from government grants and 
local taxpayers. 
 
Non-specified Investments 
These are any investments which do not meet the Specified Investment criteria.   
 
 
 

Page 162

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Credit_default_swap_index


 

Operational Boundary 
This is the most likely, prudent view of the level of gross external indebtedness. It 
encompasses all borrowing, whether for capital or cash flow purposes. 
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) was introduced in the 1990s by the government to 
finance public sector projects. The main aims are to reduce public sector borrowing, 
introduce more innovative ways to provide public services and utilise private sector 
skills and experience to increase the efficiency of the public sector. 
 
Prudential Indicators 
In order to demonstrate that local authorities have fulfilled the objectives of the 
Prudential Code, it sets out a basket of indicators that must be prepared and used. 
The required indicators have to be set, as a minimum, on a three year time frame 
and are designed to support and record local decision-making, rather than be a 
means of comparing authorities.  
 
The purpose is to set these historic and forward looking indicators in a circular 
process and look at the indicators collectively rather than individually in order to 
determine the impact of forward plans for capital or revenue expenditure. For some 
projects and large commitments to capital expenditure a timeframe in excess of 
three years is advisable. 
 
Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) 
The Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) is a statutory body operating within the United 
Kingdom Debt Management Office, an Executive Agency of HM Treasury. 
 
PWLB's function is to lend money from the National Loans Fund to local authorities 
and other prescribed bodies, and to collect the repayments. 
 
Specified Investments 
All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 
one year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. 
 
Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds 
These fund use a range of different asset classes when investing, with a focus on 
money market and short dated fixed income securities and are priced on a Variable 
Net Asset Value (VNAV) basis. Appropriate due diligence will be done before using 
these types of fund. 
 
Variable Net Asset Value Money Market Fund (VNAV) 
Are funds where the underlying securities are priced on a mark-to-market basis each 
day. This pricing is then reflected in the unit price (ie Net Asset Value) which, 
therefore, means that the price will fluctuate each day. The extent of any movement 
will be based on the sort of securities that the fund can invest in. For example, a fund 
that can invest in equities or long dated bonds will show significantly greater levels of 
daily price volatility than a fund that only invests in very short term instruments.  
 
Weighted Average Life 
The average time that deposits are lent out for, weighted by principal amount. 
 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet 
 
7 February 2018 

1 School Admission Arrangements 
 Academic Year 2019/2020  

2 Proposed changes to the 
oversubscription criteria for 
admission to Community and 
Voluntary Controlled Nursery 
Schools and Nursey Units from 1 
September 2018 

 
KEY DECISION: CYPS/02/17 
 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director, Children and Young People's 
Services,  

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People’s Services 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to ask Cabinet to consider and approve 
proposed oversubscription criteria for admission to Community and Voluntary 
Controlled Nursery Schools and Nursery Units from 1 September 2018 to 
take account of the council’s statutory duty to provide 30 hours free childcare 
per week for entitled 3 and 4 year olds; and to ask Cabinet to consider and 
approve the proposed admission arrangements for Community and Voluntary 
Controlled Schools for the 2019/20 academic year.  

 
Background 

 
2 It is a mandatory requirement of the national School Admissions Code that all 

schools must have admission arrangements that clearly set out how children 
will be admitted, including the criteria that will be applied if there are more 
applications than places at the school (oversubscription).  Admission 
arrangements are determined by admission authorities. The Local Authority 
(LA) is the admission authority for Community and Voluntary Controlled 
Schools, while the Governing Body is the admission authority for Voluntary 
Aided and Foundation Schools and the relevant Trust for an Academy or Free 
School.   

 
3 All admission authorities must agree admission arrangements annually.  

Where changes are proposed to admission arrangements the admission 
authority must first consult on those arrangements.  If there are no changes 
proposed they only need to be consulted on at least every 7 years.  

Page 165

Agenda Item 5



 

 Consultation must be for a minimum of 6 weeks and must take place between 
1 October and 31 January of the year before those arrangements are to 
apply.  This consultation period allows parents, other schools, religious 
authorities and the local community to raise any concerns about proposed 
admission arrangements. 

 
4 Stakeholders are consulted on: 
 

i) the number of pupils to be admitted in each year group (the proposed 
admission number); 

ii) the application and administrative procedures for admissions, including 
LA co-ordination with other admission authorities; 

iii) the criteria to be used in the event of over-subscription; 
 

5 There were no changes proposed to Durham’s admission arrangements 
therefore there was no need to consult this year.   Consultation will need to be 
undertaken for future admission arrangements in Autumn 2018 as this will 
start the next 7 year period. 

 
6 On 8 February 2017, Cabinet approved the school admission arrangements 

for the academic year 2018/19.  These arrangements included the 
oversubscription criteria to be applied for admission to Community and 
Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and Nursery Units. 

 
7 Since then, the Government introduced 30 hours free childcare per week for 

entitled 3 and 4 year olds from 1 September 2017. The oversubscription 
criteria agreed on 8 February 2017 did not include how applications for 30 
hours per week places would be offered, therefore consultation was 
undertaken on proposed criteria for 30 hour places. 

 
Consultation on Proposed changes to the Oversubscription criteria for 
Admission to Community and Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and 
Nursery Units from 1 September 2018 
 
8 In a report dated 10 October 2017 (attached as Appendix 2) the Corporate 

Director, Children and Young People’s Services agreed that consultation 
could be carried out on proposed changes to the oversubscription criteria for 
admission to Community and Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and 
Nursery Units from September 2018 to take account of the Council’s statutory 
duty to provide free childcare for 30 hours per week for entitled 3 and 4 year 
olds. 

 
9 A Steering Group was established in Spring 2017 comprising of council 

officers, representatives from Community Nursery Schools and Nursery Units 
and representatives from early years providers in the private and voluntary 
sector.  The proposed oversubscription criteria for admission to Community 
and Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and Nursery Units to take account 
of the new 30 hour childcare places entitlement were agreed by this Steering 
Group.  Consultation on the proposed changes was held between 23 October 
2017 and 1 December 2017 with schools and private providers of Early Years 
Education and Childcare.  Three responses from one Community Primary 
School Nursery Unit were received to the consultation all of which expressed 
concerns that the proposed oversubscription criteria would prevent the school 

Page 166



 

from offering 30 hours per week provision from September 2018 as priority 
continues to be given to 15 hours per week applicants.   They believed that a 
fairer process would be to offer a proportion of places to 30 hours per week 
applicants and a proportion to those requiring 15 hours per week. 

 
10 The rationale for stipulating that preference should be given to 15 hours per 

week applicants is because this is a universal entitlement for all children.   All 
children are entitled to a free early education place the term following their 3rd 
birthday until they transfer to mainstream primary education.   The 30 hours 
per week free childcare is an additional entitlement for working parents.  
Consequently the universal offer of 15 hours per week must take precedence 
over 30 hours per week in the oversubscription criteria. 

 
Consultation for admissions for September 2019/2020 academic year 
 
11 There were no changes proposed to the current admission arrangements for 

Community and Voluntary Controlled schools that required public 
consultation, other than where it is proposed that some schools have a 
reduction in the admission number for the purposes of efficient and effective 
curriculum delivery.  All Governing Bodies/Trusts have considered the 
proposed admission number for their school. The proposed admission 
number for each Community and Voluntary Controlled School is detailed in 
Appendix 3 of this report which Cabinet is asked to approve. The admission 
numbers for Voluntary Aided, Foundation schools, Academies and the UTC, 
South Durham are included for information.  Consultation was undertaken 
between 12 October 2017 and 27 November 2017 on schools where a 
reduction to the admission number was proposed.  Schools have responded 
and the recommended PANs are detailed in Appendix 3. 

 
12 All Governing Bodies/Trusts have also considered and agreed to the co-

ordinated admission schemes that will govern the administrative processes 
for the 2019/20 academic year, see Appendix 4.  These are unchanged from 
last year.  Since a new School Admissions Code was published in December 
2014  all admission authorities in Durham have followed advice issued by the 
Department for Education (DfE) at the same time in relation to the admission 
of summer born children outside of the normal year of entry.  The process is 
detailed in the co-ordinated admission scheme for primary schools in 
Appendix 4.  

 
13 The oversubscription criteria in respect of Community and Voluntary 

Controlled schools, for which no changes are proposed, are as follows: 
 

(a) Infant, Junior and Primary Schools 
 
(i)  Children who are ‘looked after’ or a child who was previously looked 

after but immediately after being looked after because subject of an 
adoption, residence / child arrangement, or special guardianship 
order. 

(ii)  Medical reasons. 
(iii)  Sibling links. 
(iv)  Distance 

 
 

Page 167



 

(b) Secondary Schools 
 
(i)  Children who are ‘looked after’ or a child who was previously looked 

after but immediately after being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, residence / child arrangement, or special guardianship 
order. 

(ii)  Medical reasons. 
(iii)  Sibling links. 
(iv)  Applicants to their nearest school. 
(v)  All other applicants. 

 
Full details of the oversubscription criteria are included in Appendix 4.   

 
Statutory Requirements and Future Implications 
 
14 It is a statutory requirement of all admission authorities that admission 

arrangements for 2019/2020 are determined by 28 February 2018 and these 
must be published on their website not later than 15 March 2018.  The LA 
must receive a copy of the admission arrangements of other admission 
authorities, including Academies, before 15 March 2018 and provide details 
on its website of where these can be viewed.  Information on how to refer 
objections to the Schools’ Adjudicator will also be available on the website. 

 
15 The LA must publish online, with hard copies available for those who do not 

have access to the internet, a composite prospectus for parents by 12 
September 2018, which contains the admission arrangements for each of the 
state-funded schools in the LA area to which parents can apply. 

 
16 The LA would be in breach of a statutory duty if admission arrangements 

were not determined by 28 February 2018 and published on the Council’s 
website by 15 March 2018.   

 
Recommendations 

 
17 Cabinet is asked to agree the proposed oversubscription criteria for 

admission to Community and Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and 
Nursery Units from 1 September 2018 to take account of the council’s 
statutory duty to provide 30 hours free childcare per week for entitled 3 and 4 
year olds as set out in Appendix 2; and to agree the following in respect of 
Community and Voluntary Controlled schools, when determining the 
admission arrangements for 2019/20: 
 
(a) That the proposed admission numbers as recommended in Appendix 3 

be approved. 
 

(b) That the admission arrangements at Appendix 4 be approved. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168



 

 
 

Background Papers 
 
School Admissions Code/Regulations - DfE  
 
 
 
 
 

Contact:  Graeme Plews 
  School Places and Admissions Manager   
                      03000 265 777 

Page 169



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance 
Admissions arrangements can impact on the number of pupils that are offered 
places in schools which is used as a basis for allocating school budgets. 
 
Staffing 
Implications are at school level. 
 
Risk 
The risk to the LA is that there will be a breach of statutory duty imposed on the 
Authority if admission arrangements are not determined by 28 February 2018 and 
published by 15 March 2018. 
 
Equality and Diversity  
The School Admissions Code exists to ensure fairness and equity in school 
admission arrangements.  An Impact Assessment of the admission arrangements on 
specific groups has been undertaken.  There is no evidence of discrimination against 
any groups.  A copy of the Impact Assessment is attached as Appendix 5. 
 
Accommodation 
Relates to best overall use of school buildings. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
None. 
 
Human Rights 
None. 
 
Consultation 
Consultation has been undertaken in accordance with DfE Guidance. 
 
Procurement 
None 
 
Disability Discrimination Act 
None 
 
Legal Implications 
There will be a breach of statutory duty imposed on the Authority if Admission 
Arrangements are not determined by 28 February 201 and published by 15 March 
2018. 

 

Page 170



 

  

Appendix 2 
 

Appendix 2 
 

Page 171



 

 

 

Page 172



 

 

 

Page 173



 

 
 

Page 174



 

 
 

Page 175



 

  Page 176



 

 

 

Page 177



 

 
 

Page 178



Appendix 3 

 

PROPOSED ADMISSION NUMBERS 2019/20 
 

Number 

Community and Voluntary Controlled  
(inc. controlled Church of England - CE -  

and Endowed Parochial - EP) Infant,  
Junior and Primary Schools 

Proposed 
Admission Number 

2019/20 

Recommendation 
to Cabinet 

2000 Ropery Walk Primary 45 Agree 

2001 Middlestone Moor Primary 38 Agree 
2002 Chilton Primary 56 Agree 

2003 North Park Primary 38 Agree 
2004 Seascape Primary  45 Agree 
2005 Pelton Community Primary 55 Agree 

2043 Westlea Primary 38 Agree 

2105 Edmondsley Primary 25 Agree 

2107 Lumley Junior 60 Agree 
2108 Lumley Infant 60 Agree 
2114 West Pelton Primary 15 Agree 
2116 Nettlesworth Primary 15 Agree 

2125 Red Rose Primary 45 Agree 
2126 Fence Houses Woodlea Primary 30 Agree 

2133 Cestria Primary 60 Agree 
2136 Ouston Primary 45 Agree 

2146 Bournmoor Primary 25 Agree 

2185 Cotherstone Primary 12 Agree 

2205 Beamish Primary  12 Agree 

2208 Collierley Primary 28 Agree 

2210 Catchgate Primary 38 Agree 

2212 Annfield Plain Junior 42 Agree 

2213 Annfield Plain Infant 40 Agree 

2217 East Stanley Primary  36 Agree 

2232 Burnside Primary 30 Agree 

2233 Bloemfontein Primary 24 Agree 

2234 Burnopfield Primary 50 Agree 

2257 Shotley Bridge Primary 60 Agree 

2259 Leadgate Primary 30 Agree 

2261 Burnhope Primary 15  Agree 

2266 Castleside Primary 20 Agree 

2269 The Grove Primary 25 Agree 

2272 Delves Lane Primary 50 Agree 

2276 Moorside Primary 26 Agree 
2277 Consett Junior 60 Agree 
2278 Consett Infant 60 Agree 
2301 Hamsterley Primary 7 Agree 
2302 Hunwick Primary 30 Agree 

2307 Tow Law Millennium Primary 20 Agree 

2308 Crook Primary 60 Agree 

2310 Hartside Primary 30 Agree 

2311 Peases West Primary 15 Agree 

2313 Stanley (Crook) Primary 19 Agree 

2316 Sunnybrow Primary 19 Agree  

2318 Howden Le Wear Primary 25  Agree 

Page 179



 

 

2319 Frosterley Community Primary 15 Agree 

2321 Rookhope Primary 6 Agree 

2322 St John's Chapel Primary 8 Agree 

2324 Wearhead Primary 6 Agree 
2326 Willington Primary 30 Agree 
2328 Witton-le-Wear Primary 15 Agree 

2329 Wolsingham Primary 30  Agree 

2330 Oakley Cross Primary 26 Agree 

2351 Byers Green Primary 15 Agree 
2357 Bluebell Meadow Primary 60 Agree 
2361 Kirk Merrington Primary 25 Agree 

2362 Cassop Primary 20  Agree 

2368 Ferryhill Station Primary 15  Agree 
2370 West Cornforth Primary 30 Agree 

2372 Coxhoe Primary 52 Agree 
2374 Kelloe Primary 21 Agree 
2385 Dean Bank Primary 30  Agree 
2388 Bowburn Junior 56 Agree 
2389 Bowburn Infant 56 Agree 

2394 Ox Close Primary 45 Agree 

2399 Fishburn Primary 30 Agree 
2400 Broom Cottages Primary  45 Agree 
2401 Etherley Lane Primary 49 Agree 
2409 Ramshaw Primary 11 Agree 
2410 Forest-of-Teesdale Primary 5 Agree 
2411 Aycliffe Village Primary 25 Agree 

2413 Butterknowle Primary 12 Agree 

2417 Escomb Primary 30 Agree 

2419 St. Helen Auckland Primary 30 Agree 
2423 Thornhill Primary 30 Agree 
2426 Toft Hill Primary 26 Agree 
2428 Woodland Primary 12 Agree 

2430 Middleton in Teesdale Primary 25 Agree 
2433 Cockton Hill Junior 60 Agree 
2434 Cockton Hill Infant 60 Agree 

2438 Timothy Hackworth Primary 60 Agree 
2440 Cockfield Primary 15 Agree 
2442 Montalbo Primary 30 Agree 
2453 New Brancepeth Primary 17 Agree 

2455 Langley Moor Primary 30 Agree 

2462 Witton Gilbert Primary 30 Agree 

2470 Pittington Primary 30 Agree 
2472 Ludworth Primary 15 Agree 
2473 Sherburn Primary 33 Agree 

2475 West Rainton Primary 24 Agree 
2477 Bearpark Primary 22 Agree 
2481 Nevilles Cross Primary 42 Agree 
2488 Newton Hall Infant 60 Agree 

2497 Esh Winning Primary 38 Agree 

2498 Belmont Cheveley Park Primary 30 Agree 

2499 Laurel Avenue Primary 15 Agree 

2509 Hesleden Primary 19 Agree 
2516 Deaf Hill Primary 26 Agree 
2523 Thornley Primary 30 Agree 
2526 Wheatley Hill Community Primary 30 Agree 

Page 180



 

 

2528 Wingate Junior 51 Agree 
2531 Wingate Infant 51 Agree 
2532 Cotsford Junior 41 Agree 
2534 Cotsford Infant 40 Agree 
2536 Shotton Primary 60 Agree 
2540 Acre Rigg Infant 64 Agree 

2563 Sedgefield Primary 30  Agree 

2593 Hardwick Primary 30 Agree 

2704 Copeland Road Primary 25 Agree 
2705 St Andrew’s Primary 25 Agree 

2706 Byerley Park Primary 30 Agree 
2708 Horndale Infant 50 Agree 
2729 Langley Park Primary 30  Agree 

2733 Yohden Primary 30 Agree 

2734 Howletch Lane Primary 57 Agree 

2737 Blackhall Primary 45 Agree 
2742 Vane Road Primary 60 Agree 
2743 Sugar Hill Primary 60 Agree 
2744 Roseberry Primary 37 Agree 
2745 Bullion Lane Primary 45  Agree 

2746 Easington Colliery Primary 81 Agree 
2747 Gilesgate Primary 30 Agree 
2748 Finchale Primary 30 Agree 

2749 Benfieldside Primary 45 Agree 

2750 King Street Primary 30 Agree 

2751 Framwellgate Moor Primary 45 Agree 
2943 Newker Primary 60 Agree 
3031 Chester Le Street CE Primary 60 Agree 
3063 Ebchester CE Primary 15 Agree 

3085 St Stephen’s CE Primary 30 Agree 
3087 Stanhope Barrington CE Primary 24 Agree 

3121 Green Lane CE Primary 38 Agree 
3123 St Anne’s CE Primary 30 Agree 
3130 Evenwood CE Primary 15 Agree 

3131 Gainford CE Primary 15 Agree 

3134 Ingleton CE Primary 15 Agree 

3141 Staindrop CE Primary 30 Agree 

3161 Belmont CE Primary 52 Agree 

3167 Shincliffe CE Primary 30 Agree 

3168 Durham St Margaret’s CE Primary 60  Agree 

3182 Easington CE Primary 25 Agree 

3183 Hutton Henry CE Primary 10 Agree 

3213 Lanchester EP Primary 52 Agree 

3516 Prince Bishops Community Primary 30 Agree 

3518 Woodham Burn Community Primary 45  Agree 
3519 Silver Tree Primary 30 Agree 
3520 Seaview Primary 39 Agree 
3522 Tanfield Lea Community Primary 50 Agree 
3523 Woodhouse Community Primary 30 Agree 
3524 Seaham Trinity Primary School 60 Agree 
3525 Brandon Primary 60 Agree 

3527 Shotton Hall Primary 50 Agree 

Page 181



 

 

 

Number Community Secondary Schools 
Proposed 

Admission Number 
2019/20 

Recommendation 
to Cabinet 

4019 Seaham High School of Technology 240 Agree 

4052 Fyndoune Community College 125 Agree 

4099 
Tanfield School Specialist College of 
Science + Engineering 

158 Agree 

4139 Wolsingham School  150 Agree 

4139 Wolsingham School Sixth Form 30* Agree 

4150 Ferryhill Business and Enterprise College 165 Agree 

4162 Bishop Barrington School 180 Agree 

4185 Belmont Community School 175 Agree 

4191 Durham Sixth Form Centre 610 Agree 

4192 
Durham Community Business College for 
Technology and Enterprise 

120 Agree 

4200 Durham Johnston School 238 Agree 

4200 Durham Johnston School Sixth Form 50 Agree 

4214 Dene Community School  210 Agree 

4218 Wellfield School  180 Agree 

4231 Sedgefield Community College 195 Agree 

 
 
*  Relates to admission limit for external students to Year 12 only.  NB this need not be set if the school only 

receives ad hoc applications. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 182



 

 

Number 
Roman Catholic (RC) Aided/Church of 
England (CE) Aided Primary Schools 

Admission Number 2019/20 
Advised by Governing Body 

3165 St Oswald’s CE Primary, Durham 15 

3300 St Cuthbert's RC Primary, New Seaham 30 

3301 St Mary Magdalen RC Primary, Seaham 45 

3303 Bowes Hutchinson CE Primary 10 

3343 St Cuthbert’s RC Primary, Chester-le- Street 30 

3344 St Bede’s RC Primary,  Sacriston 15 

3346 St Benet’s RC Primary, Ouston 30 

3381 St Joseph’s RC Primary, Stanley 30 

3382 St Patrick’s RC Primary, Dipton 25 

3384 St Mary’s RC Primary, South Moor 21 

3401 St Mary’s RC Primary, Blackhill 30 

3403 St Pius X RC Primary, Consett 15 

3404 St Patrick’s RC Primary, Consett 60 

3406 Esh CE Primary 15 

3407 St Michael’s RC Primary, Esh 28 

3409 Our Lady + St Joseph’s, Brooms, RC Primary 17 

3411 Bishop Ian Ramsey Medomsley CE Primary 30 

3413 All Saint's RCVA Primary, Lanchester 30 

3421 St Cuthbert’s RC Primary, Crook 30 

3425 Our Lady & St.Thomas RC Primary, Willington 17 

3441 St. Michael’s CE Primary (Bishop Middleham) 15 

3442 St William's RC Primary, Trimdon 20 

3444 St Charles' RC Primary, Tudhoe 30 

3461 St Mary's RC Primary, Barnard Castle 15 

3462 St Wilfrid’s RC Primary 30 

3465 St Chad’s RC Primary 15 

3469 St Joseph’s RC Primary, Coundon  25 

3470 St Mary's RC Primary, Newton Aycliffe 30 

3471 St Joseph's RC Primary, Newton Aycliffe 25 

3472 St Francis CE Junior 41 

3481 St Patrick’s RC Primary, Langley Moor 15 

3483 Our Lady Queen of Martyrs RC Primary, Newhouse 12 

3485 St Hild’s CE Primary, Durham 30 

3486 St Godric's RC Primary, Durham 30 

3488 St Joseph’s RC Primary, Ushaw Moor 15 

3489 St Joseph's RC Primary, Gilesgate 22 

3491 Blue Coat CE Junior 60 

3492 St Thomas More RC Primary, Belmont 17 

3501 St Joseph’s RC Primary, Murton 21 

3502 St Godric’s RC Primary, Thornley 15 

3504 Our Lady of Lourdes RC Primary, Shotton 24 

3505 St Mary's RC Primary, Wingate 12 

3506 St Joseph’s RC Primary, Blackhall 13 

3507 Our Lady Star of Sea RC Primary, Horden 17 

3510 Our Lady of the Rosary RC Primary, Peterlee 45 

3511 Blessed John Duckett RC Primary 12 

3513 St John’s CE Primary, Shildon 30 

Page 183



 

 

Number Roman Catholic (RC) Aided Secondary Schools 
Admission Number 2019/20 

Advised by  Governing Body 

4693 St Bede’s Catholic Comprehensive School, Peterlee 150 

4693 Byron Sixth Form College, Peterlee Not set* 
 

Number Foundation Schools 
Admission Number 2019/20 
Advised by Governing Body 

4176 
Greenfield Community College, A Specialist Arts and 
Science School 

250 

4998 Whitworth Park School and Sixth Form College 274 

4998 
Whitworth Park School and Sixth Form College (Sixth 
form) 

Not set* 

 

Number Primary Academies 
Admission Number 2019/20 
Advised by Academy Trust 

2008 Acre Rigg Academy 67 

2009 Victoria Lane Academy, Coundon 30 

2010 Stephenson Way Academy and Nursery 55 

2015 Browney Academy 19 

2016 Rosa Street Primary 30 

2017 Shield Row Primary 30 

2018 Dene House Primary 50 

2019 South Hetton Primary 35 

2023 New Seaham Primary 38 

2225 South Stanley Infant  60 

2226 South Stanley Junior 52 

2123 Sacriston Academy 50  

2379 Tudhoe Colliery Primary 30 

2397 Cleves Cross Primary and Nursery School 30 

3517 The Ribbon Academy, Murton 85 

3526 Greenland Community Primary 51 
 

Number Secondary Academies 
Admission Number 2019/20 
Advised by Academy Trust 

4000 North Durham Academy 300 

4000 North Durham Academy – Sixth Form 100 

4001 Consett Academy 300 

4001 Consett Academy – Sixth Form 100 

4007 Teesdale School and Sixth Form Centre 156 

4007 Teesdale School and Sixth Form Centre (Sixth Form) *Not set 

4047 Park View School 240 

4047 Park View School Sixth Form *Not set 

4054 The Hermitage Academy 210 

4054 The Hermitage Academy Sixth Form *Not set 

4128 Parkside Academy 180 

4008 Staindrop School 154 

4175 Woodham Academy 250 

4178 King James 1 Academy 161 

4178 King James 1 Academy Sixth Form 50 

4190 Framwellgate School Durham 225 

Page 184



 

 

4190 Framwellgate School Durham Sixth Form *Not set 

4215 The Academy at Shotton Hall 252 

4280 Easington Academy 180 

4006 UTC, South Durham Y10   150,    Y12 150 

4681 
St John’s School and Sixth Form College, a Catholic 
Academy, 

220 

4681 
St John’s School and Sixth Form College, a Catholic 
Academy (Sixth form), 

*Not Set 

4691 St Leonard's Catholic School 232 

4691 St Leonard's Catholic School Sixth Form 40 

4694 
St Bede’s Catholic School and Sixth Form College, 
Lanchester 

220 

4694 
St Bede’s Catholic School and  Sixth Form College, 
Lanchester (Sixth form) 

80 

 
 
*  Relates to admission limit for external students to Year 12 only.  NB this need not be set if the school only 

receives ad hoc applications. 

Page 185



Appendix 4 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 
 

 

2019/20

Page 186



 

 

OVERVIEW OF APPLICATION PROCEDURES FOR ADMISSION TO ALL SCHOOLS 
 
For all schools, parents/carers must be invited to express at least 3 preferences on a 
common application form, in the rank order they wish their child to receive an offer of 
a place, and invite parents to give their reasons for each preference.  This form is 
obtainable from the LA’s School Admissions Team and the County Council’s 
website.  Parents/carers can also apply through the on-line admissions application 
system accessed via the County Council website.  Applications should be submitted 
to the LA by the published closing date.  Places at any school are offered on the 
basis of equal preference rank order and where an offer is made it is for the highest 
ranked school at which the LA is able to offer a place. 

 
The LA must inform other admission authorities of any application made for their 
schools and pass on any relevant supporting information, excluding parental 
preference of rank order information.  Each preference must be considered by the 
admission authority of the school concerned, where appropriate.  The school should 
then provide the LA with a list of all children who have applied for a place, ranked in 
order of priority under the school’s admission arrangements.   
 
Parents/carers who are resident in one LA but who wish to apply for a place at a 
school maintained by another LA apply for a place through the maintaining LA’s 
common application form.  Neighbouring LAs must inform each other of applications 
received in respect of children from their LA area who wish to obtain a school place 
in another LA area. 
 
The LA will then compare the lists for all schools in its area.  When a child is eligible 
for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a place at that school will be offered 
to the child.  Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the preferred 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school is the highest ranked.  
Where the LA cannot offer a place at any of the preferred schools, the offer of a 
place will be made at the nearest school to the parental address that has places 
available. 
 
If an application is unsuccessful, upon request a child’s name may be placed on a 
waiting list which is kept for the full academic year.  The position on the waiting list is 
determined in accordance with the published oversubscription criteria with no 
reference to length of time on the waiting list.  If a place subsequently becomes 
available, the place will be offered to the next child on the waiting list.  Parents/carers 
are also offered the right of appeal if they are not satisfied with the offer of a place. 
 
The LA will accept applications which are received late only when there is evidence 
of a very exceptional circumstance which prevented submission by the stated 
deadline and only if the application is received before offers of places are made.  
These will then be treated in the same way as all other applications.  In the event of 
a late application not being accepted or receipt is after the offer of places has been 
made, then places will be offered at the nearest school with places available. 
 
All applications for school places during the normal admission round must be co-
ordinated by the maintaining LA.  LAs must develop a co-ordinated admission 
scheme by 1 January 2019 and implement the scheme on 1 September 2019.  
 

Page 187



 

 

2019-20 CO-ORDINATED ADMISSION SCHEME - PRIMARY  
 

This Scheme is made by Durham County Council (Durham LA) under The School 
Admissions (Admission Arrangements and the Co-ordination of Admission 
Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2014. 
 
A separate Scheme exists in relation to secondary schools. 

Interpretation 

 
1. In this Scheme - 

 
“The LA” means Durham County Council acting in its capacity as local 
education authority. 

 

“The LA area” means the area in respect of which the LA is the local 
education authority. 

 

“School” means a Community, Voluntary Controlled, Foundation, or Voluntary 
Aided school or an Academy. 

 

“Admission Authority” means the LA in respect of any of the schools which is 
a Community or Voluntary Controlled school, the Governing Body of the 
school in respect of a Voluntary Aided school or a Foundation school and the 
relevant Trust for an Academy. 

 

“Parent” means any person who holds parental responsibility for a child and 
with whom the child normally lives. 

 

“Suitable school” means the nearest available school which offers an efficient 
full-time programme of education appropriate to the individual child’s age, 
ability, aptitude and any special educational needs, in the view of the 
Authority. 
 

2. The Scheme shall be determined and processed in accordance with the 
provisions set out in Schedule 1 and the timetable set out in Schedule 2. 
 

3. The Scheme will apply for the admission arrangements for the school year 
commencing September 2019. 
 

4. The Scheme shall apply to every primary school in the LA area (except 
special schools). 

Page 188



 

 

SCHEDULE 1 
 
PART 1 - THE SCHEME 
 
1. There will be a common application form supplied by the LA for the purpose of 

enabling parents living in County Durham to express up to three preferences 
for their child to be admitted to a primary, infant and, where appropriate junior 
school in County Durham or to a school or schools in another LA area for the 
academic year 2019/20. 

 
2. The common application form must be used as a means of expressing one or 

more preferences for the purposes of Section 86 of the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998 by parents resident in the LA area wishing to express a 
preference for their child: 

 
a. to be admitted to a maintained primary school and Academy within the 

 LA area (including Voluntary Aided Schools). 
b. to be admitted to a maintained primary school and Academy located in 

 another LA’s area (including Voluntary Aided Schools). 
 
3. The common application form will invite the parent to express up to three 

preferences including where relevant any schools outside the LA’s area, in the 
rank order in which they wish their child to receive an offer of a place, and 
invite parents to give their reasons for each preference. 

 
4. The common application form will explain that the parent will receive no more 

than one offer of a school place.  Furthermore, that places at any 
oversubscribed school will be offered on the basis of equal preference rank 
order and that where an offer is made it would be for the highest ranked 
school at which the LA as the admission authority or on behalf of the 
admission authority of a Voluntary Aided School or an Academy, was able to 
offer a place.  Annex 1 lists those Governing Bodies/Trusts which are the 
Admission Authority for schools or Academies to which this Scheme applies. 

 
5. The common application form will explain that where the LA could not offer a 

place at any of the preferred schools, the offer of a place will be made at the 
nearest school to the child’s home address that has a place available. 

 
6. The common application form will specify a closing date and where it must be 

returned.  Governing Bodies of Aided Schools or the relevant Trust for 
Academies, as the Admission Authority, must notify the relevant LA of any 
application made direct to them in error whether or not the parent lives in 
County Durham. 

 
7. The LA will make appropriate arrangements to ensure that a common 

application form is available on request from the LA and from its website.  The 
facility to apply on-line will also be made available via the LA’s website. 

 

8. The common application form will include a supplementary section to be 
completed by parents who express a preference for a Voluntary Aided School 
to enable them to provide any relevant additional information. 

Page 189



 

 

Processing of Applications 
 
9. Completed applications should be made to the LA by 15 January 2019. 
 
10. Completed applications which are received for very good reason after the 

closing date will be accepted and treated as on time applications provided 
they are received before 6 March 2019, the date the allocation procedures 
begin.  Examples of good reason include: when a single parent has been ill 
for some time, or has been dealing with the death of a relative; a family has 
just moved into the area or is returning from abroad (proof of ownership or 
tenancy of a County Durham property as the main property will be required in 
these cases).  Other circumstances will be considered and each case decided 
on its own merits.  Parents must,  however, provide clear evidence for the LA 
to consider as to why they could not submit an application during the 
preference period. The determination of the LA will be final. 

Determining offers in response to the  application 

 
11. The LA will make the offer of a school place to the parent of every child living 

in County Durham commencing primary education in September 2019 who 
applies for a place at a maintained school/Academy.   

 
12. The LA will determine the offer of a potential place for Community and 

Voluntary Controlled schools in County Durham in its capacity as the 
Admission Authority having no regard to order of preferences.  For 
Voluntary Aided Schools, Academies or schools in another Local Authority 
area, the relevant Admission Authority will inform the LA of the potential offer 
of a place*.   Durham LA will then be responsible for making the offer of a 
place in accordance with paragraphs 4 and 15 of this Scheme. 

 
13. By 6 February 2019, the LA will provide the Admission Authority for each of 

the schools indicated on the common application form with a copy of the 
common application form (electronic appliations will be provided via the 
School Admissions Module), excluding parental preference information*. 

 
14. By 6 March 2019, the Admission Authority for each school will provide the LA 

with a list, in rank order, in accordance with their admission criteria, of all 
pupils who applied for a place at the school, indicating those who can be 
offered a place and those (if any) who cannot*.  The LA will then match this 
ranked list against the ranked list of the other schools nominated. 

 
15. By 13 March 2019, the LA will match the provisional offers of places against 

each parent’s ranking and proceed as follows: 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, 
a place at that school will be offered to the child. 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the preferred 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school is the highest 
ranked. 

 Where none of the preferences can be met, the child will be offered a 
place at the nearest suitable school with a place available. 

 

Page 190



 

 

16. No later than 13 March 2019 the LA will inform other LAs of places in County 
Durham schools/Academies to be offered to their residents and on 16 April 
2018 the LA will inform its schools/Academies of the pupils to be offered 
places at their schools/Academies. 

 
17. On 16 April 2019, the LA will communicate to all parents in County Durham to 

whom the offer of a place can be made, notifying them of the offer of a place 
at: 

 
a. one of the preferences on the common application form; or 
b. the nearest suitable school with places available. 

 
18. The LA’s communication will ask parents to confirm their acceptance of the 

place and inform them that if they are not satisfied with the offer of a place 
they have the right of appeal if they so wish.  The communication will include 
contact details for the LA and those nominated Voluntary Aided schools or 
Academies where they could not be offered a place, so that they can if they 
wish lodge an appeal with the Governing Body or Academy Trust.  The 
communication will also give parents the opportunity of having their child’s 
name placed on the waiting list for a place at the preferred school(s). The 
communication will also state, where relevant, why a place could not be 
offered at a higher ranked school. 

 
19. Parents will be sent a reminder 2 weeks after the offer date (16 April 2019) 

allowing a further 7 days to respond to the request that they confirm their 
acceptance of the place.   

 
20. On 6 May 2019 the LA will reallocate any places that may have become 

available since 16 April 2019, strictly in accordance with the relevant 
published oversubscription criteria: 

 
21. From 7 May 2019, parents may ask for their child’s name be kept on a waiting 

list for an oversubscribed school to be offered places if they become 
available.  The waiting lists for all schools/Academies/ will be maintained by 
the relevant admission authority* and any places which become available will 
be offered strictly in accordance with the published admission criteria of the 
appropriate admission authority.  Waiting lists will be maintained for the 
school year.  If parents want their children to remain on a waiting list for 
subsequent years, they must inform the LA in writing or via email. 

 

Page 191



 

 

PART 2 - LATE APPLICATIONS 
 
22. Applications received after the closing date of 15 January 2019 and prior to 6 

March 2019 will be considered and, as far as possible, offered a school place 
on 16 April 2019.  Applications received by the closing date take priority over 
late applications, however applications which are received for very good 
reason after the closing date will be accepted and treated as on time 
applications provided they are received before 6 March 2019, the date the 
allocation procedures begin (see paragraph 10).    

 
23. For applications received between 7 March 2019 and 5 May 2019 inclusive, 

the LA will, on 6 May 2019, the re-allocation day, offer a place in accordance 
with parental preference, where possible, and if not possible, at the nearest 
school with places available. These will be considered equally along with 
other applicants that are on the waiting lists. 

 
24. For applications received between 16 April 2019 and 31 August 2019 

inclusive, offer/refusal communications will be sent out within 14 days of the 
LA receiving the application form.  Any parent directly approaching a school 
must be referred to the LA. The LA will offer a place at the school highest in 
the parent’s order of rank that has a place available, or if this is not possible at 
nearest school that has a place available. For those who do not receive a 
higher preferred school the waiting lists will continue to operate.  

 
PART 3 - IN-YEAR ADMISSIONS 

 
25. Applications received on or after 1 September 2019 will be treated as in-year 

admissions.   
 
26. The LA will, upon request, send a suitable form for parents to complete when 

applying for a place for their child at any school.  All relevant admission 
authorities will consider any application that is made (making reference to any 
waiting lists that are in operation) whether via an application form or through a 
parent’s direct approach to any school, and then notify the LA, if appropriate, 
of the outcome*. Parents whose applications are refused will be offered a right 
of appeal.  

 
27. The LA will monitor in-year applications and intervene as appropriate to 

ensure that applicants are placed in a school without undue delay. 
 
28. Parents may ask for their child’s name to be kept on a waiting list, to be 

offered places if they become available at any school to which they have 
expressed a preference.  The waiting list for all schools will be maintained by 
the relevant admission authority* and any places which become available will 
be offered strictly in accordance with published admission criteria of the 
appropriate admissions authority.  Waiting lists will be maintained throughout 
the school year.  Any offer of a school place will always be made by the LA. 

 
 

Page 192



 

 

PART 4 – ADMISSION OF CHILDREN BELOW COMPULSORY SCHOOL AGE 
AND ADMISSION OF CHILDREN OUTSIDE THEIR NORMAL AGE GROUP 
 
29. A child reaches compulsory school age on the prescribed day following their 

fifth birthday (or on their fifth birthday if it falls on a prescribed day). The 
prescribed days are 31 December, 31 March and 31 August.  A child is 
entitled to a full-time place in the September following their fourth birthday. 

 
30. There is flexibility for parents who do not feel their child is ready to start 

school before compulsory school age.  They may defer the date their child is 
admitted to school until later in the school year following their child’s fourth 
birthday, providing they do not defer beyond the point at which they reach 
compulsory school age, or beyond the start of the final term of that school 
year. Alternatively, their child may attend school part-time until they reach 
compulsory school age.  
 

31. Children born in the summer term, 1 April to 31 August, are not required to 
start school until a full school year after the point at which they could first have 
been admitted – the point at which other children in their age range are 
beginning year 1. While most parents are happy for their child to start school 
in the September following their fourth birthday, some parents will have 
concerns about whether their child will be ready for school at this point, and 
will consider delaying their entry to Reception until compulsory school age.  
 

32. Admission authorities will expect parents to provide them with information in 
support of their request – since without it they are unlikely to be able to make 
a decision on the basis of the circumstances of the case. This should 
demonstrate why it would be in the child’s interests to be admitted to 
reception rather than year one.   In some cases parents may have 
professional evidence that it would be appropriate for them to submit, for 
example, when a child receives support from a speech and language 
therapist. However, there is no expectation that parents will obtain 
professional evidence that they do not already have. Admission authorities 
must still consider requests that are not accompanied by professional 
evidence. In such cases the supporting information might simply be the 
parent’s statement as to why they have made their request.   
 

33. Where a parent wants their child to be admitted out of their normal age group, 
the admission authority has two separate decisions to make:  
 
 it must first decide on the age group the child should be admitted to   
 only once that decision has been made can it apply its oversubscription 

criteria to decide whether a place can be offered in that age group.  
 

34. Although it is not always easy for admission authorities to make a decision 
about a child more than a year before the point at which they may be 
admitted, particularly as it is difficult to know what progress they may make in 
the intervening period, parents should know the outcome of their request for 
admission out of the normal age group in time to make an informed decision 
about whether their child will start school before compulsory school age.   

Page 193



 

 

35. The process in place:  
 
 requires the parent to make an application for their child’s normal age 

group at the usual time, but enables them to submit a request for 
admission out of the normal age group at the same time   
 

 ensures that the parent receives the response to their request before 
primary national offer day.  

 
36. If the request is agreed, the application for the normal age group may be 

withdrawn before a place is offered. If the request is refused, the parent must 
decide whether to accept the offer of a place for the normal age group, or to 
refuse it and make an in year application for admission to year one for the 
September following the child’s fifth birthday.   
 

37. Where a parent’s request is agreed, they must make a new application as part 
of the main admissions round the following year.   

 
38. One admission authority cannot be required to honour a decision made by 

another admission authority on admission out of the normal age group. 
Parents, therefore, should consider whether to request admission out of the 
usual year group at all their preference schools, rather than just their first 
preference schools.   
 

39. Once a child has been admitted to a school it is for the headteacher to decide 
how best to educate them. In some cases it may be appropriate for a child 
who has been admitted out of their normal age group to be moved to their 
normal age group, but in others it will not. Any decision to move a child to a 
different age group will be based on sound educational reasons and made by 
the headteacher in consultation with the parents.   
 

40. Where a child has been educated out of their normal age group, the parent 
may again request admission out of the normal age group when they transfer 
to junior or secondary school. It will be for the admission authority of that 
school to decide whether to admit the child out of their normal age group. The 
admission authority will make a decision on the basis of the circumstances of 
each case and in the child’s best interests, and will bear in mind the age 
group the child has been educated in up to that point.  
 

41. Where an application for September 2019 has been received by 15 January 
2019 for a child’s admission to Reception instead of Year 1 (which is the 
child’s normal age group cohort) and this has been agreed, the application will 
be considered alongside all other applications that are received by this date.  
The application will not have lower priority on the basis that the child is being 
admitted outside their normal age group.  
 

Page 194



 

 

 
SCHEDULE 2 

 
 Timetable for Admission to Primary Schools/Academies   

September 2019 
 
 

12 September 2018 Parents Guide to School Admissions and Common 
Application Form are made available to parents. 

15 January 2019 Closing date for return of forms to the LA. 

6 February 2019 LA sends copies of Application Forms to all admission 
authorities* and neighbouring LAs.  Own admission authority 
schools are able to view their applications on-line. 

 

6 March 2019 

All admission authorities* and the relevant admission authority 
for neighbouring LA schools provide the LA with ranked list of 
applicants.  Own admission authority schools rank their 
applications on-line. 

13 March 2019 LA allocates places in accordance with relevant 
admission/oversubscription criteria and informs other LAs of 
places in County Durham to be offered to their residents. 

16 April 2019 LA makes offers to parents and schools can view on-line the 
pupils to be offered places at their schools.  Those parents 
not receiving a higher or any preferred school will have their 
child's name placed on these waiting list(s). 

30 April 2019 Deadline for parents to accept the offer of a school place. 

6 May 2019 Any places that become available since 16 April 2019 are 
reallocated to parents. 

7 May 2019 Waiting lists are established and begin to operate 

 
 

*  Unless a local agreement exists for the LA to undertake this function on behalf of an own admission 
authority. 

Page 195



 

 

ANNEX 1 
 

The Governing Bodies of the Voluntary Aided Schools listed below are Admission 
Authorities to which this Scheme applies: 
 
 
 

All Saints’ Catholic VA Primary St Joseph’s RCVA Primary, Stanley 

Bishop Ian Ramsey CE Primary St Joseph’s RCVA Primary, Coundon 

Blessed John Duckett RCVA Primary St Joseph’s RCVA Primary, Newton Aycliffe 

Blue Coat CE Junior St Joseph’s RCVA Primary, Ushaw Moor 

Bowes Hutchinson CE Primary St Joseph’s RCVA Primary, Gilesgate 

Esh CE Primary St Joseph’s RCVA Primary, Murton 

Our Lady & St Joseph’s RCVA Primary, 
Brooms 

St Joseph’s RCVA Primary, Blackhall 

Our Lady & St Thomas RCVA Primary St Mary Magdalen RCVA Primary 

Our Lady of Lourdes RCVA Primary St Mary’s RCVA Primary, South Moor 

Our Lady of the Rosary RCVA Primary St Mary’s RCVA Primary, Blackhill 

Our Lady Queen of Martyr’s RCVA Primary St Mary’s RCVA Primary, Barnard Castle 

Our Lady Star of the Sea RCVA Primary St Mary’s RCVA Primary, Newton Aycliffe 

St Bede’s RCVA Primary St Mary’s RCVA Primary, Wingate 

St Benet’s RCVA Primary St Michael’s RCVA Primary 

St Chad’s RCVA Primary St Michael’s CE Primary 

St Charles’ RCVA Primary St Oswald’s C.E. (Aided) Primary 

St Cuthbert’s RCVA Primary, New Seaham St Patrick’s RCVA Primary, Dipton 

St Cuthbert’s RCVA Primary, Chester-le-Street St Patrick’s RCVA Primary, Consett 

St Cuthbert’s RCVA Primary, Crook St Patrick’s RCVA Primary, Langley Moor 

St Francis CE Aided Junior St Pius X RCVA Primary 

St Godric’s RCVA Primary, Durham St Thomas More RCVA Primary 

St Godric’s RCVA Primary, Thornley St Wilfrid’s RCVA Primary 

St Hild’s College CE Aided St William’s RCVA Primary 

St John’s CE Aided Primary  
 
 

 
The Trusts of the Academies listed below are Admission Authorities to which this 
Scheme applies: 

 

New Seaham Acre Rigg Academy 

The Ribbon, Murton Tudhoe Colliery Primary 

Victoria Lane Academy, Coundon Stephenson Way Academy and Nursery 

Cleves Cross Primary Browney Academy 

Rosa Street Primary Dene House Primary 

South Hetton Primary Shield Row Primary 
South Stanley Infant Greenland Community Primary 

Sacriston Academy South Stanley Junior School 

 

 

 

 

Page 196



 

 

 

2019/20 CO-ORDINATED ADMISSION SCHEME - SECONDARY  
 
This Scheme is made by Durham County Council (Durham LA) under The School 
Admissions (Admission Arrangements and the Co-ordination of Admission 
Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2014. 
 
A separate Scheme exists in relation to primary schools. 

 
Interpretation 

 
1. In this Scheme - 

 

“The LA” means Durham County Council acting in its capacity as local 
education authority. 

 
“The LA area” means the area in respect of which the LA is the local 
education authority. 

 
“School” means a Community, Voluntary Controlled, Foundation, or Voluntary 
Aided school, an Academy or UTC. 

 
“Admission Authority” means the LA in respect of any of the schools which is 
a Community or Voluntary Controlled school, the Governing Body of the 
school in respect of a Voluntary Aided school or a Foundation school and the 
relevant Trust for an Academy or UTC. 

 
“Parent” means any person who holds parental responsibility for a child and 
with whom the child normally lives. 

 
“Suitable school” means the nearest available school which offers an efficient 
full-time programme of education appropriate to the individual child’s age, 
ability, aptitude and any special educational needs, in the view of the 
Authority. 
 

2. The Scheme shall be determined and processed in accordance with the 
provisions set out in Schedule 1 and the timetable set out in Schedule 2. 
 

3. The Scheme will apply for the admission arrangements for the school year 
commencing September 2019. 
 

4. The Scheme will apply to every secondary school in the LA area (except 
special schools). 

 

Page 197



 

 

SCHEDULE 1 
 
PART 1 - THE SCHEME 

 
1. There will be a common application form supplied by the LA for the purpose of 

enabling parents living in County Durham to express up to three preferences 
for their child to be admitted to a secondary school in County Durham or to a 
school or schools in another LA area for the academic year 2019/2020. 

 
2. The common application form must be used as a means of expressing one or 

more preferences for the purposes of Section 86 of the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998 by parents resident in the LA area wishing to express a 
preference for their child: 

 
(a) to be admitted to a maintained secondary school, academy or UTC 

within the LA area (including Voluntary Aided schools and Foundation 
schools); 

(b) to be admitted to a maintained secondary school, academy or UTC 
located in another LA’s area (including Voluntary Aided schools and 
Foundation schools). 

 
3. The common application form will invite the parent to express up to three 

preferences including where relevant any schools outside the LA’s area, in the 
rank order in which they wish their child to receive an offer of a place, and 
invite parents to give their reasons for each preference. 

  
4. The common application form will explain that the parent will receive no more 

than one offer of a school place.  Furthermore, that places at any 
oversubscribed school will be offered on the basis of equal preference rank 
order and that where an offer is made it would be for the highest ranked 
school at which the LA as the admission authority, or on behalf of the 
admission authority of a Voluntary Aided school, Foundation School, 
Academy or UTC, was able to offer a place.  Annex 1 lists those Governing 
Bodies/Trusts which are the Admission Authority for schools/Academies/UTC 
to which this Scheme applies. 

 
5. The common application form will explain that where the LA could not offer a 

place at any of the preferred schools, the offer of a place will be made at the 
nearest school to the child’s home that has a place available. 

 
6. The common application form will specify a closing date and where it must be 

returned.  Governing Bodies of Aided or Foundation Schools and the relevant 
Trust for Academies/UTC, as the Admission Authority, must notify the relevant 
LA of any application made direct to them in error whether or not the parent 
lives in County Durham. 

 
7. The LA will make appropriate arrangements to ensure that a common 

application form is available on request from the LA and on its website.   The 
facility to apply on line will also be made available via the LA’s website. 

 
8. The common application form will include a supplementary section to be 

completed by parents who express a preference for a Voluntary Aided School 
to enable them to provide relevant additional information. 

Page 198



 

 

Processing of Applications 
 
9. Completed applications should be made to the LA by 31 October 2018. 
 
10. Completed applications which are received for very good reason after the 

closing date will be accepted and treated as an on time application provided 
they are received before 28 January 2019, the date the allocation procedures 
begin.  Examples of very good reason include: when a single parent has been 
ill for some time, or has been dealing with the death of a relative; a family has 
just moved into the area or is returning from abroad (proof of ownership or 
tenancy of a County Durham property as the main property will be required in 
these cases).  Other circumstances will be considered and each case decided 
on its own merits.  Parents must, however, provide clear evidence for the LA 
to consider as to why they could not submit an application during the 
preference period. The determination of the LA will be final. 

 
Determining offers in response to the application  
 
11. The LA will make the offer of a school place to the parent of every child living 

in County Durham transferring to secondary education in September 2019 
who applies for a place at a maintained school/Academy/UTC. 

 
12. The LA will determine the potential offer of a place for Community and 

Voluntary Controlled secondary schools in County Durham in its capacity as 
the Admission Authority having no regard to order of preferences. For 
Voluntary Aided schools, Foundation schools or Academies/UTC, or schools 
in another Local Authority area, the relevant Admission Authority will inform 
Durham LA of the potential offer of a place*. Durham LA will then be 
responsible for making the offer of a place in accordance with paragraphs 4 
and 15 of this Scheme. 

 
13. By 23 November 2018, the LA will provide the Admission Authority for each of 

the schools indicated on the common application form with a copy of the 
application form (electronic applications will be provided via the School 
Admissions Module), excluding parental preference information*. 

 
14. By 18 January 2019, the Admission Authority for each school will provide the 

LA with a list, in rank order, in accordance with their admission criteria of all 
pupils who applied for a place at the school, indicating those who can be 
offered a place and those (if any) who cannot*.  The LA will then match this 
ranked list against the ranked lists of the other schools nominated. 

 
15. By 28 January 2019, the LA will match the provisional offers of places against 

each parent’s ranking and proceed as follows: 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, 
a place at that school will be offered to the child. 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the preferred 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school is the highest 
ranked. 

 Where none of the preferences can be met, the child will be offered a 
place at the nearest suitable school with a place available. 

Page 199



 

 

16. No later than 6 February 2019 the LA will inform other LAs of places in County 
Durham schools/Academies/UTC to be offered to their residents and on 1 
March 2019 the LA will inform its secondary/Academies schools/UTC of the 
pupils to be offered places at their schools/Academies/UTC. 

 
17. On 1 March 2019, the LA will communicate to all parents in County Durham to 

whom the offer of a place can be made, notifying them of the offer of a place 
at: 

 

 (a) one of the preferences on the common application form; or 
 (b) the nearest suitable school with places available 
 
18. The LA’s communication will ask parents to confirm their acceptance of the 

place and inform them that if they are not satisfied with the offer of a place 
they have the right of appeal if they so wish.  The communication will include 
contact details for the LA and those nominated Voluntary Aided and 
Foundation Schools and Academies/UTC where they could not be offered a 
place, so that they can if they wish lodge an appeal with the Governing Body 
or Trust*.  The communication will also give parents the opportunity of having 
their child’s name placed on the waiting list for a place at the preferred 
school(s).  The communication will also state, where relevant, why a place 
could not be offered at a higher ranked school. 

 
19. Parents will be sent a reminder 2 weeks after the offer date (1 March 2019) 

allowing a further 7 days to respond to the request that they confirm their 
acceptance of the place.   

 
20. On 22 March 2019 the LA will reallocate any places that may have become 

available since 1 March 2019 strictly in accordance with the relevant 
published oversubscription criteria and in the following order of priority: 

 
21. From 25 March 2019, parents may ask for their child’s name to be kept on a 

waiting list for an over subscribed school to be offered places if they become 
available after that date. The waiting lists for all schools/Academies/UTC will 
be maintained by the relevant admission authority* and any places which 
become available will be offered strictly in accordance with the published 
admission criteria of the appropriate admission authority.  Waiting lists will be 
maintained for the school year.  If parents want their child to remain on a 
waiting list for subsequent years, they must inform the LA in writing or via 
email. 

 

Page 200



 

 

PART 2 - LATE APPLICATIONS 
 
22. Applications received after the closing date of 31 October 2018 and prior to  

28 January 2019, will be considered and, as far as possible, will be offered a 
school place on 1 March 2019.  Applications received by the closing date take 
priority over late applications, however applications which are received for 
very good reason after the closing date will be accepted and treated as an on 
time application provided they are received before 28 January 2019, the date 
the allocation procedures begin (see paragraph 10). 

 
23. For applications received between 29 January 2019 and 21 March 2019 the 

LA will, on 22 March 2019, the re-allocation day, offer a place in accordance 
with parental preference, where possible, and if not possible, at the nearest 
school with places available. These will be considered equally along with all 
other applicants that are on the waiting lists for a higher preference school 
because they did not receive their first, or in some cases their second or third 
preference on 1 March 2019.  

 
24. For applications received between 22 March 2019 (the re-allocation day) and 

31 August 2019 inclusive, offer/refusal communications will be sent out within 
14 days of the LA receiving the application form and a reminder issued after 7 
days.  Any parent directly approaching a school must be referred to the LA. 
The LA will offer a place at the school highest in the parent’s order of rank that 
has a place available, or if this is not possible, at the nearest suitable school 
that has a place available. For those who do not receive a higher preferred 
school the waiting lists will continue to operate.  

PART 3 - IN-YEAR ADMISSIONS 

 
25. Applications received on or after 1 September 2019 will be treated as in-year 

admissions.  
 
26. For the first two weeks of the academic year 2019/20, transfers from one 

school to another of pupils who were offered a school place in the normal 
admissions round will be processed upon receipt of a request to transfer, 
without reference to the procedures outlined in paragraphs 27, 28, 29 and 30 
of this Scheme.  Specifically, the LA will, upon request, provide information 
about the places still available in all maintained schools within the area.  All 
relevant admission authorities will consider any request that is made (making 
reference to any waiting lists that are in operation) and then notify the LA, if 
appropriate, of the outcome*. Parents whose applications are refused will be 
offered a right of appeal. 

  
27. The common in-year application form will request details from the current 

school and parent including reason for transfer and will specify where it must 
be returned.  Governing Bodies of Aided and Foundation Schools and 
Academies/UTC, as the Admissions Authority, must notify the relevant LA of 
any application made to them in error whether or not the parent lives in 
County Durham. 

 

Page 201



 

 

28. For parents of children who live in another Local Authority area who have 
applied for an in-year place in a County Durham School – the Home Authority 
(LA) must contact the Maintaining Authority (Durham) to ascertain the 
availability of a place.  The Home Authority (LA) would then confirm the offer 
of a place to the parent, with a copy of the offer to the Maintaining Authority 
(Durham). 

 
29. The LA will make an offer of a place in respect of completed in year 

application forms for children living in County Durham.  For parents of children 
who have applied for an in year school place in another LA area – the Home 
Authority (Durham) must contact the Maintaining Authority (Other LA) to 
confirm the availability of a place.  The Home Authority (Durham) would then 
confirm the offer of a place to the parent, with a copy of the offer to the 
Maintaining Authority (Other LA). 

 
30. Secondary In-Year Admissions will be administered by the Council who will, 

send out in-year application forms and confirm an offer of a place to parents, 
school and, if appropriate, other Local Authority. 

 
31. The LA will inform parents who have not been offered a place into the school 

of their choice that they have the right to appeal if they so wish.  The letter will 
include contact details for the LA and those Voluntary Aided or Foundation 
schools or Academies, where they could not be offered a place, so they can if 
they wish lodge an appeal. Appeals for Voluntary Aided and Foundation 
Schools or Academies/UTC (where appropriate) must be submitted to the 
relevant Governing Body/Trust. 

 
32. Parents may ask for their child’s name to be kept on a waiting list, to be 

offered places if they become available at any school to which they have 
expressed a preference on the in-year Application Form.  The waiting lists - 
unless Aided/Trust/Academy/UTC chose to maintain the waiting lists 
themselves - and any places which become available will be offered strictly in 
accordance with the published admission criteria of the appropriate admission 
authority.  Waiting lists will be maintained for the school year.  Any offer of a 
school place will always be made by the Local Authority.  If parents want their 
child to remain on a waiting list for subsequent years, they must inform the LA 
in writing or via email. 

 
PART 4 - ADMISSION OF CHILDREN OUTSIDE THEIR NORMAL AGE GROUP 
 
33.  Where a child has been educated out of their normal age group, the parent 

may again request admission out of the normal age group when they transfer 
to secondary school. It will be for the admission authority of that school to 
decide whether to admit the child out of their normal age group. The 
admission authority will make a decision on the basis of the circumstances of 
each case and in the child’s best interests, and will bear in mind the age group 
the child has been educated in up to that point.  
 

Page 202



 

 

SCHEDULE 2 
 
 

Timetable for Admission to Secondary Schools/Academies/UTC 
September 2019 

 
 

12 September 2018 Parents Guide to School Admissions and Common 
Application Form are made available to parents 

31 October 2018 Closing date for return of forms to the LA  

23 November 2018 LA shares applications with neighboring LAs. Own 
admission authority schools* are able to view application 
on line 

18 January 2019 The relevant admission authority for neighbouring LA 
schools* provides the LA with the ranking list of applicants. 
Own admissions authority school rank  view application on 
line 

28 January 2019 LA allocates places in accordance with relevant 
admission/oversubscription criteria and informs other LAs 
of places in County Durham to be offered to their 
residents. 

1 March 2019 LA makes offer to parents and schools can view on- line 
the pupils to be offered places at their schools.  Those 
parents not receiving a higher or any preferred school will 
have their child’s name place on the waiting list(s) 

15 March 2019 Deadline for parents to accept the offer of a school place. 

22 March 2019 Any places that become available since 1 March are 
reallocated to parents  

25 March 2019 Waiting lists are established and begin to operate 

 
* Unless a local agreement exists for the LA to undertake this function on behalf of an own admission 

authority. 

 

Page 203



 

 

ANNEX 1 
 

 
The Governing Bodies of the Voluntary Aided Schools listed below are Admission 
Authorities to which this Scheme applies: 
 
 St Bede’s RC Comprehensive, Peterlee 
 
The Governing Bodies of the Foundation Schools listed below are the Admissions 
Authorities to which this Scheme applies: 
 
 Greenfield Community College, A Specialist Arts and Science School 
 Whitworth Park School and Sixth Form College 
 
The Trusts of the Academies/UTC, South Durham listed below are the Admissions 
Authorities to which this Scheme applies: 
 
 North Durham Academy 
 The Academy at Shotton Hall 
 The Hermitage Academy 
 Park View School 
 Teesdale School 
 King James 1 Academy 
 Consett Academy 
 Staindrop School, an Academy 
 St John’s School and Sixth Form College, a Catholic Academy 
 Framwellgate School, Durham 
 St Bede’s Catholic School and Sixth Form Centre, Lanchester 
 St Leonard’s Catholic School 
 Woodham Academy 
 Easington Academy 
 Parkside Academy 
 UTC South Durham 

 

Page 204



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADMISSION POLICIES / OVERSUBSCRIPTION CRITERIA FOR 

COMMUNITY AND VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED NURSERY 

SCHOOLS AND UNITS, INFANT, JUNIOR, PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY SCHOOLS 

Page 205



 

 

ADMISSION TO COMMUNITY AND VOLUNTARY  
CONTROLLED NURSERY SCHOOLS AND UNITS 

 
 
Priority will be given to children entitled to 15 hours per week and these places 
must be allocated first.  Places are allocated for the 15 hours per week 
entitlement according to the oversubscription criteria listed below:  
 
1. Children who are ‘looked after’ or a child who was previously looked 

after but immediately after being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, residence/child arrangement, or special guardianship order*. 
A looked after child is a child who is, at the time of making an application to a 
school, (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with 
accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services 
functions (see the definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). 

 

 An adoption order is an order under section 12 of the Adoption Act 1976 or 
section 46 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002. A ‘residence order’ is an 
order settling the arrangements to be made as to the person with whom the 
child is to live under section 8 of the Children Act 1989. A child arrangement 
order is an order settling the arrangements to be made as to the person with 
whom the child is to live under section 14 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 defines a ‘special guardianship 
order’ as an order appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special 
guardian (or special guardians). 

 
2. Children In Need 
 

The Children Act 1989 defines a child 'in need' as: 
 

a) He/she is unlikely to achieve or maintain, or to have the opportunity 
of achieving or maintaining, a reasonable standard of health or 
development without the provision of services by the Local Authority 
under Part 3 of the Act. 

b) His/her health or development is likely to be significantly impaired, or 
further impaired, without the provision for him/her of such services. 

c) He/she is disabled.  
 

A maximum of two part-time nursery places are retained until the end of 
the Autumn half term in order to accommodate emergency referrals of 
children "in need" as defined in the requirements of the Children Act, 
1989. 
 

3.  The Two Year Old Free Entitlement 
 

Where a child has been accessing the free entitlement for 2 year olds in a 
maintained nursery school or unit, for a minimum of 15 hours per week for 
two terms immediately prior to the child becoming eligible for free 
entitlement, they shall receive priority for admission to that maintained 
nursery school or unit in order to preserve continuity, providing that they 
also live within County Durham's administrative area. 

Page 206



 

 

4.  Age 
 

The offer of a place will be prioritised according to date of birth.  Normally, 
the earliest date your child can be accepted for Early Years Provision is 
the term after the child’s 3rd birthday, although some 2 year olds can 
access the free entitlement.  Where applicants have the same date of 
birth, priority will be given to the earliest date of application. 

 
5.  Those children who are only entitled to the universal entitlement of 15 

hours free early education per week 
 

Those children who are not eligible for the extended 30 hours offer should be 
offered the 15 hours universal entitlement for a minimum of three terms before 
they are due to enter a full time school place in the Reception year.  
Maintained nurseries should plan for this provision to ensure those who are 
only entitled to 15 hours are offered a place. 

 
6.  Children Living in Other Authorities 
 

Although there are no catchment areas for places, preference will be given to 
children whose parents live within County Durham's administrative area.  Only 
when all children living within the boundary of County Durham have been 
allocated a place, may a child living in a neighbouring area be offered a place. 

 
30 hours free early education per week, term time, from September 2017:   
 
This is for 3 & 4 year olds from working families that meet the eligibility 
criteria.  The 30 hours free place will consist of the current 15 hours universal 
entitlement for all 3 & 4 year olds, which will be extended by an additional 15 
free hours. The additional 15 free hours will be known as the ‘extended 
entitlement’.   
 
The maintained nursery school or unit will undertake a validation check on the 
eligibility code and details provided by the parent on the application form. On 
confirmation the code is valid the following criteria will be applied to all 
applicants: 
 
If there are more places available than applications, all children will be offered 
a place.  Subsequent applicants will be offered places until the provision is 
full.  Once all places have been allocated, further applications will be included 
on a waiting list and places will be allocated in accordance with the 30 hours 
oversubscription criteria. 
 
If there are more applications than places the 30 hours oversubscription 
criteria will be applied as follows. 

 
30 Hours oversubscription criteria: 
 
Places will be allocated on a “first come, first served” basis on receipt of a 
verified code.  

Page 207



 

 

ADMISSION TO COMMUNITY AND VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED INFANT, 
JUNIOR AND PRIMARY SCHOOLS 

 
Oversubscription Criteria: 
 
If more children want a place than there are places available, we will offer places 
according to the following criteria, strictly in order of priority: 
 
1. Children who are ‘looked after’ or a child who was previously looked 

after but immediately after being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, residence/child arrangement, or special guardianship order*.  
A looked after child is a child who is, at the time of making an application to a 
school, (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with 
accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services 
functions (see the definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). 

 

2. Medical Reasons 
Children with very exceptional medical factors directly related to school 
placement.   

 

3. Sibling Links 
Children who have a sibling** already attending the school and who is 
expected to be on roll at the school at the time of admission. 

 

4. Distance 
Children who live nearest the preferred school measured by the shortest 
walking route***.  This will be based on the childs’ address.  Where the last 
place to be allocated would mean that a multiple birth sibling group i.e. twins, 
triplets or other multiple birth sibling groups, would be split, the sibling group 
will be given priority over other children.  Otherwise if only one final place can 
be offered and two applicants live equidistant from the school, the LA’s 
system of random allocation will apply. 

 
* An adoption order is an order under section 12 of the Adoption Act 1976 or section 
46 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002.  A ‘residence order’ is an order settling the 
arrangements to be made as to the person with whom the child is to live under 
section 8 of the Children Act 1989.  A child arrangement order is an order settling the 
arrangements to be made as to the person with whom the child is to live under 
section 14 of the Children and Families Act 2014.  Section 14A of the Children Act 
1989 defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order appointing one or more 
individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians). 
 
** Sibling is defined as children who live as brother or sister in the same house, 
including natural brothers or sisters, half brothers or sisters, adopted brothers or 
sisters, step brothers or sisters and children of the parent/carer’s partner.  Some 
schools give priority to siblings of pupils attending another community and voluntary 
controlled school with which they have close links (for example, schools on the same 
site).  Where this is the case, details will be published in the Local Authority’s 
Admissions Brochure.   
 
*** In assessing home to school distance the LA uses a Geographic Information 
System (GIS) to identify and measure the shortest route utilising only the Ordnance 
Survey Integrated Transport Network (ITN) and Urban Paths Network (UPN) which 
are national recognised datasets. The LA will not include any other routes or any 

Page 208



 

 

other method of measurement. Routes are measured from the centre point**** of the 
child’s house, or in the case of a flat from the centre point**** of the building, to the 
nearest school site entrance.  In all cases the GIS identifies the route to be 
measured by connecting in a straight line the centre point**** of the child’s house to 
the closest point on the nearest route on the ITN/UPN. 
 
****In accordance with the co-ordinates of the Basic Land and Property Unit on the 
National Land and Property Gazetteer. 

Page 209



 

 

OVERSUBSCRIPTION CRITERIA FOR COMMUNITY SECONDARY SCHOOLS 
 
When there are more requests for places than those available, the following criteria 
will be used to allocate places strictly in order of priority: 
 
1. Children who are ‘looked after’ or a child who was previously looked 

after but immediately after being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, residence/child arrangement, or special guardianship order*.  
A looked after child is a child who is, at the time of making an application to a 
school, (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with 
accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services 
functions (see the definition in section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). 

 
2. Medical Reasons 

Children with very exceptional medical factors directly related to school 
placement 

 
3. Sibling Links 

Children who have a sibling** already attending the school and who is 
expected to be on roll at the school at the time of admission. 

 
4. Applicants to their nearest School  

Those children who have applied for a place at the nearest school to their 
home address measured by the shortest walking route*** 

 
5. All other applicants 
 
Tie-breaker 
 
Where the school is oversubscribed within any of the above categories the following 
tiebreakers will be applied: 

 
(a) For those children who have applied for a place at the nearest school to their 

home address (category 4), priority will be given to those who would 
otherwise have to travel the furthest distance to the next nearest school1  

 
(b) For other children (category 5), priority will be given to those children who live 

nearest to the school applied for.  Otherwise if only one final place can be 
offered and two applicants live equidistant from the school, the LA’s system of 
random allocation will apply. 

 
In the unlikely event of the school being oversubscribed within categories 1, 2 
or 3 tiebreaker (b) will apply.  

 
 Footnote1:  ‘School’ means any maintained secondary school or a DFE maintained Academy 

in County Durham.  Distance will be measured by the shortest walking route. Those parents 
who live in County Durham and have children in year 6 in primary schools maintained by 
Durham County Council will be provided with information for them to find out which school is 
nearest to their home address according to the official measuring system.  The same 
information will be provided for any other applicant on request. 

Page 210



 

 

* An adoption order is an order under section 12 of the Adoption Act 1976 or section 
46 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002.  A ‘residence order’ is an order settling the 
arrangements to be made as to the person with whom the child is to live under 
section 8 of the Children Act 1989.  A child arrangement order is an order settling the 
arrangements to be made as to the person with whom the child is to live under 
section 14 of the Children and Families Act 2014.  Section 14A of the Children Act 
1989 defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order appointing one or more 
individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians). 
 
** Sibling is defined as children who live as brother or sister in the same house, 
including natural brothers or sisters, half brothers or sisters, adopted brothers or 
sisters, step brothers or sisters and children of the parent/carer’s partner.  Some 
schools give priority to siblings of pupils attending another community and voluntary 
controlled school with which they have close links (for example, schools on the same 
site).  Where this is the case, details will be published in the Local Authority’s 
Admissions Brochure.   
 
*** In assessing home to school distance the LA uses a Geographic Information 
System (GIS) to identify and measure the shortest route utilising only the Ordnance 
Survey Integrated Transport Network (ITN) and Urban Paths Network (UPN) which 
are national recognised datasets. The LA will not include any other routes or any 
other method of measurement. Routes are measured from the centre point**** of the 
child’s house, or in the case of a flat from the centre point**** of the building, to the 
nearest school site entrance.  In all cases the GIS identifies the route to be 
measured by connecting in a straight line the centre point**** of the child’s house to 
the closest point on the nearest route on the ITN/UPN. 
 
****In accordance with the co-ordinates of the Basic Land and Property Unit on the 
National Land and Property Gazetteer. 
 

Page 211



 

 

SIXTH FORMS – COMMUNITY SECONDARY SCHOOLS 
 
Applications for Year 12 
 
Some County Durham secondary schools offer sixth form of study for students.  The 
majority of the sixth form students transfer from Year 11, but places are available for 
external students. 
 
The entry requirements for sixth forms are largely dependent on the course of study 
that a student wishes to access.  They are the same for internal and external 
students.  Details of specific entry requirements and courses available may be 
obtained from the school.  The availability of courses is dependent upon the number 
of applicants and the financial sustainability of the course and the Governing Body of 
the school determines this. 
 
Entry requirements and oversubscription criteria: 
 
Priority will be given to: 
 
1. Students who have attended the school in the previous academic year (during 

Year 11) and who satisfy the school’s entry requirements* for the course 
available and then, 

2. All other students of the relevant age who satisfy the school’s entry requirements* 
for the course available. 

 
Where the school is oversubscribed within category (1) the following will be applied, 
strictly in order of priority: 
 
a) Children who are ‘looked after’ or a child who was previously looked after 

but immediately after being looked after became subject to an adoption, 
residence/child arrangement, or special guardianship order**.  A looked after 
child is a child who is, at the time of making an application to a school, (a) in the 
care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 
authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in 
section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). 

b) Students who will have a sibling*** at the secondary school during the coming 
academic year. 

c) All other students. 
d) Distance from home to school measured by the shortest walking route****, with 

those living nearest the school receiving priority.  Otherwise if only one final place 
can be offered and two applicants live equidistant from the school, the LA’s 
system of random allocation will apply. 

 
Where the school is oversubscribed within category (2) the above criteria will be 
applied, strictly in order of priority with the exception that, after b), the following will 
apply:  all other students who previously attended in Year 11, a maintained school or 
academy with 11-16 provision only. 
 
Applicants refused admission to a sixth form are entitled to an appeal to an 
independent appeals panel. 

Page 212



 

 

*Details of the entry requirements are available from the individual Sixth Forms. 
 
** An adoption order is an order under section 12 of the Adoption Act 1976 or section 
46 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002.  A ‘residence order’ is an order settling the 
arrangements to be made as to the person with whom the child is to live under 
section 8 of the Children Act 1989.  A child arrangement order is an order settling the 
arrangements to be made as to the person with whom the child is to live under 
section 14 of the Children and Families Act 2014.  Section 14A of the Children Act 
1989 defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order appointing one or more 
individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians). 
 
*** Sibling is defined as children who live as brother or sister in the same house, 
including natural brothers or sisters, half brothers or sisters, adopted brothers or 
sisters, step brothers or sisters and children of the parent/carer’s partner.  Some 
schools give priority to siblings of pupils attending another community and voluntary 
controlled school with which they have close links (for example, schools on the same 
site).  Where this is the case, details will be published in the Local Authority’s 
Admissions Brochure.   
 
**** In assessing home to school distance the LA uses a Geographic Information 
System (GIS) to identify and measure the shortest route utilising only the Ordnance 
Survey Integrated Transport Network (ITN) and Urban Paths Network (UPN) which 
are national recognised datasets. The LA will not include any other routes or any 
other method of measurement. Routes are measured from the centre point**** of the 
child’s house, or in the case of a flat from the centre point***** of the building, to the 
nearest school site entrance.  In all cases the GIS identifies the route to be 
measured by connecting in a straight line the centre point***** of the child’s house to 
the closest point on the nearest route on the ITN/UPN. 
 
*****In accordance with the co-ordinates of the Basic Land and Property Unit on the 
National Land and Property Gazetteer. 
 
 

Page 213



 

 

Appendix 5 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 
NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 
Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 
recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 
Service/Team or Section 
 

Education, School Places and Admissions 

Lead Officer 
 

Sheila Palmerley 

Title 
 

Strategic Manager, School Places and Admissions 

MTFP Reference (if relevant) 
 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

7 February 2018 

Start Date 
 

January 2018 

Review Date 
 

January 2019 

 
Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

School Admission arrangements  academic year 2019/2020 
Proposed changes to the oversubscription criteria for admission to Community and 
Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and Nursery Units from 1 September 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

 
General Public, Head Teachers and Governing Bodies/ Academy Trusts of all 
schools/academies in County Durham, neighbouring Local Authorities, providers of 
Early Years Education  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 214



 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N The school 
admission 
arrangements 
comply with the 
Admissions Code of 
Practice and ensure 
fairness and equity.  

Disability 
 

N The school 
admission 
arrangements 
comply with the 
Admissions Code of 
Practice and ensure 
fairness and equity. 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N N 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N The school 
admission 
arrangements 
comply with the 
Admissions Code of 
Practice and ensure 
fairness and equity. 

Religion or Belief 
 

N The school 
admission 
arrangements 
comply with the 
Admissions Code of 
Practice and ensure 
fairness and equity. 

Sex (gender) 
 

N The school 
admission 
arrangements 
comply with the 
Admissions Code of 
Practice and ensure 
fairness and equity. 

Sexual orientation 
 

N The school 
admission 
arrangements 
comply with the 
Admissions Code of 

Page 215



 

 

Practice and ensure 
fairness and equity. 

Transgender 
 

N The school 
admission 
arrangements 
comply with the 
Admissions Code of 
Practice and ensure 
fairness and equity. 
 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

The main groups affected are children and their families living in County Durham. 
It is not expected that children and their families will be adversely affected. 
 
 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The School Admissions Code exists to ensure fairness and equity in school 
admissions arrangements. The oversubscription criteria comply with the Code and: 

 Are not gender specific and apply equally to all male/female applicants 

 Do not apply to pupils who have a statement of Special Educational Needs as 
they are automatically admitted to the school named in the Statement, 
therefore they have priority for admission to school 

 Are not age specific 

 Ensure that all pupils regardless of race/ethnicity/religion or belief/sexual 
orientation are ranked according to the oversubscription criteria 

 
The number of school places and the co-ordination of admissions via the schemes 
do not impact on specific groups. 
 
 

 
Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any gaps 
and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater detail 
and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

The School Admissions Code exists to ensure fairness and equity in school 
admission arrangements. The policy and oversubscription criteria and co-ordinated 
admission schemes comply with the School Admissions Code.  
 
 
 

Page 216



 

 

 
Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

N 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

Y 

 
Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off:  
 
 

Date: 
 
11 January 2018 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 
If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 
If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 
service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 
If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 
equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 
  
 

Page 217

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 
 
7 February 2018 
 
Proposal to Change the Age Range of 
Bowburn Junior School from 7-11 to 3-11 
From 1 September 2019 in an Enlarged 
New Build to Create a Primary School 
and to Close Bowburn Infant and Nursery 
School as a Registered School on 31 
August 2019 
 
Key Decision CYPS/03/17 
 

 

 
 

Report of Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director, Children and 
Young People’s Services; and 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People’s Services 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek Cabinet approval to change the age range of Bowburn Junior School 
from 7-11 to 3-11 from 1 September 2019 in an enlarged new build to create a 
Primary School and to close Bowburn Infant and Nursery School as a 
registered school on 31 August 2019, taking account of the Local Authority’s 
duties as prescribed in the Education and Inspections Act 2006 to secure 
sufficient places, and to ensure good outcomes for all children and young 
people in this local area. 

Background 

2 In December 2016, Cabinet approved its overarching strategy for school 
organisation and the pattern and provision of schools across County Durham.  
One of the principles underlying the strategy is where practicable to do so, to 
move towards a pattern of ‘all through’ primary schools rather than separate 
infant and junior schools.  In November 2017, Cabinet also approved a 
strategic review of school provision in County Durham to ensure the financial 
sustainability of schools.  This review builds on the strategy approved in 
December 2016 and aims to ensure that County Durham has an appropriate 
mix and the right number of high performing sustainable schools.  One of the 
options to be utilised to meet this aim is the amalgamation of schools. 

3 Officers within the Education Service believe that children and their families 
will benefit from continuity of education provision from age 3-11 in a single 
school, rather than two separate schools.  The proposal to amalgamate 
Bowburn Infant and Nursery School and Bowburn Junior School into a single 
primary school is in accordance with the council’s strategy of moving towards 

Page 219

Agenda Item 6



a model of all through primary schools instead of separate Nursery, Infant and 
Junior Schools.  In November 2017, Cabinet also approved a strategic review 
of school provision in County Durham to ensure the financial sustainability of 
schools.  This review builds on the strategy approved in December 2016 and 
aims to ensure that County Durham has an appropriate mix and the right 
number of high performing, financially sustainable schools.  One of the 
options to be utilised to meet this aim is the amalgamation of schools. 

4 The proposal will result in a larger, more sustainable school in a new build 
that can deliver primary education for the community of Bowburn for the long 
term.  A new build school on the existing site of the Junior School is also the 
most effective solution for Bowburn to address the poor condition of Bowburn 
Junior School and to address the pressure on school places as a result of the 
significant growth via housing developments. 

Consultation 

5 Using delegated powers, the Corporate Director, Children and Young 
People’s Services approved the start of consultation on the proposal to 
change the age range of Bowburn Junior School from 7-11 to 3-11 from 1 
September 2019.  The delegated decision report is included in Appendix 2. 

6 A public consultation was undertaken between 2 October 2017 and 10 
November 2017.  This consultation included meetings with Governors and 
staff on 11 and 12 October 2017 and an information sharing meeting for 
parents, pupils and the local community on 18 October 2017, so that their 
views could be shared with the Local Authority.  Details of the consultation 
and a full summary of the consultation responses is included in the delegated 
decision report attached as Appendix 2. 

7 When considering responses to the consultation, the council has referred to 
the Department for Education (DfE) guidance – “Statutory guidance for 
decision-makers deciding prescribed alteration and establishment and 
discontinuance proposals”.  This guidance states that the decision-maker (in 
this case the Local Authority) should consider the views of those affected by 
the proposal or who have an interest in it, including cross-LA border interests.  
The decision-maker should not simply take account of the numbers of people 
expressing a particular view.  Instead, they should give the greatest weight to 
responses from those stakeholders likely to be most directly affected by a 
proposal, especially parents of children at the affected school(s). 

8 The responses to the consultation were received and considered by officers in 
the County Council.  The large majority (63) were in support of the proposal 
and only 2 were not in support of it.  Those responses received that were not 
in support of the proposal wished for the schools to remain as separate 
schools.  This would not, however, address the concerns over the pressure on 
school places caused by growth in the area and on the condition of Bowburn 
Junior School building.  Furthermore, the responses did not suggest that 
leaving the two schools as separate schools would have the benefits that “all 
through” Primary Schools have including continuity and progress of learning 
between 4 and 11, a single application of assessment criteria and pupil 

Page 220



teaching and access to a curriculum planned and assessed across the full 
primary range.  A summary of the responses is provided in the delegated 
decision report dated 15 November 2017 which is included in Appendix 2. 

Decision to Issue a Statutory Notice 

9 After full consideration of all the responses to the consultation, the Corporate 
Director, Children and Young People’s Services used delegated powers to 
agree to publish proposals to change the age range of Bowburn Junior School 
from 7-11 to 3-11 from 1 September 2019 in an enlarged new build and to 
close Bowburn Infant and Nursery School as a registered school on 31 
August 2019.  A statutory notice was therefore published on 23 November 
2017 (attached as Appendix 3). 

10 Once the proposal is published there follows a statutory 4 week 
representation period during which comments on the proposal can be made.  
These must be sent to the Local Authority.  Any person can submit 
representations, which can be objections as well as expressions of support for 
the proposal.  The representation period is the final opportunity for people and 
organisations to express their views about the proposal and ensure that they 
will be taken into account by the decision-maker (in this case the council’s 
Cabinet).  Once the representation period has closed, a decision on the 
proposal must be made within 2 months ie: by 21 February 2018. 

Responses to the Proposal Published on 23 November 2017  
(The Statutory Notice Period) 

11 1 response was received by the end of the 4 week statutory notice period.  
This respondent expressed concerns as to access to the site for the proposed 
primary school and queried whether the site was large enough.  It was unclear 
whether the response was in support of the proposal or not. 

Decision-Making Process 

Factors to be Considered by Cabinet 

(a) Related Proposals 

12 Any proposal that is ‘related’ to another proposal must be considered 
together.  A proposal should be regarded as ‘related’ if its implementation (or 
non-implementation) would prevent or undermine the effective implementation 
of another proposal.  Decisions for ‘related’ proposals should be compatible. 

13 The proposal to change the age range of Bowburn Junior School from 7-11 to 
3-11 from 1 September 2019 in an enlarged new build and to close Bowburn 
Infant and Nursery School as a registered school on 31 August 2019 are 
‘related’ therefore they must be considered together. 

(b) Consideration of Consultation and Representation Period 

14 Cabinet needs to be satisfied that the appropriate fair and open local 
consultation and representation period have been carried out and that the 

Page 221



proposer (in this case the Local Authority) has given full consideration to all 
the responses received.  If the proposer has failed to meet the statutory 
requirements, this proposal may be deemed invalid and therefore should be 
rejected. 

15 Cabinet must consider all of the views submitted, including all support for, 
objection to and comments on the proposal.  Details of the consultation are 
included in paragraph 8.  The statutory notice published on 23 November 
2017 and which expired on 21 December 2017 (the representation period) is 
attached as Appendix 3.  Officers prepared the notice as set out in the 
regulations and complied with statutory requirements. 

16 The report attached as Appendix 2 provides full details of the responses 
received during the consultation period from 2 October – 10 November 2017.  
In summary, 65 responses were received, 63 in support of the proposal and 2 
not in support of the proposal. 

Summary of Responses 

17 The following information provides a summary of the 65 responses received 
to the consultation: 

 Stakeholders viewed the proposal as positive because it will bring the 
community together; 

 Stakeholders welcomed the fact they would only have to take their children to 
one school building; 

 Stakeholders felt that the location of the existing junior school site for the 
proposed enlarged new build is the most appropriate as it enables the 
majority of children to walk to school and there is no noise or other distraction 
that may impact on learning.  Concerns were expressed however, over the 
access to the proposed new build; 

 Stakeholders not in support of the proposal were concerned that the facilities 
in the proposed new build would not be as good as those in the existing 
schools and that the impact of the proposed amalgamation on staff was not 
known. 

(c) Education Standards and Diversity of Provision 

18 Officers believe that educationally the proposal to change the age range of 
Bowburn Junior School from 7-11 to 3-11 in an enlarged new build from 1 
September 2019 and to close Bowburn Infant and Nursery School as a 
registered school on 31 August 2019 is in the best interests of pupils and their 
families.  Evidence gathered over a number of years shows that Primary 
Schools (instead of separate Infant and Junior Schools) have many benefits 
for children including: 

Page 222



 Continuity and progress of learning between ages 4-11; this would also mean 
that families only apply for a place in Reception and no longer need to apply 
again at the end of Year 2. 

 Unified leadership and management of the curriculum, teaching and social 
development; this would mean that children had one consistent approach 
towards all aspects of their primary school life. 

 Access to a curriculum planned and assessed across the whole primary 
range; this would enable staff to help children make progress from exactly 
where they left off at the end of the previous year, rather than cover learning 
which has already taken place. 

19 Bowburn Infant and Nursery School and Bowburn Junior School are judged 
as ‘Good’ by Ofsted.  The most recent Ofsted report (November 2014) for 
Bowburn Junior School stated that senior leaders, managers and Governors 
are ambitious for the school and have maintained a good quality of education.  
All groups of pupils achieve well and standards at the end of Year 6 are above 
average in maths and writing.  The most recent Ofsted report (March 2017) 
for Bowburn Infant and Nursery School stated that the leadership team has 
maintained a good quality of education.  Outcomes in reading continue to be 
strong, the teaching of writing and mathematics has strengthened so that 
pupils make strong progress in those subjects. 

20 The proposal for a single primary school will build on those strengths and 
officers believe that learning and progress will be improved further if the two 
schools are amalgamated into a single primary school in a new build. 

(d) Demand v Need 

21 In assessing the demand for new school places Cabinet should consider any 
projected increase in pupil population (such as planned housing 
developments) and evidence of parents’ aspiration for a new school or for 
places in a school proposed for expansion.  The projected pupil rolls for 
Bowburn Infant and Nursery School and Bowburn Junior School are 
anticipated to increase from 328 to 475 due to recent and proposed housing 
developments in the area.  The responses to the consultation clearly indicated 
that a new school would be supported.  The size of the proposed expanded 
new build school is for 540 pupils and a nursery unit providing up to 140 part-
time nursery places.  There is therefore a demand and a need for an 
expanded new build primary school. 

(e) Proposed Admission Arrangements 

22 The proposed admission arrangements will be the same as those for all 
community and voluntary controlled schools in County Durham and these are 
compliant with the DfE’s School Admission Code.  The proposed number of 
pupils to be admitted to Reception of the proposed Primary School in 
September 2019 will be 75. 

 

Page 223



(f) National Curriculum 

23 All maintained schools must follow the National Curriculum unless they have 
secured on exemption for groups of pupils or the school community.  The 
proposed Primary School will follow the National Curriculum. 

(g) Equal Opportunity Issues and Community Cohesion 

24 Cabinet must have regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) of LAs / 
Governing Bodies, which requires them to have ‘due regard’ to the need to: 

 Eliminate discrimination; 

 Advance quality of opportunity; and  

 Foster good relations. 
 

25 An equality impact assessment (part of Appendix 2) has been carried out on 
this proposal.  There are no potential impacts in relation to age, gender, 
disability, sexual orientation or ethnicity for pupils and parents / carers.  The 
current schools provide education for boys and girls aged between 3-11 years 
and the proposed Primary School will continue to provide education for boys 
and girls across the same age range.  The location of the proposed new build 
is on the site of the existing Junior School.  The new build will be fully 
accessible. 

(h) Travel and Accessibility 

26 The proposed new build Primary School will be on the site of the existing 
Bowburn Junior School.  Consequently there will be no increases to travel 
time and a single site will make it easier for parents to take their children to 
school. 

(i) Funding 

27 Cabinet must be satisfied that the necessary funding required to implement 
the proposal will be available.  The cost of the proposed new build will be 
approximately £8.2 million.  This will be funded by contributions from housing 
developers via Section 106 agreements, a capital receipt from the sale of 
land, Basic Need funding from DfE, and council funding. 

(j) School Premises and Playing Fields 

28 Under the School Premises Regulations all schools are required to provide 
suitable outdoor space in order to enable physical education to be provided to 
pupils in accordance with the school curriculum; and for pupils to play outside 
safely.  The site of the existing Bowburn Junior School which is the site for the 
proposed new build has suitable outdoor space. 

Recommendations and Reasons 

29 Officers believe that proceeding with the proposal will enhance education 
provision in Bowburn.  Amalgamating Bowburn Infant and Nursery School and 
Bowburn Junior School into one Primary School in an enlarged new build will 

Page 224



provide a more viable educational establishment for the long term to respond 
to the growth in Bowburn. 

30 In the view of the council, amalgamating Infant and Junior Schools is in the 
best interests of children and their families.  Primary Schools have more 
opportunity, through daily contact, for those working within the school to work 
together in the best interests of the pupils.  They benefit from the consistency 
that working under the leadership of one Headteacher and one Governing 
Body brings.  A single Primary School can reduce the potential for disruption, 
which some children experience, when they transfer from Infant to Junior 
School. 

31 Cabinet is recommended to agree: 

 (a) that the age range of Bowburn Junior school should be changed from 
7-11 to 3-11 in an expanded new build from 1 September 2019 to 
create a primary school; and 

(b) that Bowburn Infant and Nursery School should close as a requested 
school on 31 August 2019.   

 
Background papers 
 
Appendix 2 – Delegated Decision Report 
Appendix 3 – Statutory Notice 
 

Contact:  Graeme Plews   Tel: 03000 265 777  

  

Page 225



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – The cost of the new build will be approximately £8.2 million.  This will be 
funded by contributions from housing developers, a capital receipt in respect of 
Bowburn Infant and Nursery School, Basic Need funding from DfE, and council 
funding. 

 £ 

MTFP Capital Bid 7,120,000 

Developer Contributions 450,000 

Capital Receipt 480,000 

Basic Need 150,000 

 

Staffing – It is possible that there may be some staff ‘at risk’ of redundancy, 
particularly non-teaching staff including caretakers, cleaners and school meals staff if 
the schools are amalgamated in a new build from 1 September 2019. 

 

Risk – If the proposal is not implemented there is a risk that the opportunity for a new 
build school to respond to growth in the area and to eliminate the expenditure on 
remedial work to the existing buildings is lost. 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – The proposal to amalgamate 
Bowburn Infant and Nursery School and Bowburn Junior School into a single primary 
school in a new build will benefit pupils, staff and parents.  Education will be provided 
in a much improved environment to provide a positive learning experience for children 
and the amalgamation will enhance education provision in the area and provide equal 
access to all.  Furthermore, creating a single primary school will enable more efficient 
use of resources with one Headteacher and one leadership team and will obviate the 
need for expenditure on remedial works to the current buildings. 

The focus on improved education outcomes is seen as a positive experience in a 
child’s education and ensures that children who are protected under the Equality and 
Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty can maximise their potential.  The main groups 
affected are children attending Bowburn Infant and Nursery School and Bowburn 
Junior School, their families and staff.  An Equality Impact Assessment is attached as 
part of Appendix 2. 

 

Accommodation – The new build primary school would be located on the Bowburn 
Junior School site if the proposal is agreed.  The new build will provide a building fit 
for the delivery of an effective 21st century curriculum.  The new build would be fully 
accessible. 

 

Crime and Disorder – N/A 

Page 226



 

Human Rights – Human rights will not be affected by this proposal. 

 

Consultation – consultation has been carried out in accordance with DfE statutory 
guidance. 

 

Procurement – The new build school will be procured in accordance with the County 
Council’s procurement arrangements. 

 

Disability Issues – N/A 

 

Legal Implications – Covered in the body of the report. 

 

 

 
 
  

Page 227



Appendix 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 228



 

 
 
 
 

Page 229



 

Page 230



 
 

Page 231



 
 
 
 
 

Page 232



 
 

Page 233



 
 
 
 

Page 234



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 235



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 236



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 237



 

 

Page 238



 
 

Page 239



 

 
 
 

Page 240



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 241



 
 
 
 
 

Page 242



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 243



 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 244



 

Page 245



 
 
 

Page 246



 

Page 247



 

Page 248



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 249



 

 
 
 

Page 250



 

Page 251



 

Page 252



 
 
 
 

Page 253



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 254



 

 
 

Page 255



 
 
 
 

Page 256



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 257



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 258



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 259



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 261



 

Page 262



 

 
 

Page 263



 
 

11 January 2018 

Page 264



Appendix 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

Proposal to change the age range of Bowburn Junior School from 7-11 to 3-11 from 1 
September 2019 in an enlarged new build to create a Primary School and to close 

Bowburn Infant and Nursery School as a registered school on 31 August 2019 
 

Notice is given in accordance with Section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 
that Durham County Council intends to make a prescribed alteration to Bowburn Junior School 
(Community), Surtees Avenue, Bowburn, Co Durham, DH6 5DZ and to close Bowburn Infant 
and Nursery School (Community), Wylam Street, Bowburn, Co Durham, DH6 5BE. 
 

It is proposed to amalgamate Bowburn Junior School and Bowburn Infant and Nursery School 
into a single primary school in an enlarged, new build premises on the site of Bowburn Junior 
School from 1 September 2019.   This will be achieved by changing the age range of Bowburn 
Junior School from 7-11 to 3-11 from 1 September 2019 to create a primary school from that 
date and by closing Bowburn Infant and Nursery School as a registered school on 31 August 
2019. 
 

The proposal reflects the work being done across County Durham to bring separate Infant and 
Junior Schools together where appropriate to form primary schools so children can benefit 
from primary education in one school rather than changing schools at age 7.   Amalgamating 
the schools will lead to a larger and more viable education establishment. 
 

The current capacity of Bowburn Junior School is for 224 pupils.   The current capacity of 
Bowburn Infant and Nursery School is for 168 pupils.  The capacity of the proposed new build 
primary school will be for 540 pupils.   There is also proposed to be a nursery unit providing 
up to 70 full-time equivalent places.   The proposed admission number for the proposed 
primary school will be 75.   A school of this size will address future pressure on school places 
as a result of the housing developments in Bowburn. 
 

At present, both Bowburn Junior School and Bowburn Infant and Nursery School are judged 
as ‘Good’ by Ofsted and the two schools already work together for the benefit of all pupils.   
The council believes that amalgamating the two schools will not have any negative impact on 
the standard of education provide to children in these schools. 
 

All services from the existing schools for the local community will continue to be provided if 
the schools become a primary school. 
 

This Notice is an extract from the full proposal.   Copies of the complete proposal can be 
obtained from:   Mr Graeme Plews, School Places and Admissions Team, Children and Young 
People’s Services, Durham County Council, County Hall, Durham, DH1 5UJ.   It is also 
available on the County Council’s website at www.durham.gov.uk/consultations. 
 

Within four weeks from the date of this publication any person may object to or make 
comments on the proposal by sending them to Mr Adam Williams, School Places and 
Admissions Team, Children and Young People’s Services, Business Reply Service, License 
No. DU63 (FREEPOST), Durham County Council, County Hall, Durham, DH1 5BR.  
Objections and comments can also be sent: 
 

 via the County Council's website at www.durham.gov.uk/consultations; or 
 e-mailed to schoolorganisation@durham.gov.uk.  
 

 

Page 265

http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultations


Signed: 
 
 
 
 

Margaret Whellans 
Corporate Director 
Children and Adults Services 
 
Publication Date:  23 November 2017   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 266



1 
 

Cabinet 
 

7 February 2018 
 
Regulation 7 Direction – Proposals to 
restrict Letting Boards in areas of high 
number student properties 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Director of Regeneration and Local Services 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. For Cabinet to authorise the Head of Planning and Assets to make a proposal to 
the Secretary of State under Regulation 7 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 for a Direction which 
would operate to withdraw deemed consent for the display of Letting Boards 
within the Durham City Conservation Area. 

   
2. The effect of such a Direction would therefore be to require advertisers to 

submit an application to the Council for express consent. Officers will also 
explore the need to introduce an interim planning policy on how such 
applications would be determined prior to a relevant policy being introduced as 
part of the County Durham Plan 

 
3. Significant representation has been made to the Council on the issues of letting 

boards and the impact they have on the environmental quality of Durham City. 
Introducing a Regulation 7 of the Control of Advertisement Regulation 
(Regulation 7 Order) would allow the Council to introduce controls on letting 
boards. The new control will improve the visual amenity of the area by removing 
large number of letting boards which are unsightly and difficult to control and 
detracts from the character and appearance of the special visual amenity of the 
Durham City Conservation Area. This new control would align with the Council’s 
vision of an ‘Altogether Better Durham’ and the Regeneration and Local 
Services (REAL) Service Grouping Key Area of Focus of “A Clean, Sustainable 
and Safe Environment”. 

 
Background 
 

4. Letting Boards are classed as a type of advertisement and are regulated by the 
Local Planning Authority under the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. However, Letting Boards, are a 

Page 267

Agenda Item 7



2 
 

class of advertisement that benefit from ‘deemed consent’ and do not require 
express consent. 

 
5. Under the regulations estate agents and landlords are allowed to put boards up 

advertising a property to let providing that they meet certain conditions. Where 
these conditions are not met, enforcement action can be taken which can be 
time consuming particularly if the breach allegedly relates to the board not being 
removed after a let. In some cases, landlords legitimately argue that one room 
in the property is still vacant and therefore they are permitted to retain the 
board. 

 
6. There has been significant representation made to the Council over a period of 

time concerning the impact that letting boards have on the historic 
environmental core of Durham City. 

 
7. Efforts to control the display of letting boards were first introduced a number of 

years ago following a step change in the nature and delivery of student 
accommodation in Durham City, which saw an increase in the specialist student 
landlords and a subsequent proliferation in the advertising. In 2011, following 
meetings with key stakeholders Durham County Council implemented a 
Voluntary Code seeking to control their display which has been modified and 
monitored over the years it has been in place. The view of officers is that the 
Voluntary Code, whilst having a positive impact, in particular in the initial years 
following its introduction, has not alleviated the harm to amenity and the 
environment to the expected standard, and more formal intervention is therefore 
now required. 

 
8. In particular it is felt that the effectiveness of the Voluntary Code has been 

diluted in the last year, as not all the estate agents and landlords have signed 
up to the Code, and even some of those who have done so have not proved as 
diligent as in past years at meeting the Code requirements. Enforcement of the 
Code has proved time consuming and costly for the Council. The table below 
shows the number of complaints in the area received by the Planning 
Enforcement Service over the last 3 years and demonstrates the increasing 
number of complaints received in 2017. 

 

Year Number of To Let Board Complaints Received 

2015   43 

2016   34 

2017   73 

 
Attached at appendix 3 are photographs showing some of the streets which 
have historically attracted some of the largest concentration of boards. These 
photographs demonstrate the scale of the problem at its worst, together with 
photographs showing the locations outside of the letting season  

 
9. It is therefore concluded that whilst improvements have been made, the 

introduction of the Voluntary Code has not had the desired impact on the area 
as expected.  

Page 268



3 
 

10. Introducing a Regulation 7 Direction would allow the Council to introduce firmer 
controls on letting boards in a way which it has not been able to achieve to date. 
However, as the power to make such a Direction is vested in the Secretary of 
State, as opposed to the Council, it will be necessary for the Council to apply to 
the Secretary of State for a Direction. 

 
11. The new control would improve the visual amenity of the area by removing a 

large number of letting boards which are unsightly and difficult to control and 
detract from the character and appearance of the special visual amenity of the 
Durham City Conservation Area. This new control would align with the Council’s 
vision of an ‘Altogether Better Durham’ and the REAL Service Grouping Key 
Area of Focus of “A Clean, Sustainable and Safe Environment”. 

 
12. There are best practice examples of other local authorities undertaking the 

same procedure. In June 2013, Newcastle City Council submitted an application 
to the Secretary of State for the making of a Regulation 7 Direction to control 
the display of Letting Boards, within the prime student areas of Newcastle 
including the areas of Jesmond, Gosforth, Heaton, Ouseburn and Wingove. The 
Secretary of State duly made the Regulation 7 Direction in September 2014. 
Following public notice of the approval, the Direction came into force on 5th 
January 2015 which restricts the display of letting boards in areas of the city 
with high levels of private rented and student accommodation. The introduction 
of the Regulation there has led to a significant reduction in the number of letting 
boards being displayed. 

  
Publicity and Consultation 
 

13. Publicity and consultation on the three options (see below) was undertaken 
between the 9th January 2017 and 17th February 2017. The following 
consultation methods were undertaken: 

 

 A drop in event was arranged providing the opportunity to discuss the 
proposed options in detail with planning and enforcement officers; 

 A press release was issued; 

 The consultation was advertised on the Council’s website which included 
an online survey which allowed people to comment on the proposed 
options; 

 Direct mailing was issued to key stakeholders. These stakeholders 
included the following: 

 
- Relevant Durham City Residents Groups 
- Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum 
- City of Durham Trust 
- Durham University  
- Durham University Students Union 
- Landlords 
- Letting Agents 
- Durham City AAP  
- Durham Bid 
- Roberta Blackman Woods MP 

Page 269



4 
 

- Durham City Councillors 
- Environmental Health Assured Housing Scheme Members 

 
14. Following the publicity and consultation a total number of 104 responses were 

received.  
 

15. The key comments of all the responses received are summarised in the table 
below. The table also indicates the frequency in which each comment was 
mentioned within the responses. 

 
 

Comments Frequency 

The letting boards are visually 
harmful and detract from the historic 
City, the Conservation Area and the 

World Heritage Site 

49 

Letting boards are no longer required 
as modern technology (emails, 

websites, internet etc) is likely the 
preferred method of finding 

accommodation 

37 

Option 3 for the implementation of a 
Regulation 7 Direction and complete 
ban of letting boards is the preferred 

option 

21 

The current voluntary code for the 
letting boards has not worked and 
some estate agents and landlords 

are ignoring the code 

18 

Requests that the Regulation 7 
Order be extended to cover the area 

of the existing Article 4 Direction 
which restricts conversions of C3 
dwelling house properties in to C4 

houses of multiple occupation 

5 

Option 3 for the implementation of a 
Regulation 7 Direction and complete 

ban of letting boards is an 
unreasonable course of action 

4 

It is noted that other local authorities 
have taken similar action and 

introduced a Regulation 7 Direction 

3 

Internal window letting boards is a 
better option than external boards 

2 

Letting boards do not always relate 
to the property the board is attached 

to 

1 

Some boards cause an obstruction 
on the footpaths 

1 

Page 270



5 
 

The letting boards do not create an 
adverse impact on the visual amenity 

of the area 

1 

Letting boards are considered to be 
a safety issue 

1 

Option 2 to continue with the current 
voluntary code is the preferred 

option 

1 

 
16. Included with the above, comments were received from Durham City Councillors 

Freeman and Ormerod as well as Belmont Councillor Conway. These 
Councillors stated they were in support of option 3 and the implementation of a 
Regulation 7 Direction. Support for this course of action has also been provided 
by the Member of Parliament for Durham City.  

 
 

Options 
 

17. Having regard to the representations made it is considered that the following 
options are available: 

 

 Option 1 – Revert back to position before the implementation of the 
Voluntary Code 

 

 Option 2 – Continue with the current Voluntary Code 
 

 Option 3 – Implementation of Regulation 7 Direction 
 

18. It is considered that Option 1 would be a regressive step as this would revert 
back to a situation before the introduction of the Voluntary Code, where the 
number of displayed letting board was at its highest.  This would have a 
significant detrimental impact on Durham (City Centre) Conservation Area as 
letting boards adversely impact upon the character and appearance of the 
individual properties and the collective extent of visual clutter causes significant 
visual intrusion that is detrimental to the townscape. 

 
19. It is considered that Option 2 would not provide any improvement or 

enhancement to the existing character of Durham (City Centre) Conservation 
Area. Whilst the introduction of the Voluntary Code has reduced the number of 
boards present it has not had the desired effect as not all landlords and agents 
have signed up to the Code. Letting boards are still considered to have an 
adverse visual impact and consequently it is considered desirable to implement 
further controls to mitigate the impact of letting boards in order to preserve and 
enhance the character and appearance of the designated area. 

 
20. Option 3 is therefore the preferred option as implementing the Regulation 7 

Direction would mean no letting boards can be displayed without formal consent 
from the Council. The Council would therefore have control over the display of 
the letting boards ensuring a consistent approach is applied throughout that 

Page 271



6 
 

either preserves or enhances the special interest, character and appearance of 
the Durham (City Centre) Conservation Area. 

 
Next Steps 
 

21. To introduce controls on letting boards the Council will be required to apply to 
the Secretary of State to request that he makes a Direction under regulation 7 of 
the 2007 Regulations. Guidance on the evidence required to support such a 
proposal is outlined in the National Planning Policy Framework which sets out 
the Government’s planning policies for England. 

 
22. The National Planning Policy Framework states that before a direction to 

remove deemed consent is made for specific advertisements, local planning 
authorities will be expected to demonstrate that the direction would improve 
visual amenity and there is no other way of effectively controlling a particular 
class of advertisement. Officers feel that a clear case can now be put forward 
having regard to the monitoring exercises undertaken following the introduction 
of the Voluntary Code. 

 
23. The guidance on public safety focuses on the safe use and operation of any 

form of traffic with regards to distractions from the advertisement. The Council’s 
Highways Officer have confirmed that letting boards in the Durham City area are 
not considered a significant public safety problem with regards to transport.  

 
24. However the impact that the current excessive levels of Letting Boards have on 

the visual amenity of the Durham City area is considered to be significant. 
Letting Boards are generally prominently displayed on principal elevations and 
where there are large numbers the visual impact on the street scene is 
particularly negative. The evidence the Officers have collected highlights that 
Letting Boards in the Durham City area are having a detrimental impact on the 
visual amenity and are harmful to the character, appearance and setting of the 
Durham City Conservation Area, and there is considered to be a strong case to 
support the introduction of controls under a Regulation 7 Direction.. 

 
25. The current Voluntary Code will continue to be implemented by the County 

Council until a decision has been made by the Secretary of State on the 
Regulation 7 Direction proposal. 

 
Legal Implications 

 
26. The application/proposal to be made under Regulation 7 of the Town and 

Country Planning (Control of Advertisement) (England) Regulations 2007 to the 
Secretary of State will require satisfaction of publicity requirements (local 
newspaper, the London Gazette notices etc). Stakeholders will have 21 days to 
submit objections directly to the Secretary of State, who will then consider the 
proposal along with any representations received by the Council in response to 
the formal notices. 

 
27. There is no timescale for a decision which can take between 3-6 months or 

potentially longer if an Inquiry is called.  If objections are received (which is 

Page 272



7 
 

considered likely) then the Secretary of State will almost certainly convene a 
Public Inquiry to consider the matter.  If the Secretary of State decides to make 
a Direction, a second publicity exercise is then undertaken.  

 
Resource Implications 
 

28. The process will involve modest cost implications for the Council in terms of 
staffing costs as well as advertisement costs arising from the publicity 
requirements.  However, substantial further costs could arise if objections are 
received and the Secretary Of State decides to hold a public inquiry. Based on 
examples from other authorities the costs are estimated up to £10,000. 
However this is subject to not having to resource externally for expertise to 
cover Public Inquiry costs. If the Direction is made, an awareness raising 
campaign informing residents and stakeholders of the new conditions will also 
be undertaken which will have some staffing implications as will  enforcement 
and monitoring of the scheme.  However, it is considered that these can be met 
from existing staff resource. 

 
Key Risk and How They Are Being Addressed 
 

29. The current risks are as follows: 
 

Formal objections are received – Application for a complete restriction of 
letting boards is likely to generate formal objections therefore a robust 
application will need to be submitted addressing the key potential objections. 

 
Secretary of State refuses application – Current proposal is for a complete 
restriction on Letting Boards which has not been considered before. The 
evidence and community support is strong but if the application is refused it may 
be possible to reapply for the restricted option at a future date with the benefit of 
improved evidence, should that be available. 

 
Insufficient resources to enforce Direction – Complete restriction option is 
the simplest to implement and enforce and will be able to be undertaken with 
existing teams. The process to gather evidence and obtain a conviction is 
simpler and therefore less resource intensive than existing enforcement action. 

 
Alternative advertisement results in visual amenity deteriorating – The 
main alternative to Letting Boards is posters in the properties windows. These 
are likely to be used but will be less intrusive to passers-by and are likely to be 
taken down by the tenants when the property is occupied. Regular review of the 
levels and impact on Durham City area will be undertaken and an action plan 
developed if required. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 273



8 
 

Recommendation: 
 

30.  It is recommended that: 
 

i. Cabinet authorise the Head of Planning and Assets to make a proposal to 
the Secretary of State for a Regulation 7 Direction to be made to prohibit 
the display of Letting Boards within the Durham City Conservation Area 
without express consent, and to comply with all necessary publicity 
requirements. 

 
 
Background papers 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
Regulation Consultation responses and associated files  
 

 

Contact:  Stuart Timmiss Tel: 03000 261 906 

 
  

Page 274



9 
 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance –  
The process will involve cost implications for the Council in terms of staffing costs as 
well as advertisement costs arising from the publicity requirements.  However, 
substantial further costs could arise if objections are received and the SoS decides 
to hold a public inquiry. Based on examples from other authorities the costs are 
estimated up to £10,000. If the Direction is made, an awareness raising campaign 
informing residents and stakeholders of the new conditions will also be undertaken 
which will have some staffing implications as will  enforcement and monitoring of the 
scheme.  However, it is considered that these can be met from existing staff 
resource. 
 
Staffing –  
None identified – proposals can be supported from existing staffing establishments 
 
Risk – Set out at Paragraph 29 of the report 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty –  
None identified. 
 
Accommodation –  
None identified. 
 
 
Crime and Disorder –  
None identified. 
 
Human Rights –  
None identified. 
 
Consultation –  
The recommendation made in the report has been arrived at following appropriate 
levels of consultation including with relevant external stakeholders and all 
appropriate internal service departments 
 
Procurement –  
None identified. 
 
Disability Issues –  
None identified. 
 
Legal Implications –  
Set out at paragraphs 26 and 27 of the Report.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 275



10 
 

Appendix 2 
 

 
 

 

Page 276



11 
 

 

Appendix 3 

Atherton Street – Durham City  

 

 

Within 
letting 
season 

Outside 
letting 
season 

Page 277



12 
 

 

New Street – Durham City  

 

 

  

Within 
letting 
season 

Outside 
letting 
season 

Page 278



13 
 

Hawthorn Terrace – Durham City 

 

 

  

Within 
letting 
season 

Outside 
letting 
season 

Page 279



14 
 

Sutton Street – Durham City  

 

 

 

Within 
letting 
season 

Outside 
letting 
season 

Page 280


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2018
	4 Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 and Revenue and Capital Budget 2018/19 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Resources and Director of Transformation and Partnerships [Key Decision: CORP/R/17/02]
	MTFP Appendix 02
	MTFP Appendix 03 - MTFP(8) Savings
	MTFP Appendix 4
	MTFP Appendix 5
	MTFP Appendix 6
	MTFP Appendix 7
	MTFP Appendix 8
	MTFP Appendix 09 - EIA Impact table-  JH edits
	MTFP Appendix 10 - Pay Policy 2018-19
	MTFP final Appendix 11 -  Discretionary Rate Relief Policy
	MTFP Appendix 12 - TM Strategy 2018-19

	5 1.  School Admission Arrangements for Academic Year 2019/2020  2.  Proposed changes to the oversubscription criteria for admission to Community and Voluntary Controlled Nursery Schools and Nursery Units from 1 September 2018 - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services [Key Decision: CYPS/02/17]
	6 Proposal to Change the Age Range of Bowburn Junior School from 7-11 to 3-11 From 1 September 2019 in an Enlarged New Build to Create a Primary School and to close Bowburn Infant and Nursery School as a registered school on 31 August 2019 - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services [Key Decision: CYPS/03/17]
	7 Regulation 7 Direction - Proposals to restrict Letting Boards in areas of high number student properties - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services

